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 1                     P R O C E E D I N G S       (9:10 a.m.) 

 2 THE COURT:  Good morning.

 3 MR. GIBSON:  Good morning, Your Honor.

 4 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Good morning.

 5 THE COURT:  You ready to proceed?

 6 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Yes, Your Honor.

 7 THE COURT:  All right.  There are two motions in

 8 limine.  Do we still need to entertain those, or have you

 9 resolved them?

10 MR. GIBSON:  On behalf of our motion in limine, w e

11 have not resolved either one.

12 THE COURT:  All right.  Well, CoStar has a motion

13 in limine to prevent K&H from pursuing an irrelev ant and

14 unfounded claim to victim defense.  Do you want t o argue

15 that?

16 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Yes, Your Honor.  Matthew

17 Oppenheim here on behalf of CoStar.  

18 Your Honor, with respect to this motion, CoStar i s

19 trying to figure out exactly what it is the case is that

20 we're trying here today.

21 In the pretrial materials that were jointly

22 submitted to the Court, Klein & Heuchan did not s ubmit that

23 they were pursuing any of the kitchen-sink, boile r-plate

24 affirmative defenses that they had listed in thei r original

25 answers to the complaint several years ago.
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 1 While they had included in the pretrial statement

 2 contested facts, those facts didn't seem to go to  any of the

 3 legal issues in the case other than arguably a le gal

 4 proposition about the copyright holder's obligati on to

 5 police their copyrights, which CoStar vehemently disagreed

 6 as to the state of the law.

 7 CoStar filed its motion in limine on the grounds

 8 that these affirmative defenses aren't in the cas e, they're

 9 not listed in the pretrial procedures -- in the p retrial

10 filing; and so, therefore, permitting testimony - -

11 soliciting testimony that goes to these potential

12 affirmative defenses would be improper.  That is

13 particularly true, Your Honor, in this case where  we don't

14 even know the legal standard that Klein & Heuchan  seeks to

15 apply to those affirmative defenses.

16 THE COURT:  All right.  Response?

17 MR. GIBSON:  Your Honor, these -- the -- to -- to

18 argue that they've been surprised can't be said.  There

19 are -- in the pretrial statement we listed that t hose are

20 facts that are contested and will be proven here.

21 Their motion is a motion for summary judgment on

22 those affirmative defenses.  They're pled.  They' re part of

23 this case, and the evidence that we intend to sho w,

24 specifically with regard to the equitable defense s --

25 waiver, estoppel, and laches -- is that they gave  up any
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 1 rights to the copyright that they held.

 2 THE COURT:  Did you raise an affirmative defense

 3 of mitigation of damages?

 4 MR. GIBSON:  Your Honor, I think -- we did,

 5 Your Honor.

 6 THE COURT:  Wouldn't this relate to mitigation of

 7 damages?

 8 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  One more

 9 time.  I didn't hear you.

10 THE COURT:  Wouldn't this relate to mitigation of

11 damages?

12 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, I don't know -- I

13 don't know where under the copyright law mitigati on of

14 damages would apply; but notwithstanding, I don't  know what

15 law they seek to apply in terms of mitigation to the

16 copyright law, because they didn't submit any sta tement of

17 the law for any of these defenses in their pretri al

18 materials.

19 THE COURT:  Well, just the general rule of law on

20 mitigation of damages is you're required to take reasonable

21 steps to mitigate your damages; right?

22 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I know the general statement of

23 the law, yes.

24 THE COURT:  How long did you let this go on befor e

25 you stopped it?
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 1 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Well, I think, Your Honor, there

 2 will be a significant factual question on that.  The

 3 position that Klein & Heuchan has taken --

 4 THE COURT:  What's your position?

 5 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Our position is that the testimon y

 6 will be very clear that when CoStar became aware that the

 7 infringement was occurring, they investigated and  they --

 8 and they stopped it; and so, factually we disagre e with the

 9 premise of their motion, but we're attempting to narrow the

10 trial to move it along to avoid spending time on pursuing

11 this issue, which we don't believe legally is in the case.

12 THE COURT:  The question was how long did it go o n

13 before you stopped it?

14 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Oh, I believe the testimony -- th e

15 testimony will show that the infringement occurre d -- began

16 in December 2006, January 2007, continued until A pril of

17 2008, and that CoStar became aware of the infring ing

18 behavior in March of 2008 and stopped it in April  of 2008.

19 THE COURT:  Okay.

20 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Klein & Heuchan intends to

21 argue --

22 THE COURT:  That's enough.  Your position is it

23 has nothing to do with mitigation of damages.  Ha d it gone

24 on for another two years, would your position sti ll be the

25 same?
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 1 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Under the copyright law, a

 2 copyright holder has no obligation to affirmative ly be

 3 policing their works.  This is not like a contrac t case

 4 where a seller has goods and the seller has an ob ligation to

 5 offset their losses or a landlord-tenant case whe re a

 6 landlord has an obligation to release a facility.   This is a

 7 copyright case.  So, the application of mitigatio n of

 8 damages in this case doesn't seem to fit.

 9 THE COURT:  Your position is mitigation of damage s

10 does not apply to a copyright case?

11 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I don't understand how it would

12 apply in this case, Your Honor.

13 THE COURT:  That wasn't my question.  Your

14 position is that mitigation of damages does not a pply in a

15 copyright case?

16 MR. OPPENHEIM:  That is correct, Your Honor.

17 THE COURT:  Well, that's a new one on me.  Using

18 your reasoning, you could know about the infringe ment and

19 just let it go on for five years and then sue for  more

20 damages than you could have when you first found out about

21 it?

22 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I think, Your Honor -- let me

23 break that down, if I may.  There's obviously a s tatute-

24 of-limitations obligation in the copyright statut e, which is

25 three years.  There's also the application of the  laches
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 1 doctrine, which to the extent that a copyright ow ner knew

 2 about the infringement of their rights and sat on  those

 3 rights for a long period of time -- which in the case law

 4 tends to suggest periods of things like ten, 20 y ears --

 5 then laches might apply.

 6 But there is no obligation -- and there's case la w

 7 on this, Your Honor, that a copyright owner has n o

 8 obligation to go out and affirmatively try to pol ice their

 9 works.

10 An example of that case would be, for instance,

11 there was a case out of New Jersey involving a fl ea market,

12 and owners of sound recordings continually found that the

13 vendors in the flea market were selling infringin g copies of

14 their sound recordings.  So, they continually wen t and --

15 and asserted claims and had police enforce as aga inst those

16 vendors, giving notice each time to the operator of the flea

17 market that he was leasing space to individuals w ho were

18 infringing on their rights, and they kept telling  the

19 operator of the flea market that he needed to sto p.

20 Ultimately in -- in the flea market case in

21 New Jersey, the copyright holder sued the operato r of the

22 flea market, and the flea market said, "It's your  obligation

23 to police your work."  The court disagreed.  The court said,

24 the copyright holder has no obligation to affirma tively be

25 policing their works but did hold that the operat or of the
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 1 flea market was secondarily liable for the infrin gement.

 2 THE COURT:  Motion's denied.

 3 Does K&H want to argue their motion on this

 4 evidence?

 5 MR. GIBSON:  Your Honor, we filed this motion, an d

 6 we found, in essence, that the Court had ruled on  it without

 7 comment with regard to the summary judgment.

 8 Our motion is based on Rule 37(c), a failure to

 9 disclose or update discovery.  When CoStar filed its motion

10 for summary judgment, included with it were affid avits and

11 then attachments to those affidavits of materials  that had

12 never been provided in discovery.  In fact, one o f the

13 witnesses, Mr. Lardizabal -- I know I'm murdering  his

14 name -- was never disclosed.

15 Rule 26 disclosures were exchanged.  Discovery,

16 interrogatories, and requests for production were  exchanged.

17 And these documents were never provided to K&H un til summary

18 judgment was filed, and only after that.  Then af ter the

19 summary judgment and after we moved to strike tho se

20 materials, even more materials were provided to u s, all the

21 photographs and things that were the subject of t he

22 copyright-infringement claim.

23 None of the actual photographs were provided.

24 None of the registrations were provided.  Only in  support of

25 their motion for summary judgment were they provi ded.
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 1 We did have discussions afterward about whether o r

 2 not to seek discovery for K&H to move the Court t o allow it

 3 to permit discovery after the summary-judgment de adline;

 4 but, Your Honor, I would submit that Rule 37(c) i s clear:

 5 If you don't provide the information, it shouldn' t come in

 6 at trial; and K&H shouldn't have the obligation o f having to

 7 move this Court to seek discovery outside of the

 8 summary-judgment deadline, outside of the disclos ure

 9 deadlines that the Court sought in order to defen d itself

10 against the claims that CoStar has brought.

11 For that reason we ask that all materials that

12 were not provided prior to the summary-judgment d eadline not

13 be permitted to be admitted as evidence in this c ase.

14 THE COURT:  Well, I agree with you that it's

15 CoStar's obligation to file a motion to extend th e deadline

16 in order to give you new documents.  On the other  hand, they

17 responded by saying that part of those documents were

18 previously produced by Mr. Bell so it's no surpri se to you

19 and the other documents were referred to in their  pleadings

20 and that you could have asked for them more speci fically.

21 MR. OPPENHEIM:  And I did ask for every single

22 document that they intended to use to support the ir claim.

23 Rule 26 specifically provides that they have to p rovide the

24 Court documents they're going to use to support t heir claim,

25 and they didn't do that.
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 1 THE COURT:  Response?

 2 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, Mr. Gibson correctly

 3 states that the Court has already ruled on this m otion once,

 4 and it's essentially the same motion as was previ ously

 5 submitted to the Court.  But beyond that, Your Ho nor, this

 6 is really an instance where Defendants took no di scovery

 7 essentially, and they're trying now to remedy tha t.  

 8 They didn't pursue a single deposition.  They

 9 issued one set of vague and ambiguous and very la rge --

10 largely worded requests for production.  They now  come and

11 complain that -- that they didn't get the documen ts in

12 advance.

13 I will acknowledge I came into this case late; bu t

14 having come into the case late, we -- Mr. Gibson was

15 repeatedly offered any opportunity he wanted to t ake any

16 follow-up discovery; and, in fact, when I first w as retained

17 by CoStar to handle the trial in this case, we so ught an

18 extension from this Court, and I -- before filing  a motion

19 for the extension of the trial calendar with this  Court, I

20 consulted with Mr. Gibson.  He consented on the g rounds that

21 he indicated that he -- he intended, he thought, to file a

22 motion in limine to either exclude the documents or, in the

23 alternative, to take additional discovery.  

24 And I told him -- I said, "I would be happy to

25 allow you to take discovery, and I'll consent to reopening
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 1 discovery."  

 2 He said, "Well, I will consider it, and we may

 3 file that motion."  

 4 So, we were fine with extending the trial calenda r

 5 so we'd have an opportunity to do that.  That's s et forth in

 6 the motion to extend the date of this trial.

 7 Mr. Gibson then chose not to file that motion.  W e

 8 offered that discovery in early November.  We the n offered

 9 it again in early December.  He's had every oppor tunity to

10 take the discovery he wanted on -- on the evidenc e that he

11 now seeks to exclude.  He chose not to pursue tha t.  

12 So, to the extent that there is any prejudice --

13 and I don't believe that there is -- that prejudi ce lies at

14 his feet, not at that of CoStar's.

15 But notwithstanding, as we detailed in our papers ,

16 the documents that he seeks to exclude were in la rge measure

17 disclosed to him.  They were documents that had a lready been

18 provided but not been date-stamped.  They were do cuments

19 that were referenced in the Rule 26 disclosure, s o on and so

20 forth.  It's detailed on pages 5 through 8 of our  filing.

21 Their motion makes no effort to describe what it

22 is specifically that they are seeking to exclude,  just

23 generally all of this material, and doesn't descr ibe why the

24 exclusion of that -- the failure to exclude that material

25 would result in any prejudice to them.
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 1 THE COURT:  All right.  Motion's denied.

 2 You want to make opening statements or go right

 3 into evidence?

 4 MR. OPPENHEIM:  With the Court's permission, we'd

 5 like to make an opening statement.

 6 THE COURT:  All right, proceed.

 7 OPENING STATEMENTS 

 8 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Is it all right if I do it at the

 9 podium?

10 THE COURT:  Please.

11 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Good

12 morning, Mr. Gibson.

13 If I may, Your Honor, I'd like to introduce those

14 who are siting at trial table with me today:  My colleague,

15 Mr. Scott Zebrak, and my client, Mr. Chris Winter s, the

16 associate general counsel for CoStar.

17 May it please the Court.  I'd like to do three

18 things in my opening statement this morning:  One , outline

19 the legal and factual claims that are at issue in  this case;

20 two, discuss the facts and issues that have been resolved by

21 virtue of stipulations between the parties and by  the

22 Court's prior summary-judgment finding; and, thre e, to

23 introduce the initial witnesses that we intend to  present.

24 CoStar Realty Information, Inc., and CoStar Group ,

25 which I'm going to collectively refer to as "CoSt ar" for the
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 1 ease of everybody, has asserted claims for contri butory and

 2 vicarious infringement against Klein & Heuchan.

 3 CoStar is a publicly-traded company on the NASDAQ

 4 Stock Exchange.  Its business is building commerc ial

 5 real-estate information services that it licenses  to

 6 companies like Klein & Heuchan, companies in the commercial

 7 real-estate industry.  Those services consist of information

 8 and photographs that depict offices, industrial a nd retail

 9 properties in geographic markets throughout the

10 United States and even in Europe.

11 The CoStar service provides a critical tool to

12 those in the commercial real-estate market so tha t they can

13 spend less time doing research and more time doin g business,

14 and that is why the majority of the commercial re al-estate

15 industry, both from the commercial side and the g overnment

16 side of the business, markets and licenses CoStar 's

17 products.

18 CoStar's acceptance in the marketplace is

19 nationwide, including here in Florida.  Klein & H euchan is a

20 medium-sized Florida real-estate brokerage compan y, which

21 CoStar has been attempting to license for many ye ars without

22 success.

23 In late 2006, Klein & Heuchan retained an

24 individual by the name of "Scott Bell" as a sales  associate.

25 Mr. Bell had previously worked for Coldwell Banke r NRT,
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 1 another Florida real-estate broker.  Coldwell, un like Klein

 2 & Heuchan, had obtained a license from CoStar for  its sales

 3 associates to access its online information servi ces.

 4 After Mr. Bell left Coldwell and joined Klein &

 5 Heuchan, he continued to use the CoStar Services by using

 6 his user name and password that he had received w hen he was

 7 at Coldwell.  He accessed the CoStar Service regu larly

 8 between 2007 and 2008, downloading thousands of p hotographs

 9 and market reports.

10 THE COURT:  What was the pay structure that

11 Coldwell Banker was paying?  Did they pay a certa in amount

12 each month depending on the number of sales assoc iates?

13 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Yes, Your Honor.  The license

14 agreement, which we'll put into evidence, will sh ow that the

15 payment structure was based on the number of auth orized

16 users, the number of products that were licensed from

17 CoStar -- because CoStar has a variety of differe nt

18 products -- and the period of time obviously that  it was

19 used.

20 THE COURT:  So when Mr. Bell left Coldwell Banker ,

21 I assume they quit paying for him; right?

22 MR. OPPENHEIM:  They did not deactivate Mr. Bell

23 as an authorized user until after CoStar had iden tified

24 the -- the ongoing infringement.

25 THE COURT:  Okay.  So, Coldwell Banker continued
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 1 to pay for him?

 2 MR. OPPENHEIM:  No.  Coldwell Banker continued to

 3 pay for their use of the service.  Klein & Heucha n never

 4 paid for their use of the service through Mr. Bel l.

 5 THE COURT:  Apparently you and I are not on the

 6 same wave length.  If Coldwell Banker was paying based on

 7 the number of associates authorized to use the se rvice, when

 8 Mr. Bell left, did they continue paying the same amount so

 9 they continued counting him as an authorized user , or did

10 their rate go down?

11 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I understand your question now.

12 The license agreement that a commercial real-esta te firm

13 enters into is a firm-wide license.  CoStar does not license

14 individuals ever.  So, their license is based on the number

15 of sales associates or brokers in the office.  Th at office

16 then can assign -- can have CoStar provide a user  name and

17 password to each of its sale associates.

18 When Mr. Bell left -- excuse me, and that license

19 agreement obligates the brokerage firm, like Cold well, to

20 pay a certain amount for a certain period of time  based on

21 that number of authorized users.  

22 Coldwell did not notify CoStar that they wanted t o

23 switch the Scott Bell user name to another sales associate,

24 a new sales associate that came in, and they didn 't seek to

25 renegotiate the contract, no.  But Klein & Heucha n didn't
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 1 notify CoStar that they were now using the CoStar  services

 2 through Mr. Bell and did not obtain a license for  all of the

 3 individuals who were working at Klein & Heuchan, which is

 4 what they would have had to do in order to allow the

 5 individuals at Klein & Heuchan, including Mr. Bel l, Mr. Mark

 6 Klein, Mr. Steve Klein, Judy Healey, and others a t Klein &

 7 Heuchan who had the benefit of the CoStar informa tion in

 8 their office and used it.

 9 THE COURT:  That still doesn't answer my question .

10 I think you've told me that Coldwell Banker's rat e

11 was based on the number of authorized users in it s office.

12 MR. OPPENHEIM:  In part, yes, Your Honor.

13 THE COURT:  So, if there were 15 authorized users

14 and that number went from 15 to 14, did the rate go down?

15 MR. OPPENHEIM:  If -- if Coldwell had sought to

16 renegotiate the contract with CoStar, which presu medly

17 CoStar would have done, yes, the rate would have gone down,

18 not necessarily pro rata, because it's -- the per -user fee

19 is not -- is not necessarily -- it's incremental,  if you

20 will.  You get a discount with the increasing num ber of

21 users.

22 THE COURT:  So, Coldwell did not notify CoStar

23 that Mr. Bell had left and also did not ask for i ts rate to

24 go down because now it had one less authorized us er?

25 MR. OPPENHEIM:  That is correct, Your Honor.
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 1 THE COURT:  All right.  Proceed.

 2 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Mr. Bell accessed the CoStar

 3 service regularly between 2007 and 2008, download ing

 4 thousands of photographs and market reports.  He did this

 5 while he was at Klein & Heuchan, and he did that with the

 6 full knowledge of Klein & Heuchan.

 7 The evidence will show that Mr. Bell used what he

 8 downloaded from CoStar in his capacity as a sales  associate

 9 for Klein & Heuchan; that Mr. Bell regularly shar ed the

10 material that he downloaded with others at Klein & Heuchan,

11 including Mark Klein, Steve Klein, and Judy Heale y; that he

12 used it with clients and prospective clients.  In  fact, the

13 evidence will show that the principals at Klein &  Heuchan

14 would from time to time ask Mr. Bell to downtown reports and

15 images from the CoStar service so they could have  them and

16 have the benefit of them.

17 In 2008, CoStar became aware of Mr. Bell's

18 unauthorized activities, and it promptly investig ated the

19 matter and ultimately discontinued Mr. Bell's acc ess.

20 Once the infringing activities were stopped,

21 CoStar sought to resolve the claims arising out o f the

22 unauthorized use.  Efforts to end the dispute wit hout

23 litigation failed when Klein & Heuchan filed a de claratory-

24 judgment claim here in Florida.  Subsequently, Co Star

25 asserted claims against both Klein & Heuchan and Mr. Bell
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 1 individually.

 2 While the claims against Mr. Bell have been

 3 settled, the dispute -- the dispute between Klein  & Heuchan

 4 and CoStar remains unresolved.  CoStar has assert ed claims,

 5 as I said, both as to vicarious and contributory

 6 infringement against Klein & Heuchan.  With respe ct to the

 7 this contributory infringement claim, Costar is p ursuing

 8 both a site and facilities theory and an induceme nt theory.

 9 So, all told, there are going to be three theorie s of

10 liability that are presented to the Court during the course

11 of this trial.  Of course, CoStar need only succe ed on one

12 of those claims in order to prevail.

13 Under all three theories of liability, the

14 vicarious claim and the two contributory theories , CoStar

15 must first establish that there was an underlying  direct

16 infringement.

17 On that issue, there's really no dispute as to th e

18 direct infringement element, which the Court has essentially

19 already found in its prior summary-judgment decis ion.  And

20 the parties have stipulated to facts sufficient t o establish

21 it.

22 If I may direct the Court to what is listed as

23 Exhibit 68 in the exhibit notebooks, this is a co py of the

24 stipulated facts that the parties entered into; a nd I would

25 like to read a couple of the relevant provisions.
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 1 (Changes overhead exhibit.)  Stipulated Fact

 2 Number 1, Your Honor:  CoStar is the exclusive ow ner of the

 3 photographs described on the list of CoStar photo graphs

 4 allegedly infringed, which is set forth on Exhibi t 1, and we

 5 will put that before the Court.  Each of those ph otographs

 6 was properly registered by CoStar within five yea rs of the

 7 date of the first publication of the work.

 8 Stipulated Fact Number 2:  CoStar is the exclusiv e

 9 owner of the market reports described on the list  of CoStar

10 market reports that were allegedly infringed, whi ch is set

11 forth on Exhibit 2 that we will also put before t he Court.

12 CoStar's market reports are part of the literary

13 works that CoStar properly registered within five  years of

14 the date of the first publication of the works.

15 Number 3:  Between January 2007 and April 16,

16 2008, Bell downloaded -- Mr. Bell downloaded to h is computer

17 each of the photographs described on the list of CoStar

18 photographs allegedly infringed -- that will be E xhibit 1 --

19 and each of the market reports described on the l ist

20 allegedly infringed.  That will be Exhibit 2.

21 Skipping, Your Honor, to -- to Stipulated Fact

22 Number 6:  (Changing overhead exhibit) CoStar reg istered the

23 photographs and literary works described on both Exhibits 1

24 and 2 prior to the dates on which Bell -- Mr. Bel l is

25 alleged to have infringed them and/or within thre e months of
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 1 the date of the first publication of the work.

 2 Mr. Bell worked -- Number 7:  Mr. Bell as a

 3 real-estate broker who worked for Coldwell from S eptember

 4 2005 to November 2006.  During his time at Coldwe ll, as one

 5 of their brokers, Bell was authorized to download

 6 photographs and information from the CoStar onlin e services

 7 pursuant to the terms of a written license agreem ent between

 8 CoStar and Coldwell.  Bell was not authorized to access or

 9 use the CoStar online services following his depa rture from

10 Coldwell.

11 Sorry, I didn't turn the page here.  Let me skip

12 to Number 9, Your Honor.  Mr. Bell joined Klein &  Heuchan in

13 December of 2006.  Mr. Bell continued to access t he CoStar

14 products using the user name and password associa ted with

15 his Coldwell subscription while he was working fo r Klein &

16 Heuchan.

17 And Number 11, Your Honor:  Between January of

18 2007 and April 16, 2008, Bell used his Coldwell p assword to

19 access CoStar's online services.  By downloading various

20 materials from the CoStar system without authoriz ation, Bell

21 violated CoStar's exclusive right of reproduction ; and while

22 there will be evidence presented in the case of M r. Bell's

23 subsequent distribution of the copyrighted works to

24 individuals within Klein & Heuchan and clients an d

25 prospective clients, that evidence is, frankly, r edundant
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 1 for purposes of establishing the underlying direc t

 2 infringement by Mr. Bell.

 3 For purposes of establishing liability, it does

 4 not matter whether Mr. Bell infringed on CoStar's  rights

 5 once or twice.  He infringed.  So, now let me bri efly

 6 turn -- having dealt with the issue of the underl ying direct

 7 infringement, let me turn to the three elements o f the three

 8 theories of liability.

 9 In order to prove vicarious infringement, a

10 copyright claimant must show that the Defendant h ad the

11 right and ability to supervise the infringing act ivity and a

12 financial interest in the activity.  To prove vic arious

13 infringement, it is not necessary to prove knowle dge or

14 intent.

15 In this Court's summary-judgment opinion, it

16 resolved that Klein & Heuchan had the right and a bility to

17 supervise the infringing activity.  On page 7 of its order,

18 the Court said, "The undisputed evidence shows th at Klein &

19 Heuchan had the right and ability to supervise Be ll."

20 Notwithstanding, the Defense would likely persist  in their

21 argument that there was no right or ability to su pervise his

22 activities because they will claim Mr. Bell was a n

23 independent contractor.  The facts with respect t o this,

24 however, will be clear.  Mr. Bell worked at the d irection of

25 Klein & Heuchan, and the principals at Klein & He uchan could
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 1 have stopped the infringing behavior at any time,  but they

 2 chose not to.

 3 Moreover, Klein & Heuchan has stipulated to the

 4 following stipulated fact, Number 12:  (Changes o verhead

 5 exhibit)  While at Klein & Heuchan, Mr. Bell was required to

 6 attend two mandatory sales meetings each week.  B oth Mark

 7 Klein, the chief executive officer and sole owner  of Klein &

 8 Heuchan, and Steven Klein, the executive vice-pre sident of

 9 Klein & Heuchan, oversaw Mr. Bell's work, includi ng giving

10 constructive feedback on his work performance.

11 All property listings obtained by Bell had to be

12 accepted by either Mark Klein or Steven Klein.  T he listing

13 agreements for Bell's properties had to be signed  by Mark

14 Klein or Steven Klein, and Mark Klein and Steven Klein also

15 discussed marketing strategies with Mr. Bell.

16 Turning to the financial benefit requirement of

17 vicarious liability:  The Court's summary decisio n already

18 determined that the avoidance of license fees con stituted

19 financial benefit.  On page 8 of its order, the C ourt said,

20 "As in the context of a night club or music hall,  avoidance

21 of a licensing fee can be a direct benefit -- fin ancial

22 benefit."  

23 And in this respect, Klein & Heuchan has

24 stipulated in Stipulated Fact Number 15.  Klein &  Heuchan

25 has never been a licensed subscriber to any of Co Star's
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 1 commercial real-estate information products, nor has Klein &

 2 Heuchan ever paid CoStar any license fees for the  access and

 3 use of the CoStar products.

 4 But beyond just the lost license fees, Your Honor ,

 5 you will hear testimony that Mr. Bell's infringin g

 6 activities were all done in his capacity as a Kle in &

 7 Heuchan sales associate.  You'll also see and hea r that he

 8 shared material that he downloaded from CoStar wi th others

 9 at Klein & Heuchan was for the purpose of further ing Klein &

10 Heuchan's business.  The testimony will make clea r that

11 Mr. Bell's activities were intended to and did be nefit Klein

12 & Heuchan.

13 Turning now to the contributory infringement

14 claim.  As I indicated, there are two separate wa ys to prove

15 contributory negligence infringement.  Under both  a site and

16 facilities theory and an inducement theory, a cop yright

17 holder must show that the Defendant knew or shoul d have

18 known of the infringing activity.  It is not nece ssary that

19 Klein & Heuchan had actual knowledge of specific

20 infringements.

21 In this respect, Klein & Heuchan has now

22 stipulated in Stipulated Fact Number 10 (changing  overhead

23 exhibit) that Klein & Heuchan was aware that Bell  was

24 accessing online services.  Mark Klein and Steven  Klein are

25 likely to testify that while they knew Mr. Bell w as using
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 1 CoStar, they did not know that his use was unauth orized.

 2 But you will also hear testimony that will call

 3 into question this claim that Klein & Heuchan did  not know

 4 that what Mr. Bell was doing was wrong; and, at a  minimum,

 5 the evidence will demonstrate that even if there is a

 6 question as to whether they actually knew, it wil l be clear

 7 that they did not act in good faith and absolutel y should

 8 not have -- absolutely should have known that the  activity

 9 that Mr. Bell was engaged in was unauthorized.

10 With respect to the next element, the evidence

11 will show that Klein & Heuchan provided Mr. Bell with the

12 site and facilities to infringe.  The infringemen t at issue

13 in this case took place at Klein & Heuchan using its

14 physical and Internet services.  The evidence wil l also show

15 that Klein & Heuchan induced Mr. Bell to infringe  by virtue

16 of assisting and encouraging Mr. Bell's use of Co Star.

17 Indeed, the principals of Klein & Heuchan sought Mr. Bell's

18 use of CoStar for their own benefit.

19 Based on the pretrial statement, Klein & Heuchan

20 intends to raise a number of issues in their defe nse.  Most

21 of them, however, are red herrings.  We discussed  earlier

22 that the affirmative defenses that Klein & Heucha n intends

23 to assert -- apart from the disagreement as to th e legal

24 standard, which we will be briefing to the Court,  there will

25 be a disagreement as to the facts.
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 1 While Klein & Heuchan will attempt to establish

 2 that CoStar knew that the infringement was occurr ing early

 3 in the case, the evidence will demonstrate that, in fact,

 4 they didn't, and had they known, they would have stopped it.

 5 Of course, they would have stopped it.  It served  them no

 6 purpose to have somebody infringing on their copy rights.

 7 The evidence will show that when they did become

 8 aware, they acted promptly.  Klein & Heuchan will  also argue

 9 that they did not have actual knowledge that the specific

10 infringing material was being accessed by Bell.  Of course,

11 as I described earlier, the standard is not actua l

12 knowledge.  It's an objective standard:  Should K lein &

13 Heuchan have known.  And the knowledge requiremen t does not

14 require that the Defendant knew of the individual  acts of

15 infringement.  The Defendant need only know of th e

16 infringing activity.

17 In this respect, we ask the Court to listen not

18 only to the bald denials by the Kleins, but also to consider

19 all of the other evidence to see whether or not t hose bald

20 denials are credible or even consistent.

21 Finally, I expect that Klein & Heuchan will also

22 spend some time complaining that CoStar is not a

23 particularly helpful or useful service, that the information

24 it contains can be obtained from -- from other so urces.

25 Well, this bears absolutely no relevance as a leg al matter.
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 1 CoStar's broad use in the market and a customer r enewal rate

 2 of over 90 percent demonstrates that the attack o n CoStar as

 3 a service is without merit.

 4 CoStar intends to call as its first witness Mr. 

 5 Stephen Alliegro, a CoStar executive who's been w ith the

 6 company over ten years and oversees the entire Ea st Coast

 7 region, including the Florida market.

 8 He will broadly speak and describe the CoStar

 9 service and CoStar's relationship with Klein & He uchan.

10 THE COURT:  You don't need to tell me about every

11 witness you're going to call.

12 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Very well, Your Honor.

13 I thank the Court for its time and attention.

14 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

15 Mr. Gibson.

16 MR. GIBSON:  May it please the Court.  Your Honor ,

17 Jeff Gibson, along with Joshua Magidson, of Macfa rlane,

18 Ferguson.  Sitting to his right is Mr. Mark Klein , president

19 and owner of Klein & Heuchan; and behind him is S teven

20 Klein.

21 Your Honor's summary-judgment ruling has fairly

22 limited the issues that are going to be tried bef ore

23 Your Honor.  With respect to the vicarious claim,  the issue

24 remaining is whether or not Klein & Heuchan direc tly

25 profited from the activities of Mr. Bell as he wa s there.
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 1 The Eleventh Circuit case directly profited.

 2 Counsel uses the term "financial benefit of any k ind," and I

 3 point out that this is not the case; and then we will argue

 4 these legally with you, but this is the type of c ase where a

 5 licensed -- avoidance of a license is the appropr iate direct

 6 profit in this case.

 7 With respect to the contributory claim, the

 8 evidence is going to show that CoStar as a produc t never had

 9 any value to Mr. Klein or to Steven Klein.  They -- CoStar

10 sought for them to buy the licenses for this prod uct over

11 ten years, and they never -- never saw any value.   Anything

12 that was provided by CoStar could and was obtaine d in a

13 variety of different tools that they also used in  the

14 real-estate market.

15 The third remaining real large issue, Your Honor,

16 is CoStar's conduct as it related to Mr. Bell and  his

17 license.  Their own documents will show that on F ebruary of

18 2007, 14 months before they turned his access off , they were

19 aware that Mr. Bell was no longer with the compan y.  There

20 will be testimony that CoStar knew --

21 THE COURT:  When you say "the company," you mean

22 Coldwell Banker?

23 MR. GIBSON:  I'm sorry, that CoStar knew on

24 February 1st of 2007 that Mr. Bell was no longer with

25 Coldwell Banker, that is correct.  The testimony will be
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 1 that they knew for quite some time and were simpl y waiting

 2 in order to determine where he was.

 3 And they got that on November of 2007.  They were

 4 able to link an IP address from the Klein & Heuch an office

 5 with access by Mr. Bell.  Even then, they waited another

 6 five months in order to turn his access off and t hen

 7 threaten litigation against Klein & Heuchan.

 8 In a case where the level of damages can be the

 9 number of times that an infringement occurs, Your  Honor, we

10 would submit that having known that he wasn't the re in

11 February, the evidence will be clear that not doi ng

12 anything, linking it with a specific other real-e state

13 property -- other real-estate company in November  of 2007

14 and still not doing anything and then seeking to have Klein

15 & Heuchan retroactively pay for the CoStar servic e,

16 Your Honor, based on the theories of estoppel and  laches,

17 they did not act reasonably.

18 They alone held the keys.  It was a flip of the

19 switch to turn Mr. Bell's access off, and they kn ew he

20 wasn't with then, but they still allowed him to a ccess the

21 database; and based on that activity of CoStar, Y our Honor,

22 we would submit that the equitable defense is eve n if

23 CoStar's able to prevail on any of its claim, tho se

24 equitable defenses will belie any ability to reco ver based

25 on the copyright infringement claims.
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 1 Your Honor, the true issue is going to be Mr. Bel l

 2 and Mr. Klein.  The testimony is going to be that  both of

 3 them thought that he was authorized.  Mr. Bell th ought that

 4 he was given a subscription to the CoStar product s and that

 5 at some point it was going to stop, but he was ne ver told --

 6 orally, in e-mail, or in writing -- that it meant  that when

 7 he left Coldwell Banker he wasn't a, quote, autho rized user

 8 pursuant to the license.

 9 Clearly now reading the license, that defines an

10 authorized user as someone who works with Coldwel l Banker.

11 However, Mr. Bell was never given a copy of the l icense

12 agreement between Coldwell Banker and CoStar.  Th e terms of

13 service -- admittedly he clicked that he read the m whenever

14 he logged on.  He never read them.  The CoStar li cense

15 agreement was certainly never provided to Klein &  Heuchan,

16 and Mr. Klein and Mr. -- both Mr. Kleins couldn't  possibly

17 have read the terms of service that were being ac cessed by

18 Mr. Bell.

19      It will be clear that it wasn't until April when a

20 letter was sent from CoStar threatening litigatio n,

21 threatening -- seeking the payment of past licens es, that

22 they became aware that he was an unauthorized use r, and that

23 was the day it stopped.  Mr. Bell never attempted  to access

24 CoStar ever again.

25      The evidence will show that Klein & Heuchan acted
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 1 appropriately and acted reasonably; and the evide nce will

 2 show that CoStar, with all of the knowledge that they have,

 3 did not.

 4      Thank you.

 5 THE COURT:  All right.  Call your first witness,

 6 please.

 7 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Just as a preliminary matter,

 8 Your Honor, Plaintiffs would move to admit at thi s point the

 9 stipulations of fact which appear in Exhibit 68 t hat the

10 parties have agreed to.

11 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

12 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

13 (Defense Exhibit 68 was received in evidence.) 

14 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We'd also move to admit at this

15 point, based on those stipulations of fact, the c opyright

16 registration at issue in this case, which would b e the

17 photographs -- the copyright registration for the

18 photographs which appear in Exhibit 45 and the co pyright

19 registrations for the database which appear in Ex hibit 46.

20 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

21 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

22 (Defense Exhibits 45 and 46 were received in 

23 evidence.). 

24 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, CoStar would move --

25 would call Mr. Stephen Alliegro to the stand, ple ase.
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 1 (The witness was duly sworn or affirmed and 

 2 responded as follows:) 

 3 THE WITNESS:  I do.

 4 THE CLERK:  Sir, would you please state your name

 5 and spell your first and last name for the record .

 6 THE WITNESS:  Stephen Alliegro, S-T-E-P-H-E-N

 7 A-L-L-I-E-G-R-O.

 8 THE COURT:  Proceed.

 9  STEPHEN ALLIEGRO, 

10 the witness, being sworn or affirmed, testified a s follows:   

11 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

12 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

13 Q Good morning, Mr. Alliegro.

14 A Good morning.

15 Q What do you do for a living?

16 A I am regional vice president for the East Coast --

17 CoStar overseas sales and service for the entire East Coast.

18 Q Do you manage or oversee other CoStar employees?

19 A I have six direct reports and approximately 50 s ales

20 reps reporting and rolling up to my region, yes.

21 Q And do you have ultimate authority for what occu rs here

22 in Florida?

23 A I do.

24 Q How long have you worked at CoStar?

25 A I started at CoStar in late 1998.
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 1 Q And what is your educational background?

 2 A I have a B.S. in marketing from the University o f

 3 Bridgeport in Connecticut, and I have a master's in science

 4 and real estate from Columbia University in New Y ork.

 5 Q Can you describe your background in the commerci al

 6 real-estate industry before joining CoStar?

 7 A Sure.  I was actually a commercial real-estate b roker

 8 myself for the first half of my career, approxima tely 12

 9 years or so, with various firms, including runnin g my own

10 tenant rep and landlord rep firms, Centurion Grou p.

11 Q And then at some point you joined CoStar?

12 A My first foray into commercial real-estate infor mation

13 was kind of a fluke.  I got a call from a headhun ter asking

14 me if I was interested in going to work for Dow J ones, who

15 had started in the mid '90s as a competing servic e to the

16 beginnings of that business.  It was a product ca lled

17 Teleret that ultimately disbanded; and from those

18 experiences, I was recruited to come over to CoSt ar in '98.

19 Q And can you describe the various roles you've he ld at

20 CoStar?

21 A Sure.  When I first started, I was a sales rep, senior

22 sales rep.  I went -- within six months, I was pr omoted to

23 running the New York office, where I still have m y -- my

24 office.  I had various capacities at CoStar over the 12

25 years or so I've been here:  Director and differe nt
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 1 configurations of geography.  

 2 I was even interim senior vice president of sales  and

 3 customer service for a year.  So, I've been with the company

 4 in various roles but all in service and sales.

 5 Q As a preliminary matter, the Plaintiffs in this case

 6 include both CoStar Group, Inc., and CoStar Realt y

 7 Information, Inc.  Can you describe the distincti on between

 8 the two entities?

 9 A Sure.  CoStar Group is the holding company.  CoS tar

10 Realty Information, Inc., is the operating compan y.

11 Q And can you describe at a high level, what is it  that

12 CoStar does?

13 A Well, CoStar provides, as you described earlier,  a --

14 provides commercial real-estate information to th e industry.

15 Being a broker myself before CoStar existed -- no t to age

16 myself, but I can speak to the fact that it's -- you know,

17 the industry traditionally has been inefficient i n terms of

18 flow of information.  So, CoStar became essential ly a

19 central clearinghouse of information where the bu siness

20 model is it's free to list.  So, if you want to g et your

21 listings out, buildings for sale, space for lease , you would

22 put them in CoStar, and then it costs to subscrib e then to

23 that data.

24 So, it kind of aggravates information and provide s a

25 valuable tool that allows people to essentially s pend less
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 1 time assembling and aggregating information and s pend more

 2 time doing deals, which is what brokers do.

 3 Q Does CoStar do more than just collect other info rmation

 4 that others give it?

 5 A Sure.  We do a lot of proprietary work.  Well, f irst of

 6 all, we are a research and data company.  What cl ients

 7 receive comes through the Web, but it is essentia lly an

 8 800-folks-strong research staff that compiles tha t

 9 nationwide in the U.S. -- that compiles that info rmation.

10 In the state of Florida, we have approximately 30

11 individuals whose job it is to update that inform ation.  So,

12 when you subscribe to CoStar, you're essentially,  you know,

13 outsourcing that part of your business to those 3 0 people.

14 You get an instant 30-person research staff.

15 We also have proprietary images.  We have basical ly two

16 forms of research.  We have the folks who are cal ling and

17 updating information continuously, as well as the  images in

18 the database.  A lot of the images -- most of the m that we

19 provide are taken by our field research vehicles.   We have a

20 fleet of 150 research vehicles, Prius hybrids rig ht now

21 actually, if the brakes are working, that run aro und taking

22 photographs of all of the -- all the research fie ld

23 researchers are trained in landscape photography.

24 So, the images are particularly useful to clients .

25 Having been a broker myself, I can tell you when I used to
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 1 run around and had my own company, taking Polaroi ds myself

 2 and two-sided tape and doing my own booklets befo re CoStar,

 3 which there was no CoStar when I was a broker, bu t I can

 4 still appreciate the time savings it can provide today.

 5 Too much?

 6 Q That's fine.  Thank you.

 7 How does CoStar make money?

 8 A We make money through our subscriptions.  So, as  was

 9 indicated earlier, we charge at the firm level to  a variety

10 of clients.  Our core constituents are brokers an d owners.

11 That's what are -- that's the vertical that we bu ilt the

12 business on, but frankly our client base extends to

13 financial institutions.  We have interests in the  debtor

14 equity to banks, regional, national, to the gover nment, to

15 the FDIC, to the Feds, to economic development co rporations

16 down here in Florida, to appraisers, tax-appeal u nits.

17 So, it runs the gamut from the transactional

18 professionals, the brokers, the appraisers and so  forth all

19 the way up to investment banks and the government .

20 Q And how did CoStar as a business develop or evol ve?

21 A We started -- started in Washington, D.C., by An dy

22 Florence, who is still our -- who had this idea t hat the

23 business was inefficient and that he could bring efficiency;

24 and we grew both organically through market expan sion, as I

25 said.  It started in Washington, moved up to some  of the
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 1 large markets:  New York and Boston, L.A.  We did  that

 2 through either organic growth, data trades, local  players,

 3 small acquisitions, and a number of large accusat ions over

 4 the years, such companies as Jamison out of Atlan ta that

 5 provided data and Georgia and Texas; comstock.com , which was

 6 the genesis of our -- of our comparable sales dat abase; NRB,

 7 which was the beginnings and genesis of our retai l

 8 information.

 9 Q And can you tell us a little bit about the types  of

10 entities that license CoStar's services?

11 A Sure.  As I said, we built the business, and the y still

12 are our core constituents or the brokerage compan ies.  In

13 Florida, you know, most of the larger and mid-siz e firms and

14 small firms subscribe to CoStar, because our pric ing works

15 such that if you are a -- which I was at one poin t a

16 one-person shop.  There is a price point for one person all

17 the way up to the large national firms like CBRE and

18 Cushman, Wakefield and JLL and so forth.

19 So, we strive -- I run sales, so we strive to get

20 everybody to be a client, if possible.  But it wa s really

21 started and still is based upon the transactional

22 professionals and owners of properties.

23 Q You described some of the commercial entities lo cally

24 that are licensed.  Are there other -- are there government

25 entities that also license CoStar products?
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 1 A   In Florida we have a number of -- well, throug hout

 2 the country, but speaking of Florida, we have a n umber of --

 3 Pinellas County, EDC, tax-appeal units.  Everyone  is using

 4 the FDIC down here.  A lot of the banks down here .  Everyone

 5 has a slightly different interest obviously than what a

 6 broker would use the information for.

 7 Government -- the FDIC, for instance, is trying t o

 8 unwind a lot of bad loans right now, and they're using

 9 information to do due diligence on commercial pro perties

10 where those loans are held.

11 Q When you say they're using information, they're a

12 licensee of CoStar?

13 A They're a licensee or ours, a licensee of --

14 Q And you also referred to EDCs.  Can you explain what

15 that is?

16 A Economic development corporations.  That's also a large

17 client of ours across the country.  Here in Flori da we have

18 probably 14, 15.  They tend to be local or munici pal, by

19 city or county.

20 Q And you mentioned both Pinellas County and Tampa  EDCs.

21 A Yes, they're both licensed here.

22 Q And how do these type of entities use CoStar?

23 A EDCs, economic development corporations -- obvio usly

24 their interests are in recruiting and retaining b usiness in

25 their counties, in the municipalities that they'r e in.  So,

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



40

 1 they like to look at CoStar to keep an eye on spa ce

 2 available to help recruit, incentivize tenants to  come into

 3 their areas.

 4 They also use the tenant base to look for tenants  that

 5 they might reach out to and offer -- if nothing e lse, wining

 6 and dining them to their areas.

 7 Q Roughly what percentage of commercial brokers in

 8 Florida would you say are CoStar subscribers?

 9 A Roughly about 90 percent of the firms, both smal l and

10 large, use CoStar.

11 Q And overall, how many subscribers does CoStar ha ve

12 nationwide?

13 A Currently we have across that gamut of different

14 entities that are using our service -- we have ab out 15,000

15 client firms using the data.  Ninety thousand ind ividuals

16 with those firms are using our data.

17 Q So, 15,000 companies but 90,000 authorized users ?

18 A Right.  So, Cushman and Wakefield would be one e ntity.

19 Obviously they have thousands of individuals usin g CoStar.

20 Q And what is CoStar's renewal rate among subscrib ers?

21 A Traditionally over the last five years or so we' ve

22 averaged over 90 percent of renewal.

23 Q I want to shift to understand what it is that Co Star

24 does to create and maintain its products.  How do es CoStar

25 build its service?
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 1 A As I mentioned earlier, we -- we have a number o f

 2 products, but we maintain those products with a s taff of

 3 800.  Each market, each state, has a specific set  of

 4 researchers that are assigned to that state to ma ke sure

 5 they update the properties within the database.

 6 So, in Florida, for instance, we are what we call  -- we

 7 take a defensive approach.  We strive to track ev ery single

 8 commercial property in the marketplace; not just a subset,

 9 not just a sample, but every property, small, lar ge, all of

10 them.

11 So, the research -- we build a basic database, an d then

12 the researchers -- the inside researchers are cal ling on the

13 owners and agents that control those properties, both the

14 space or for-sale properties, to update the piece s of

15 information that are changing, such things as the  space for

16 lease, the building for sale, et cetera, as well as tracking

17 comparable sales and the field research component , which is

18 pretty extensive.

19 You know, you really can't get away from what we call

20 "boots on the ground," our version of that.  As a  young

21 broker, I would go out and knock on doors.  Our v ersion of

22 that is to send the Prius hybrid vehicles out.

23 Q So, CoStar is not just relying on public informa tion --

24 publically available information to compile its s ervice, is

25 it?
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 1 A No.

 2 Q It's collecting information from other sources a s well?

 3 A We're collecting every piece of information poss ible.

 4 We subscribe to a number of sources ourselves in terms of,

 5 you know, aggregating the information at the onse t; but the

 6 real difference between what we do and some of th e free

 7 resources, for instance, going up to the Web and Googling or

 8 whatnot, is the proactive research component:  Th e fact that

 9 there's people behind it, the fact that the peopl e are

10 updating it.  That's what people like, is the rea ltime

11 component to a transactional profession and the a bility to

12 really extract that information very quickly.

13 Q Updating and verifying; right?

14 A And verifying, correct.

15 Q Let me talk about -- ask about these researchers  for a

16 moment.  How many researchers does CoStar have?

17 A Plus or minus 800 nationwide.

18 Q And what literally do these researchers do?

19 A Well, let's use Tampa-St. Pete, which is a marke t --

20 CoStar market.  So, it's not just downtown Tampa.   It's a

21 large geographic area that comes with that module  of

22 information.  There would be a team of researcher s assigned

23 to that marketplace.  I don't know the exact numb er, but

24 it's probably five or six people.

25 Their job is -- there's 30 in Florida.  I am just
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 1 extrapolating what they might be for Tampa-St. Pe te.  Their

 2 job is -- they come in in the morning, and there is a subset

 3 of properties that they are responsible for.  So,  it's very

 4 systematic.  We've been doing this for 20 years.  They will

 5 come in in the morning.  They might have a univer se of 500

 6 properties and one researcher whose job it is to stay on top

 7 of those properties, see ownership changes, see b uildings

 8 that have sold, to update the listings, to dispat ch the

 9 field research vehicles if there's been a renovat ion or we

10 need a better photograph. 

11 Oftentimes our clients will ask us, you know, abo ut the

12 owners of the building, "Can you go out and take a lobby

13 shot of that building?"  So, they are not on call ing

14 San Francisco one day, Dallas the next.  They bec ome

15 immersed in their local marketplace.  They get to  know the

16 players in that geography, and they're all highly  trained.

17 They go through extensive training, what we call the CoStar

18 University, so that they know enough about real e state to

19 know what a square foot is, know what a cap rate is, so that

20 you get professionals on the phone that can sound

21 intelligent and actually carry on a conversation as they

22 garner information.

23 Q And do the research professionals have anything to do

24 with the sales side of the business --

25 A They don't, no.
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 1 Q -- or the compliance side of the business?

 2 A No.  Their job and their focus is strictly in up dating.

 3 They do a great job.

 4 Q Okay.  Now, you also described that, apart from the

 5 research professionals, there is a different cate gory of

 6 individuals by the name "of field representative

 7 professionals."

 8 A Right.

 9 Q Can you describe for us what they do?  They're t he ones

10 in the Priuses; is that right?

11 A Yes.  We have a -- it's pretty impressive when w e're

12 doing sales presentations.  I will often show a p icture of

13 our dispatch center in Bethesda, Maryland, where we're

14 headquartered and what that is.  It consists of a bout 150

15 screens.  Each screen is -- is showing one of tho se vehicles

16 that's in a particular market.  So, there's -- th ere's a

17 couple of field research vehicles that are assign ed to

18 northern Florida.

19 They are sent out in a very systematic manner.  T hey

20 do -- that's -- nuts and bolts, taking photograph .  They

21 actually go to -- they will go to a retail center  and count

22 parking spaces as one of the fields of data we tr ack.

23 So, it's very systematic; and, you know, it pulls  all

24 together into the -- into the product that comes to the

25 Internet.
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 1 Q How quickly does the information they gather get  into

 2 the CoStar online database for customers?

 3 A Sure.  Whether it's field or inside research, re search

 4 that's updated today will be in the service tomor row.

 5 Q So, we described research professionals and fiel d

 6 research professionals.  Is there a quality-contr ol process

 7 of -- so that in the event there's a conflict of information

 8 or there's a problem with information, CoStar can  catch it

 9 somehow?

10 A Yes.  We have two forms of quality control essen tially.

11 One is there's a complete hierarchy of internal q uality

12 control, people control, where each individual re searcher is

13 assigned to a team leader, who's assigned to a ma nager.

14 Just like sales reps, they have meetings twice a week.  They

15 review their work.  There's a metric that they go  through in

16 terms of -- in some ways like sales reps, no matt er how many

17 calls they make, no matter how many updates they got,

18 et cetera.  So, everything is measured in terms o f their

19 effectiveness and how they are able to update the  data.

20 Then we also have technology in the updates, in t he

21 software that they use.  We have a back-end syste m that the

22 clients don't see where they're entering the info rmation.

23 Just a small example of that might be if a resear cher is

24 compiling square footage on a property and it doe sn't mesh

25 while they're on the phone.  It will spit back an  error
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 1 message and tell that person who's trying to put two pieces

 2 of space in a building on a floor plate it does n ot match

 3 the square footage of that floor.  So, something' s not

 4 right.

 5 So, this is one example of many different checks and

 6 balances we have in the system.

 7 Q And those are all -- all technology-related comp uter

 8 controls?

 9 A Yes.

10 Q Where do the photographs come from that are in t he

11 CoStar database?

12 A The majority of the photos are taken by us, by t he

13 landscape-trained photographers in the research.  They're

14 all watermarked with a CoStar -- what he call a " watermark"

15 logo in the bottom right.

16 Q And having been a commercial real-estate broker

17 yourself, how would you rate the quality of CoSta r's photos?

18 A They're outstanding.  You know, like residential  real

19 estate, for clients, for prospects, for brokers a nd others,

20 it's still a visual business.  We cannot replace the local

21 knowledge that a broker has; but even the best br oker in the

22 market can't know every property in the marketpla ce, or they

23 certainly would not have a landscape picture of e very

24 property to the degree that we would across the s tate of

25 Florida.
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 1 So, that brings, you know, a breadth of imagery t hat is

 2 terrific, number one, to yourself, to your prospe ct; and

 3 really when you're generating reports, which is r eally what

 4 our brokers and our clients throughout our indust ry are

 5 doing, is aggregating that information very quick ly, both

 6 for internal use and external use, to generate a report with

 7 those photographs with the information they want to use.

 8 Q So -- I want to understand that a little better,  the

 9 different ways that a broker who uses CoStar's se rvice

10 can -- uses the photos that are on the service.

11 A I alluded before when I was getting ahead of our  --

12 myself here, when I was a broker, as an example, I had my

13 own firm, Centurion Group.  What we would do -- I  was a

14 tenant rep broker, and the process would be you w ould go out

15 and sell yourself essentially in representing a t enant to

16 find space; and as part of that process, you woul d do a

17 space showing.

18 When you did a space showing, you would do it in a

19 systematic manner.  You'd go out and tour four, f ive, seven,

20 eight buildings, whatever it is, and you would --  you would

21 deliver -- or at least I would -- a professional receivable

22 to that client of the buildings that we were goin g to visit

23 that day with the pertinent information:  The spa ce

24 available, the asking rent, et cetera.

25 The critical component of that is the image.  So,  when
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 1 I was a brokerage with my own firm, our -- some o f the other

 2 firms I worked for I literally would run out and shoot

 3 photographs myself with a Polaroid camera, which would take

 4 hours, and I'm not the best photographer.  I woul d get the

 5 two-sided tape, and it would take me days and day s to put

 6 together that report in order to go out and profe ssionally

 7 show space to that prospective client.

 8 Q So, using CoStar, how does a broker avoid doing what

 9 you used to do?

10 A That really is the value proposition.  You know,  I --

11 one of the reasons I am working here, I believed when I came

12 here in '98 in what CoStar was offering, having l ived

13 through painfully myself having the ability to ag gregate

14 that stuff.

15 You can do it.  It's just a matter of taking a lo t of

16 time.  Example:  When I was -- in that example of  showing a

17 space to a client, first of all, you need to know  what's

18 available.  You have your local market.  Now, it' s

19 continually changing.  Those researchers we're ta lking about

20 are changing those things on a 30- to 45-day proa ctive

21 cycle, meaning that they're in touch with every a gent on

22 every space every 30 to 45 days.

23 I used to use a book called Black's Guide .  It was the

24 only thing that was available at the time.  There  was no

25 CoStar, as I mentioned, for me.  So, I'd make pho ne calls.
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 1 It would take me days to cull my list down of the  properties

 2 that I wanted to show my -- my client space in; a nd then

 3 with CoStar now, literally -- you still have to m ake the

 4 calls.  You have to confirm -- it can bring that list down

 5 from days to literally minutes or an hour or so t o produce a

 6 report, make your calls.

 7 So, the whole value proposition is to increase yo ur

 8 velocity of deals.  If you can do one deal a mont h as an

 9 agent by spending less time researching, you know , I believe

10 that the product more than pays for itself.

11 Q How much does all of this cost?  How much does C oStar

12 spend annually on building and maintaining its se rvice?

13 A Accumulatively we spent more than a billion doll ars to

14 date delivering what's in the national database.  On an

15 average basis, our research budget is $120 millio n.

16 Q Does CoStar ever license individual brokers to a ccess

17 its service?

18 A No.  For our professional products, they're all

19 licensed at the firm level.  I mean, the way it w orks is

20 that the agents that -- the sales reps, rather, t hat work

21 for me and managers are all trained as well in pr icing

22 methodology.  A transactional professional firm i s, as we

23 discussed earlier, licensed at the firm level.

24 So, a firm like CDR NRT would license "X" amount of

25 sites.
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 1 Q When you say CRDNRT, are you referring to Coldwe ll -- 

 2 A Coldwell Banker.  They will have licensed "X" am ount of

 3 sites on the front end for "X" amount of users.  I believe

 4 in the marketplace here it was nine sites.

 5 Q By "sites" you mean -- 

 6 A Offices.  There were nine separate -- there migh t be

 7 one person in an office, two people in an office.   That's

 8 set out in the license agreement, sites and agent s.  So,

 9 you -- as an example, you'd have CB -- I will ref er to them

10 as "CB" had nine sites.  I believe it was 37 user s in

11 northern Florida.  Their license -- it's a minimu m one-year

12 agreement.

13 Just to answer something that came up earlier, if

14 someone leaves the firm, we -- we don't -- the li cense is in

15 place.  And I am actually correcting you even.  W e don't

16 typically renegotiate in the middle of the term.  We would

17 renegotiate at renewal.

18 As a matter of fact, if we licensed a firm for te n

19 folks and then they added two people, we don't go  back to

20 them in the middle of the term and say, "Hey" -- unless they

21 come to us, we don't say, "You have to pay for tw o more

22 people."  Typically we'll address that at renewal .  

23 So, whether it's downsizing or adding folks, the

24 turnover of typical -- you have your people who h ave been

25 around a long time, but the turnover of typical b rokerage
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 1 firms can be rather high with the associates.  It  can be 40,

 2 50 percent a year.

 3 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, my apologies.  I stan d

 4 corrected by the witness for my earlier statement .

 5 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 6 Q Sir, I want to come back to the concept of licen sing

 7 individuals.  Why is it that CoStar doesn't licen se

 8 individual brokers?

 9 A Well, first of all, I don't think we'd still be in

10 business if that was our business model at this p oint.  I

11 just mentioned that we spent $120 million a year in updating

12 this information that is valued by our client bas e.

13 So, what we're trying to get is an effective head

14 count; otherwise, the information would be shared :  Everyone

15 would take one license; they'd put a work station  in the

16 corner; and they'd share that information.  The p ricing --

17 Q That's not allowed?

18 A That's not allowed.  I will give you one example  of

19 that.  When we opened in the late '90s in New Yor k City,

20 Cushman, Wakefield decided, "Okay, we're going to " -- they

21 had a staff themselves of 30 researchers doing wh at we did.

22 And they said, "Okay, we're going to try CoStar, but we want

23 one license."

24 We said, "If that is the way -- we're not going t o tell

25 you how to run your business; but if you want one  license at
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 1 the head researchers' desk, fine," but we charged  them for

 2 150 heads, which is what the license count was th ere at the

 3 time.

 4 Q Let me just make sure I understand that.  There is one

 5 license where they had one authorized user, but t he cost was

 6 based on every sales associate in the office?

 7 A Right.  The term we use is "beneficial users."  So, all

 8 of your sales reps and all of your management is charged

 9 with getting the beneficial user head count.  It' s not one

10 for one.  So, if you have a one-person shop, one person --

11 and we do have a lot of those, by the way, small entities

12 out there -- and then you have five, it's not fiv e times

13 one.  There's a declining rate per user as you ad d more

14 heads.

15 Q So, the 20th user won't cost as much as the seco nd

16 user?

17 A That's correct, or the 19th.

18 Q So -- and is there also other elements in determ ining

19 what the costs are involving the services and the  geography?

20 A Yes.  We have several different products that cl ients

21 can subscribe to, as well as geography.  A typica l --

22 sticking with the broker/owner vertical, a typica l

23 broker/owner is, you know, for the most part expe rts in

24 their market, and they will subscribe to the mark etplace

25 where they reside.
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 1 Some might -- in Florida we have -- we have an of fering

 2 where we actually give them the state of Florida.   Brokers

 3 are licensed by the state, so they're licensed to  transact

 4 in that state.

 5 I believe also -- and we've done studies on this.   As

 6 an example, when I started as a broker, I was a b roker of

 7 Wall Street Manhattan, which is downtown.  We did n't even go

 8 to midtown.  It was almost like a different city.   And

 9 internal studies that we're done have shown that CoStar has

10 allowed brokers to increase their geographic cove rage

11 because they can gain more of a knowledge of the building

12 set in order to work with their client base.

13 Q And do the licenses themselves specify the indiv iduals

14 at the companies who can use the service?

15 A Yes.  When we set out on a license renewal, it w ill

16 specify, as I said, the site.  It's typically one  site or

17 two sites to a midsize firm -- you might have one  office or

18 two offices -- and the amount of individual licen sees.

19 As part of that process, we actually have a form where

20 we list the users, their contact information, the ir e-mail

21 addresses, fax numbers, et cetera, phone numbers.   So,

22 they're all specified right in the agreement.

23 Q And those users are called "authorized users"?

24 A Authorized users, correct.

25 Q And can an authorized user work for a different company
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 1 or an additional company than the one that's lice nsed?

 2 A Not under that agreement, no.  They'd have to be

 3 licensed at their new company.

 4 Q And so -- but would CoStar allow a user to be li censed

 5 under one company and use the service for another  company?

 6 A Absolutely not.

 7 Q Does CoStar use brochures and marketing material  to

 8 help explain its products?

 9 A Absolutely, yes.  

10 Q I believe there are binders at your feet.  I'm s ure

11 they have the exhibits we'll be using in this cas e, and if

12 you might pull out Exhibit 39.

13 (Changes overhead exhibit.)  Do you see that 

14 document? 

15 A Yes, sir.

16 Q Can you describe what this document is, please?

17 A This is a document that sales reps use and that they

18 might leave behind with a prospect, as well as it 's on our

19 Website; and it's describing five products here, three main

20 products -- Property Professional, Comps, and Ten ant -- and

21 two other products, MLS and Connect.

22 Q And you're referring to the products that are li sted on

23 the right-hand side of the document?

24 A Yes.

25 Q Where is this document available?
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 1 A It's available in all the sale offices as a mark eting

 2 material for the sales rep to leave after a sales  meeting or

 3 demonstration or to send out, as well as that's o n the

 4 Website.

 5 Q By "on the Website," you mean CoStar?

 6 A CoStar.com is a public Website that has a lot of

 7 information, marketing materials for folks that d on't know

 8 about us, as well as it's the access point and po rtal for

 9 clients and their paid subscriptions.

10 Q I'm sorry?

11 A For paid subscriptions, you go to CoStar.com and  put in

12 your user name and password.

13 Q My apologies.  Is this a document that CoStar ma intains

14 in the ordinary course of its business?

15 A Yes.

16 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, we'd move the

17 admission of Exhibit 39.

18 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

19 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

20 (Defense Exhibit 39 was received in evidence.) 

21 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

22 Q Mr. Alliegro, using this document as a guide, ca n you

23 walk us through the primary products that CoStar offers?

24 A Sure.  The first one -- we refer to it as our fl agship

25 product.  Our first product, the product that we built the
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 1 company on is CoStar Property Professional.

 2 Q You're now looking at the second page of the doc ument?

 3 A Yes.  This is mentioned earlier, the inventory

 4 database.  By "inventory" I mean that we strive t o track

 5 every single building and every single market, ev ery single

 6 building being office, retail, and industrial.  T his is not

 7 a residential database.  This is strictly a comme rcial

 8 database, obviously.

 9 So, this is the database that tracks approximatel y 215

10 fields of information on each property.  It is th e database

11 that would have ownership information.  It would have the

12 space available.  It is -- it is -- if you're goi ng to

13 subscribe, typically if I was on a sales call and  talking to

14 a broker -- frankly, to most folks, unless you're  an

15 appraiser, this would be the one product that you  would

16 subscribe to if you're only going to take one.

17 Q Okay.  And what is the next product?

18 A The next one is CoStar Comps.  I mentioned early  on how

19 we grew.  One of the acquisitions we made in 1999  was

20 comstock.com, which was a company out of San Dieg o, which

21 was a public company at the time.  That was the g enesis, the

22 beginning of this product.  This is a comparable sales

23 database.

24 In here we're tracking buildings that have sold.  So,

25 it's not -- it's those three food groups I talked  about --
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 1 office, industrial, and retail -- but we're also tracking in

 2 here multi-family, investment-grade real estate, golf

 3 courses, you name it.  Anything that's transferre d, we're

 4 picking up here.

 5 We are a little different than other -- there a

 6 services around the country that do this.  For th at matter,

 7 you can go to the county courthouse and pull a de ed yourself

 8 for free, if you were so inclined.  What we do he re is our

 9 research staff, one of the team in Florida, for i nstance,

10 those 30 folks when they come across a sale, they  will pick

11 up the county courthouse deed, as well as a genes is, but

12 then we spend eight to 12 hours per record, what we call a

13 "published record" in this database.

14 So, there's a lot of work that goes into it:  Tal king

15 to the buyer, talking to the seller, talking to t he lender,

16 putting lot of information in there besides putti ng those

17 photographs in, besides just the fact that the bu ilding sold

18 for three million.

19 Q If you go to the county courthouse to pull the d ata, it

20 won't have photographs to tell you what the build ing looks

21 like, will it?

22 A No.  You can do that for free.  You know, as an example

23 of that I mentioned earlier --

24 THE COURT:  You answered the question.

25 THE WITNESS:  What was the question?
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 1 THE COURT:  No.  You answered the question when

 2 you said "no."

 3 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 4 Q Let's turn to the next product that you said was  the

 5 third major product.  Can you describe that, plea se?

 6 A Sure.  CoStar Tenant is the tenant database.  Th is is

 7 where we are collecting the tenants within the pr operty.

 8 It's not a rent roll, meaning it's not the owner' s exact

 9 listing, but we strive to get the stacking plan o f tenants

10 within property, as well as about 30 to 40 percen t,

11 depending on the market, of lease expirations.

12 All these products work together.  If you were to

13 subscribe to them, they would all work together w ith a

14 central database.

15 Q I want to turn now to talk about some of the spe cific

16 reports that one can access on CoStar.

17 THE COURT:  When you reach a convenient stopping

18 place, we will take a break.

19 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We can stop here, Your Honor, if

20 you'd like.

21 THE COURT:  All right.  Let's take a 15-minute

22 break.

23 COURT SECURITY OFFICER:  All rise.

24 (Recess from 10:30 a.m. until 10:46 a.m.)

25 THE COURT:  Proceed.
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 1 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 2 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 3 Q Mr. Alliegro, could you please turn to Exhibit 4 1.

 4 A (Complies.)

 5 Q Let's do Exhibit 40 since I have that up.  You h ave a

 6 copy of that in front of you?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q Can you describe what this document is, please?

 9 A This is a marketing piece as well outlining a co uple of

10 sample reports out of Comps -- CoStar's Comps pro duct.

11 Q And is this a product that CoStar created?

12 A Yes, it is.

13 Q And CoStar distributes this to clients and prosp ective

14 clients?

15 A Yes.

16 Q And it's available on its public Website?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And is that CoStar's logo in the upper left-hand

19 corner?

20 A Yes.

21 Q Is this a true and accurate copy of that documen t --

22 A Yes, it is.

23 Q -- that CoStar maintains in the ordinary course of its

24 business?

25 A Yes.
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 1 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, I move the admission

 2 of Exhibit 40.

 3 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

 4 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

 5 (Defense Exhibit 40 was received in evidence.) 

 6 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 7 Q Mr. Alliegro, could you briefly explain using th is

 8 document what kind of reports CoStar can generate  for

 9 clients out of its Comps product, and maybe we ca n start

10 with the report on the first page of this documen t.

11 A Sure.  CoStar has in its overall product more th an 200

12 different reports that you can generate.  This is  an example

13 of what we call the classic one-page report.  The  first one

14 on page 1180, this is an individual comp sale.  S o, you can

15 see the fields of information that we're tracking  that go

16 well beyond just a public deed, such things as ca p rate, the

17 income, percent down, et cetera.

18 So, this is a widely used comp-sale report by bot h

19 lenders, brokers who are -- work in investment sa les, and

20 the appraisal industry.

21 Q And the photo contained on the report like this would

22 be a CoStar photo?

23 A Yes.  All these are photos taken by us.

24 Q And on the lower left-hand corner of the documen t

25 (changing overhead exhibit), is that your logo he re?  You
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 1 see that?

 2 A Yes.

 3 Q Can you explain what that means?

 4 A Sure.  Clients -- the 90 percent or so that are using

 5 CoStar still want to brand their deliverables wit h their own

 6 logos for the most part to their prospects and cl ients.  So,

 7 that's our made-up marketing logo; and often, you  know, in a

 8 sales presentation we'll indicate that that is wh ere your

 9 logo would go.

10 Nowhere on this report -- actually if you'll noti ce --

11 you probably can't see that up there at the botto m -- it

12 says, "This copyright report contains research li censed to

13 CoStar Group."  That's because we produce it.  Th at would

14 actually say the client's name.  It would say "li censed to

15 CBNRT" in this case.

16 So, the clients love that, because it's branded w ith

17 their company on it, their logo; and to the prosp ective

18 client, it looks like they spent a lot of time pu tting this

19 together.

20 Q Can we turn to the next page of this document?

21 A (Complies.)  This is a multi-property per-page s ample

22 in this case.  So, again, often if you're valuing  a property

23 for sale, either on the buyer or seller side you want to get

24 a sense of what, you know -- what the buy price a nd sale

25 price should be for the appraisal, if you're doin g an
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 1 appraisal.

 2 The client would do the analysis, but this would

 3 generate in this case a sample very quickly of ni ne

 4 properties that can be aggregated very -- in a ve ry quick

 5 manner.

 6 Q And this would help inform the broker of the sal e of

 7 comparable properties?

 8 A Sure.  I mean, you -- number one, for your own

 9 knowledge, you have to get a sense of where the m arket is at

10 any particular time.  Markets are always moving, but also,

11 you know, a professional smart broker is going to  make a

12 case to their client using data such as this.

13 Q Can we please turn to Exhibit 41?

14 A (Complies.)  I have it.

15 Q You have that in front of you?

16 A Uh-huh.

17 Q Can you please describe what this document is?

18 A Yes.  This is a comparable piece.  We were just looking

19 at Comps, the second major product.  This is the flagship

20 product, Property Professional.  In this case we have six

21 sample reports of the type of output that can be produced

22 right out of the Property Professional database.

23 Q So, this is a marketing piece that CoStar uses t o

24 demonstrate the types of reports that come out of  the

25 property product?
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 1 A Right.

 2 Q Was that a "yes"?

 3 A That's a "yes."

 4 Q Is this a document that's been created by CoStar ?

 5 A Yes.

 6 Q And that's CoStar's logo on the top?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q And is this a document that CoStar maintains in the

 9 ordinary course of its business?

10 A Yes.

11 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, we'd move the

12 admission of this document.

13 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

14 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

15 (Defense Exhibit 41 was received in evidence.) 

16 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

17 Q Mr. Alliegro, I would like to do the same thing we did

18 a moment ago with the last one and get a sense of  just a

19 couple of types of reports that this product can provide to

20 clients; and in that respect, if you would turn a nd look at

21 the first page of this document and walk us throu gh what

22 that report shows and how it's useful to a client .

23 A Sure.  This is the classic one-page report for t he

24 Property Professional product, similar to the one  we were

25 looking at with the Comp product.  
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 1 The typical use of this would be for -- I talked a

 2 little earlier about a leasing tour where you're going out

 3 and showing five, six properties to a prospective  client.

 4 You would do a search within the product, come ba ck with a

 5 space meeting your criteria, space they're lookin g for, and

 6 then you put this in a certain order; and brokers  that I've

 7 worked with would leave this behind, number one, when

 8 they're going on the tour -- for their knowledge first and

 9 then when they're going on the tour and leave it with the

10 client.

11 Q So, this is something that brokers would use bot h to

12 educate themselves and as a marketing piece and a  tool with

13 their clients?

14 A Yes.

15 Q Let me turn you to -- actually, turn to the seco nd

16 page.  I notice that this document is called a "c lassic

17 one-page report," but when I turn the page, it se ems to

18 continue; is that right?

19 A Well, in this case it's actually showing all the  space

20 that's available in this property for lease.  All  this

21 information can be tailored.  So, for instance, i f you just

22 want to show one of these units in your output, y ou know,

23 you would tailor that to what you want to show yo ur client.

24 I think the key to all these reports for our clie nt

25 base when we're trying to sell the product is not hing is
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 1 locked in the system.  It's not just software tha t you're

 2 looking at on your computer.  It is the ability, number one,

 3 to educate yourself and, secondarily, more import antly, in

 4 my opinion, to produce output to your clients and  prospects.

 5 Q Now, earlier we discussed that the content in th e

 6 CoStar system isn't just raw factual data that's collected

 7 from public sources but also includes additional

 8 information.  Is that the type of information tha t's located

 9 under the building notes here, for instance, here  on this

10 page?

11 A Yes.  You know, we're tracking a lot of informat ion I

12 mentioned.  It is not all here in the product.  T hat's about

13 215 fields of information.  A lot of it is public .  A lot of

14 is proprietary.  A lot of it is a narrative that our

15 researchers will write about a particular propert y.  It's

16 also the classification.  It's a number of things  that --

17 Q Let me interrupt you there for a minute.  When y ou say

18 "classification," going back to the first page, i s that the

19 classification that appears there (pointing) on t he

20 right-hand side of the --

21 A Right, in the upper right.  It's -- it's a -- th is is

22 more of a subjective classification.  We use a ve ry

23 stringent methodology to arrive at a classificati on of a

24 building:  An "A" building, a "B" building, "C" b uilding. 

25 So, that is something that -- that we are do ours elves in
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 1 terms of the classification of particular propert ies.

 2 Q Very well.  I'd like to turn, if you would, to t he

 3 page -- the page number -- the number on the lowe r corner of

 4 it that says "CoStar 0000011194," if you could.  I don't

 5 think we need to go through every page of this do cument.

 6 A Again, you want me to describe this?

 7 Q Yeah, if you could describe what this report is and

 8 what it does and how it's useful to a broker, ple ase.

 9 A Yes.  It's just another form of report like we'r e

10 looking at before with Comps, buildings that sold .  This

11 would be done for a lot of different reasons, but  let's stay

12 with the broker.

13 One of the primary brokerage usages of a material  like

14 this would be very quickly to deliver multiple bu ildings per

15 page so you can view, in this case, four building s per page

16 with a quick thumbnail sketch of photographs that  we took

17 with the availability, asking price, and you can actually

18 see contact information and a narrative that we m ight have

19 on the property.

20 Q And this is a document which could be, as it is here,

21 many pages with many photographs; is that right?

22 A Yes.  There's lots of variations of this mapping ,

23 aerials, a number of different things that you ca n do to

24 tailor the product.

25 Q Very well.  Mr. Alliegro, are you familiar with
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 1 CoStar's quarterly and annual market reports?

 2 A Yes.

 3 Q What are they generally?

 4 A In every market that we are in, which is approxi mately

 5 54 markets across the U.S., we produce quarterly market

 6 reports.  They are basically CoStar's research st aff putting

 7 together activity in the market in the three majo r food

 8 groups that we're tracking:  Office, industrial, and retail.

 9 And they're put out a week to ten days after the market is

10 closed.  They tend to be 30 to 50 pages in length .

11 Q And what CoStar services make these market repor ts

12 available?

13 A CoStar Property Professional.

14 MR. OPPENHEIM:  With opposing counsel and the

15 Court's indulgence, I am going to try to deal wit h these in

16 bulk to move things along.  I would ask the witne ss to look

17 at Exhibits 11, 12, 13, and 22 (changing overhead  exhibit).

18 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

19 Q Mr. Alliegro, are these the quarterly and annual  market

20 reports we were referring to -- examples of quart erly and

21 annual market reports?

22 A Yes.  I should have added that we do a year-end,  and

23 this is a year-end 2007, Tampa-St. Pete office ma rket

24 report.

25 Q And by that, you're referring to Exhibit 11?
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 1 A Yes.

 2 Q Okay.  And Exhibit 12 is the first quarter of 20 07

 3 office report for the Tampa-St. Petersburg office  market?

 4 A Yes.

 5 Q And Exhibit 13 is the year-end 2007 Tampa-

 6 St. Petersburg industrial report as opposed to of fice

 7 report; is that correct?

 8 A Yes.

 9 Q And then Exhibit 22, the second page of which th e

10 attachment to the e-mail is the year-end 2006 Tam pa-

11 St. Petersburg office market report; is that corr ect?

12 A Correct, yes.

13 Q Now, with respect to all of these documents, wer e all

14 of these office reports and industrial reports --  were they

15 created by CoStar?

16 A They were, yes.

17 Q And are these four exhibits accurate copies of t hose

18 market reports?

19 A Yes.

20 Q When CoStar publishes them, are they in black an d white

21 as these are here?

22 A No.  These are poor copies in black and white.  They're

23 all in color.  They -- they can be output in PDF,  or they

24 could be printed in color as well.

25 Q Or just downloaded in red?
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 1 A Yes.

 2 Q And are these documents that CoStar maintains in  the

 3 ordinary course of its business?

 4 A Yes.

 5 Q Do they all maintain CoStar's logo?

 6 A Yes.

 7 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We would move these into evidence ,

 8 Your Honor.

 9 MR. GIBSON:  11, 12, 13, and 22 or the color

10 versions?

11 MR. OPPENHEIM:  11, 12, 13, and 22 in their

12 correct version.

13 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

14 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

15 (Defense Exhibits 11, 12, 13, and 22 were receive d 

16 in evidence.)  

17 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

18 Q I'd now like to turn to Exhibits 43 -- 42 and 43 .  And

19 so, is Exhibit 42 the first-quarter 2007 office r eport for

20 the Tampa-St. Petersburg office market?

21 A Yes.

22 Q And is this just a color version of the exhibit we were

23 looking at a moment ago?

24 A Seems to be, yes.

25 Q And Exhibit 43 is the year-end 2007
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 1 Tampa-St. Petersburg office market report?

 2 A Correct.

 3 Q And again, it's just a color version of the prio r

 4 exhibit?

 5 A Yes.

 6 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We'd move these in evidence.

 7 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

 8 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

 9 (Defense Exhibits 42 and 43 were received in 

10 evidence.) 

11 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

12 Q Let's -- Mr. Alliegro, what I'd like to do, I do n't

13 want you to go through all these documents or go through

14 them in too much detail, but let's just take the color

15 version of the first quarter of the 2007

16 Tampa-St. Petersburg office market report documen t, and what

17 I'd like to do is briefly go through that documen t and

18 understand what is the -- what is in these office  reports

19 and how does it facilitate -- one moment.  

20 (Pause.)  So, starting at the beginning of that 

21 document, if you would, Mr. Alliegro. 

22 A You want me to describe it?

23 Q Sure.

24 A So, this is a typical quarterly report, and it's  -- as

25 you indicated, we've been looking at -- this is s pecific
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 1 information on specific properties.  This is now rolling up

 2 an entire quarter of information that we're track ing, in

 3 this case the Tampa-St. Pete office market, the f irst

 4 quarter, 2007.  Just leafing through the table of  contents,

 5 we talk about methodology, terms and conditions. 

 6 One thing to note:  On this page, 1210, we talk a bout a

 7 classification.  It will actually describe their -- how

 8 CoStar comes up with its classification of buildi ngs.  I

 9 kind of made a joke about it.  The owners always want to be

10 an A, B, or C, but we do it very systematically.  It's a

11 quick description.

12 But when you get into the meat of the report, on page

13 1212, this is the -- you know, this is the narrat ive that

14 our researchers are taking information and -- and  kind of

15 in a -- you know, our clients love these reports,  because as

16 soon as they're delivered, they can read through this and

17 get a sense of what's going on in their marketpla ce, be

18 smart, be educated, communicate that to their cli ents and

19 prospects.

20 In this case, it's kind of interesting.  In 2007 we had

21 an 8.2 percent overall vacancy rate.  I'm sure we 'd love to

22 have that here now.  So, it goes through a lot of

23 information here.  You know, it's talking about - - because

24 we're tracking every property, everything that's going on,

25 and we have a wealth of information.  All this is
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 1 essentially doing is -- the research team is pull ing it all

 2 together, and this will be delivered to the clien ts who

 3 subscribe in the Tampa-St. Pete market, Property

 4 Professional, the largest lease signing, rental r ates; and

 5 then we go into a lot of detail, market by market , submarket

 6 by submarket.  First we offer a bunch of employme nt industry

 7 information, just basically pulling it all togeth er.

 8 Q What page are you on, sir?

 9 A I am actually now starting to get into the meat of it.

10 1218.  This will also show you the -- I was talki ng about

11 earlier the breadth of coverage in a market like Tampa-

12 St. Pete that we're covering.  So, these are the different

13 areas that we're covering.  

14 It's kind of interesting here just looking at thi s

15 report, too, that's -- this is talking about an a mount of

16 square feet that was delivered that quarter or un der

17 construction; and I can barely read this, but it' s saying

18 percent preleased:  71 percent, 55 percent.  Thos e were good

19 times.

20 So, we're basically rolling up all of this.

21 The next page has a lot of historical information .  And

22 again, all this information is delivered in a tim ely manner,

23 select-to-date deliveries, buildings that have be en built,

24 when we were building, under-construction propert ies, all of

25 your thumbnails. 
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 1 Then starting on page 1223 is when we start to ge t into

 2 very detailed market statistics, and we're breaki ng -- in

 3 this case breaking it out by class.  All this -- all of this

 4 kind of reporting can be done in the product itse lf, but

 5 this is kind of us doing it for you.

 6 Q Let me just pause there.  So, when you say "brea king it

 7 out by class," you're looking on page 1223, and y ou've got

 8 Class A market stats, Class B, Class C, so on, an d then you

 9 break it out more -- in a more detailed way geogr aphically;

10 is that right?

11 A Right.  If you look at the first line on here, C lass A

12 marketing statistics, you rapidly see, I think, w hy it takes

13 30 people.

14 Q Hold on a second so we can all see it.  Enlarge it.

15 Otherwise it's too small.

16 A Sure.  So, as one example here -- so, in central  Tampa,

17 we're tracking 51 Class A properties.  That is th e universe

18 that that researcher would be responsible for in that

19 geographic area, 12 million square feet.  Then as  you go

20 across here, it talks about the coded rent rollin g up that

21 subset of properties.

22 So then as you go through here, we break it out b y

23 class:  A, B, C.  It's just really great informat ion.  Our

24 clients love this stuff.  They share it both inte rnally as

25 well as with their prospects and clients.  
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 1 And then we go on; and the next page, 1224, is re ally

 2 finite submarkets:  Manatee where we have three b uildings,

 3 S, A, P buildings.  So, it will break it all out for you

 4 with all the absorption, vacancy rates, total squ are-foot

 5 vacancy.

 6 CoStar is also tracking sublet availability, whic h is

 7 something that's unique to us as well in terms of  an

 8 information provider.

 9 So, it's a very detailed report.  This one looks to be

10 40 or so pages long, and --

11 Q I want to turn to page 1232 a little further in and

12 skip a few pages here.  Can you describe what thi s page and,

13 I guess, the subsequent couple of pages show?

14 A Right.  So, again, all of this is in the product .  You

15 could have picked this up out of CoStar Comps, bu t this is

16 aggregating it.  It is -- it's -- you know, putti ng it in a

17 report, the top sales in the marketplace in that quarter

18 with a photograph that we had taken.  So, we have  nine of

19 the top sales here of properties rolled up for yo u at your

20 fingertips.

21 Q So, we just went through the market reports.  We 've

22 talked about some of the sample reports.  Does Co Star --

23 does the service also maintain separate informati on pages on

24 individual properties?

25 A Yes.
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 1 Q Could a broker search particular addresses or lo cations

 2 to -- to reference those pages?

 3 A Yes.  One of the most used and simplest function s of

 4 our software frankly is a look-up where you would  just look

 5 up an individual property and bring back everythi ng CoStar

 6 knows about that property.

 7 Q Let me ask you to turn to Exhibit 36, please.  L et's

 8 just start with the basics here.  This is a multi -part

 9 exhibit.  What's --

10 A There's nothing under 36 here.  Oh, 36A, I am so rry.

11 Q Okay.  Exhibit 36 -- rather than have 41 additio nal

12 exhibits, what we did is Exhibit 36 has A through  OO?

13 A I am a little slow on the uptake.

14 Q I apologize.  I should have explained it.  We we re

15 doing it so we would handle the exhibits in bulk.   But let's

16 just -- if you would look at these -- the tabs of  this

17 exhibit generally, please.

18 A Yes, sir.

19 Q Do these tabs include the property pages that yo u just

20 described -- the individual property pages you ju st

21 described?

22 A Yes, it looks to be.

23 Q And the photos that appear on those pages?

24 A Yes.

25 Q And are these accurate copies that come from the  CoStar
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 1 database?

 2 A Yes.

 3 Q Along with the addresses that are referenced in those

 4 databases?

 5 A Yes.

 6 Q And are these documents that CoStar maintains in  the

 7 ordinary course of its business?

 8 A Yes.

 9 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We would move the admission of

10 this exhibit.

11 MR. GIBSON:  The entirety of 36?

12 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Yes, the entirety of 36.

13 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

14 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

15 (Defense Exhibit 36 was received in evidence.) 

16 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

17 Q I don't want to go through every tab here, but l et's

18 just --

19 A Thank you.

20 Q -- let's just pick down to 36C, if you would, as  an

21 example; and I think there are four pages to this .  If you

22 could just walk through (changing overhead exhibi t) what

23 these pages are, please.

24 A 36C, sure.  So, 935 is a typical photograph.  It  looks

25 to be -- I don't know what this building is.  It looks to
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 1 be, you know, a -- an office building.  You can s ee the

 2 quality.  These are very high res-- resolution ph otographs.

 3 The second page here, 936, is actually a screen c apture

 4 of what your researcher would use.  So, this is n ot

 5 delivered to the CoStar client.  This is what we call our

 6 "Enterprise Internal System Production Database."   You see

 7 it says that on the upper left-hand corner.

 8 So, a researcher who is responsible for this prod uct,

 9 typically they'd come in, and they have a univers e of, say,

10 500 buildings that they are responsible for updat ing.

11 They would come in in the morning; and, you know,

12 they'd be prompted for this set of buildings, the se updates

13 that day.  So, here it's telling them exactly the  building

14 that needs an update.  This is kind of inside bas eball how

15 we make it, so to speak, with the research staff.

16 Q Let's turn to the next page.

17 A So -- in the deliverables; right?  So, this is a  screen

18 capture of the actual product.  We --

19 Q When we say "deliverables," this is what is avai lable

20 for CoStar's clients?

21 A (Nods head.)  Right.  So, this -- this happens t o be a

22 building in Tampa.  If you were a -- CBNRT, Mr. B ell would

23 have had access to this screen as a client of CBN RT, and

24 what you see here is the entire system is set up on what we

25 call a "tab card system."  So, you have 12 differ ent tabs.

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



78

 1 It's hard to see on this screen, but --

 2 Q You're referring to -- 

 3 A The space overview is one that's lit up right no w, and

 4 what it's showing me down below is space that's a vailable in

 5 that product, in that property; and each -- behin d each one

 6 of these tabs is a wealth of information.  I ment ioned

 7 before there are 215 fields of information.  This  is where

 8 it all resides on individual property.

 9 The power is, number one, you know, the typical b roker

10 who has a -- you know, a for-sale or for-lease.  We'll stick

11 with the for-lease.  Representing someone looking  for space,

12 we would go in the system and say, "I'm looking f or 5,000

13 square feet in this geographic range."  Bang.  Br ing back

14 12, 15, whatever it is, result sets that meet his  criteria.

15 And then he or she would begin to go through thes e tabs, use

16 their own intelligence, market knowledge, which w e can never

17 relace, and determine very quickly what it is tha t they want

18 to further advance with their client.

19 So, behind each one of these tabs there is inform ation.

20 Just as one example, the property tab is -- is wh ere the

21 researchers would have some narrative written abo ut the

22 property, the kind of amenities it has, you know,  whether it

23 has a coffee shop, et cetera.

24 So, the researchers are actually getting addition al

25 information besides just the fact that it is a pr operty that
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 1 has "X" amount of square feet available.

 2 The company tab is a wealth of at-your-fingertips

 3 contact information:  Who is the broker, who is t he owner

 4 who's handling the sublease if there was a sublea se in the

 5 building.

 6 One of the things our clients love about CoStar i s the

 7 fact that you can communicate right within the pr oduct.  So,

 8 you can click on a little box that would send an e-mail to

 9 the person handling the property and say, "Is thi s still

10 available?  Can I come see it tomorrow?" or whate ver.

11 So, there's a lot of information here.  Each one of

12 these tabs has a separate piece of information.  The comps

13 tab, for instance, if the building had sold in th e -- since

14 we've been tracking Tampa, there would be -- actu ally,

15 the -- there would be a series of comp cards here  of

16 comparable sales information.

17 Q If a user wanted to enlarge the photo in order t o see

18 a -- a better quality, could they do that?

19 A Yes.  You see the images tab, the fourth one up at the

20 top?  That's where we archive -- it's not just on e image, by

21 the way.  A property like this, which looks to be , you know,

22 it's a Class A property, high -- high-exposure pr operty.  We

23 probably, you know, have three or four photos.  W e'd have a

24 lobby shot.  We'd have floor plans, a wealth of a nything

25 that -- you know, we've been doing this for years .  So, as
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 1 we archive stuff, it all gets aggregated and stor ed.

 2 Q Mr. Alliegro, could a commercial real-estate bro ker get

 3 all of the information they need to do what they do in

 4 business simply from public-record sources?

 5 A Well, they could -- they could get a lot of what  we do.

 6 I did it before CoStar existed.  The world surviv ed without

 7 CoStar.  It would take a lot of work.  I would ar gue that

 8 you wouldn't get the ability to track the amount of

 9 properties that we're tracking.  It's next to imp ossible.  I

10 don't care how large a firm you are.  There's a r eason that,

11 you know, the folks who probably could afford wha t we do and

12 some --

13 THE COURT:  That's a "yes"?

14 THE WITNESS:  That's a "yes."

15 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

16 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

17 Q Could a commercial real-estate broker simply rel y on

18 listing services and not use CoStar?

19 A By listing service --

20 Q A listing service, a bulletin-board-type service ?

21 A A bulletin-board service, a listing service that  I'm

22 aware of, is just that.  They're bulletin boards,  meaning

23 that the brokers are responsible for posting an e xchange as

24 opposed to a proactive research tool.

25 Q So, let me ask, why is it -- so, let me ask the
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 1 question again:  Could somebody rely on just thos e services

 2 and be a commercial real-estate broker?

 3 A Sure.

 4 Q And what would be the impact on their business?

 5 A My opinion from being a professional in this sid e of

 6 the business now is that you would be spending a lot of time

 7 culling information, collecting information, scre ening

 8 information, rather than doing deals; but you cou ld do it,

 9 sure.

10 Q Are you aware of a service called LoopNet?

11 A Yes.

12 Q How does LoopNet differ from CoStar?

13 A CoStar is a public company.  It's a large compan y.

14 They are an exchange.  They are a bulletin board.   They

15 don't have researchers.

16 Q LoopNet or CoStar?

17 A LoopNet.  So, LoopNet is a -- you know, they hav e a

18 piece of software where brokers exchange informat ion where

19 they post listings.  They are responsible for put ting the

20 listings up as well as taking the listings down, "listings"

21 being space for lease, buildings for sale.

22 Q So, the information on LoopNet is provided by th e

23 brokers themselves?  There's no verification proc ess?

24 A Correct.

25 Q And are you aware of a service called MicroBase?
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 1 A MicroBase is a local company here in Florida tha t does

 2 a -- a small subset of one of the pieces of what we do,

 3 which is it tracks -- my understanding is -- I'm not sure of

 4 the full-blown product, but what I know about it is that

 5 they track deeds and properties that have transfe rred, and

 6 they do some plat maps and things like that.  I d on't

 7 believe there's any images -- photos of the build ings in

 8 that product.

 9 Q Has -- I want to shift gears now and talk about

10 CoStar's relationship with Klein & Heuchan.  Has CoStar ever

11 tried to license Klein & Heuchan prior to this di spute?

12 A Yes.  There were eight or nine different what we  call

13 "demonstrations," demos over the years, in the pa st ten

14 years or so, to attempt to license them, to convi nce them to

15 buy.

16 Q And so, you described that there were demos.  Wh at kind

17 of communications would there have been over, you  say, ten

18 years?  What kind of communications would there h ave been

19 with Klein & Heuchan?

20 A Well, from the sales side, you know, my folks ar e

21 trying to get everybody to subscribe.  That's the ir job.

22 So, they reached prospects.  They would call; and  our

23 typical sales cycle is we will get a meeting, com e see them,

24 go to their offices, bring a projector and a -- a nd our

25 computer and show them the system and walk throug h what it

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



83

 1 does and kind of some of the reports we've shown today; and

 2 hopefully, you know -- we're in a subscription-ba sed

 3 service, so our job is not only get them to subsc ribe, but

 4 to keep them as a client for a long period of tim e.

 5 Q I want to talk about these demonstrations for a minute.

 6 What would the demonstrations to Klein & Heuchan have looked

 7 like?

 8 A A typical demonstration -- I wasn't there; but o ver the

 9 years, a typical demonstration would consist -- w e put our

10 sales reps through, again, like we were talking e arlier

11 about the research folks have a pretty extensive training

12 program that's in -- in headquarters, as well as field

13 training by managers and by myself.  So, they are  trained on

14 how to present the product, a systematic way to s how it,

15 show what the features and benefits are, but, mos t

16 importantly, hopefully show the value -- because it's not

17 free -- of why someone should subscribe.

18 Q And when CoStar does a presentation or demonstra tion,

19 excuse me, to a prospective client, do they expla in the

20 nature of the type of license they're seeking to have the

21 client enter into?

22 A Sure.  The question always comes up -- I've been  at

23 thousands of meetings in my 10, 12 years here, an d I've been

24 responsible for opening a lot of meetings.  The q uestion

25 always comes up, "Okay, I'd like it.  How much?  I want one
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 1 license.  I want two licenses," and the response is, "No.

 2 We license at the firm level."  I always encourag e my reps,

 3 if they're not bringing a contract with them to a  meeting,

 4 to have the price with them.  When someone asks w hat it

 5 costs, you need to tell them.

 6 Q Was Klein & Heuchan ever offered a license from CoStar?

 7 A I believe they were offered a license twice, to my

 8 knowledge, looking in our enterprise system, to t ry to get

 9 them licensed over a period of time.  Could have been more,

10 but best I can tell.

11 Q And do CoStar -- the licenses that they offer to

12 clients like Klein & Heuchan make clear that all of the

13 individuals at the firm have to be licensed?

14 A Sure.  I mean, there would be a conversation tha t would

15 be had at the meeting.  The typical rep would, fi rst of all,

16 do their due diligence before they even went to t he meeting.

17 They would go up to -- hopefully, if the client h as a

18 Website, the client will list the agents and do a  due

19 diligence.  So, they come in prepared saying, you  know, "I

20 have you at 12 agents, 15 agents," and sometimes there's --

21 you know, that person left last week or whatever and you

22 have that conversation.

23 But they're all charged with getting the proper h ead

24 count, and the license agreement stipulates right  on the

25 front page "X" sites.  A site would be an office,  one office
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 1 site, two, specifically what it might be, and "X"  amount of

 2 users.

 3 Q Did any of the licenses that CoStar offered to K lein &

 4 Heuchan offer to license a single user?

 5 A Again, I was not there, but no, it would not hav e been

 6 done.  It would not have been accepted.  Even if we had a

 7 rogue salesman, it would never have made it throu gh

 8 headquarters.

 9 Q Let's shift gears and talk about Coldwell Banker  NRT.

10 Can you describe who Coldwell Banker NRT is?

11 A Coldwell Banker NRT is a large commercial real-e state

12 firm.  We had at the time of this a large nationa l agreement

13 with them with multiple sites, hundreds of agents  across the

14 country.

15 Q And so, they have a presence in Florida?

16 A A strong presence in Florida, yes.

17 Q How many offices in Florida that you're aware of ?

18 A I know in this part of the world, northern Flori da,

19 there were nine license sites.  Throughout the st ate, I

20 believe about 30.

21 Q And in 2006, did -- was Coldwell Banker a subscr iber of

22 CoStar?

23 A Yes.

24 Q And it entered into a license with CoStar?

25 A Yes.
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 1 Q I'd ask you to please turn to Exhibits 4 and 5 - - or

 2 actually let's just start with Exhibit 4.  Mr. Al liegro, you

 3 referred a number of times to northern Florida.  I don't

 4 want to get into a discussion of geography, but w hen you

 5 refer to northern Florida, are you including to t he

 6 Tampa-St. Pete market?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q Okay.  

 9 A Actually, the -- the nine offices that I'm refer ring to

10 is strictly Tampa-St. Pete that were licensed.

11 Q I'm sorry.  The nine offices for Coldwell Banker  --

12 A NRT were just in this vicinity as part of this

13 agreement, yes.

14 Q And pardon me, I said Exhibit 4.  What I really meant

15 was Exhibit 5.

16 A I have it.

17 Q (Changes overhead exhibit.) Is this a copy of Co Star's

18 September 2005 license with Coldwell Banker NRT?

19 A It is.

20 Q And is this an accurate copy of an agreement tha t

21 CoStar maintains in its files?

22 A Yes.

23 Q Does CoStar regularly maintain documents like th is in

24 the course of its business?

25 A Yes.
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 1 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We move the admission of this

 2 document.

 3 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.  Number 5; correct?

 4 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Exhibit 5.

 5 THE COURT:  Received.

 6 (Defense Exhibit 5 was received in evidence.)  

 7 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 8 Q Are you familiar with this license agreement,

 9 Mr. Alliegro?

10 A Which one now?

11 Q Exhibit 5.

12 A Yes.

13 Q What does this license say about who can use the

14 service?

15 A Like all of our agreements, it's specifically fo r the

16 use of the licensee, which in this case is Coldwe ll Banker

17 NRT.

18 Q And in that respect, can I ask you to take a loo k at

19 Paragraph 2.2.  Do you see this language, Mr. All iegro?

20 A Yes.

21 Q I'd ask you to please look at -- and read for us  the --

22 the sentence that begins with the word -- I guess  it's the

23 second sentence that starts with the word "all of  such

24 users" -- the words "all of such users."

25 A "And all of such users must be authorized users as
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 1 defined below, and only authorized users of a spe cific

 2 portion of the licensed product may access such p ortion of

 3 the licensed product.  All" --

 4 Q Let me clarify this.  Let's start at the beginni ng.  In

 5 Sub (a), just read the first sentence, if you wil l, please.

 6 A "Each portion of the licensed product may be use d by no

 7 more than the number of users set forth on Exhibi t A, and

 8 all such users must be authorized users as define d below,

 9 and only authorized users of the specific portion  of the

10 licensed product may access such product as a lic ensed

11 product."

12 Q And then does the next sentence define what an

13 authorized user is?

14 A Yes.

15 Q Could you read -- I don't want to read the whole  thing,

16 but at least through small little "i."

17 A "All such authorized users must be individuals ( i)

18 employed by licensee or an independent contractor  as defined

19 below of licensee and authorized site identified on Exhibit

20 A or at an additional authorized site as defined below."

21 Q You can stop there.  We don't need to go through  the

22 other provisions.

23 Is this language of limiting usage to authorized users

24 and the definition of what constitutes an authori zed user

25 standard language in CoStar's agreements?
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 1 A Yes.  Every one.

 2 Q How does CoStar go about actually authorizing Co ldwell

 3 sales agents?

 4 A Well, when this contract was executed, there was  a user

 5 list, which was Exhibit A, specifying the users, specifying

 6 the sites.  With that, we would have a user list delivered,

 7 which would have outlined as of the time of this contract

 8 execution the users with their contact informatio n and

 9 their -- their e-mail address.

10 The -- you asked me about how it's delivered?

11 Q Not yet.

12 A Okay.

13 Q Please turn to Exhibit 4.

14 A (Complies.)

15 Q Is this a copy of CoStar's renewal with Coldwell  as of

16 January of 2008?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And is this a true and accurate copy of the agre ement

19 that CoStar maintains in its files?

20 A Yes.

21 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We'd move its admission.

22 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

23 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

24 (Defense Exhibit 4 was received in evidence.) 

25 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 
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 1 Q And, Mr. Alliegro, does this renewal agreement c ontain

 2 the same language in Paragraphs 2.2 limiting usag e to

 3 authorized users in the definition of authorized users?

 4 A It does, yes.

 5 Q Mr. Alliegro, in your role at CoStar, are you fa miliar

 6 with how a user is given access to the CoStar sys tem?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q Are you also familiar with the limitations impos ed on

 9 that access?

10 A Yes.

11 Q And are you aware of who Scott Bell is?

12 A Yes.

13 Q Do you know if Scott Bell was ever designated as  one of

14 Coldwell's authorized agents -- authorized users,  excuse me?

15 A He was, yes.

16 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I pause for a moment.  May I

17 address an issue with the Court?

18 THE COURT:  All right.

19 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Opposing counsel and I have been

20 trying to resolve an issue with respect to a disp uted

21 exhibit; and at this point in time, I would have -- an

22 exhibit that the Defendants have indicated that t hey would

23 like to present.  I would, at this point in time,  have

24 presented that exhibit to this client for him to explain it

25 to the Court.
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 1 However, the versions that were provided by

 2 opposing counsel were not complete copies of that  exhibit.

 3 In an effort to try to resolve that dispute witho ut putting

 4 it before the Court and asking simply for an excl usion, what

 5 I believe we stipulated to, with the Court's perm ission, is

 6 we will skip this portion of Mr. Alliegro's testi mony since

 7 I don't have that exhibit; that when -- when the Defendant

 8 goes to examine Mr. -- cross-examine Mr. Alliegro , they will

 9 not ask him about that document either.

10 If they produce that exhibit to me in the course

11 of the next few hours and we're able tomorrow mor ning to

12 examine -- we'll be permitted tomorrow morning to  call

13 Mr. Alliegro to discuss that exhibit, and then th ey'll be

14 allowed to cross-examine him on that exhibit with  the

15 Court's permission.  I recognize that it's unusua l to recall

16 a witness, but we're attempting to resolve a disp ute for the

17 benefit of the Court.

18 THE COURT:  All right.

19 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Is that fairly accurate?

20 MR. GIBSON:  Yes, Your Honor.

21 Just so we're clear, the documents were produced

22 by CoStar in various forms.  One form was TIFF im ages that

23 couldn't be manipulated of various forms.  Then t hey also

24 produced the native Excel file.  What we did is p rinted out

25 that Excel file, and inadvertently one of the row s was not
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 1 printed.  So, that's why we're trying to again pr int it out

 2 on large paper so that everything in the document  is there.

 3 THE COURT:  All right.

 4 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 5 Q Mr. Alliegro, does CoStar say or do anything tha t would

 6 lead a user to believe that a description or lice nse

 7 continues after a salesperson leaves a licensed c ompany?

 8 A No.

 9 Q And why doesn't CoStar do that?

10 A Well, it's -- it would be bad business, number o ne.  I

11 mean, it -- we're licensing an individual firm.  We are

12 granting access to the agents at that firm.  If t hat agent

13 were to leave that firm, then he would notify us and

14 discontinue use, and hopefully we would -- you kn ow, if he

15 went to another firm that was licensed, we would pick up

16 that person or, even better, a firm.  Often what happens is

17 a firm that is not using CoStar, we'd license the  firm.

18 Q Has CoStar historically faced problems with comp anies

19 using the CoStar service without a license or an -- an

20 adequate license?

21 A I wouldn't say it's common; but, you know, there  are

22 always instances.  We have 15 -- as I said earlie r, 15,000

23 clients, 90,000 individuals using this on a daily  basis or

24 weekly basis.  So, there's -- it's a constant str uggle to

25 try to keep tabs on it all.
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 1 Q Not to just keep tabs on the existing users to m ake

 2 sure they're in compliance, but also what about c ompanies

 3 and individuals who aren't licensed at all?

 4 A Oh, sure.  We have a compliance division whose j ob it

 5 is to track for wayward IP addresses and such and  try to

 6 pick up on -- there's bad people out there, and t here are

 7 times where, you know, we uncover things that are  unsavory,

 8 to say the least.

 9 Q When you say "bad people," you mean people that are

10 using the service without a license?  You're not passing a

11 moral judgment?

12 A No, not moral judgment.

13 Q And why is it that CoStar faces this problem of usage

14 outside or beyond a license?  

15 A It's a valuable product in my estimation.  So, i f you

16 could get it for free, why wouldn't you, if you w ere so

17 inclined to take that route?  I mean, it's just a  great tool

18 if you're in the business.

19 Q And so, what does -- knowing that, what does CoS tar do

20 to try to prevent that, I will use the word, "lea kage" or

21 that misuse?

22 A Well, first, we've been talking a lot about the license

23 agreements.  The license agreements stipulate how  the

24 product can be used.  That's number one.

25 I talked about the compliance division that we ha ve.
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 1 Q So -- I just want to slow down.  So, you're sayi ng the

 2 first thing they do is use the license agreement to prevent

 3 unauthorized use?

 4 A Right, the binding license agreement.  The broke r --

 5 you know, I was a broker.  I still hold a broker' s license

 6 in two states.  I don't use them, but I hold them  still.

 7 He's responsible for his folks and his agents.

 8 Q By "folks" you mean sales --

 9 A Sales people.  They're responsible for the condu ct of

10 those agents.  So, when we -- first of all, when we send out

11 a user name and password to a user, Mr. Bell in t his case,

12 he would receive an e-mail.  We've talked earlier  about

13 terms and conditions.  It would have had the term s and

14 conditions that he would have accepted that speci fies that

15 he cannot use that user name and password outside  of the

16 licensed firm, in this case CBNRT.

17 Additionally, we force -- it happens to me myself  when

18 I go into the product.  Once a month -- we force you to

19 accept those terms and conditions once a month, r eaffirming

20 the usage or -- the allowed usage of the product.

21 Q So, you described there's a license agreement.  There's

22 a terms of use.  What else does CoStar do to try to prevent

23 unauthorized use?

24 A We -- I talked about the -- talked about the

25 compliance.  We have -- what happens when a -- wh en a user
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 1 first logs on to CoStar is there's a certificate,  we call

 2 it, on the database that reads your computer.

 3 Q You're now talking about a piece of technology?

 4 A Piece of technology.  So, the technology that we  use to

 5 contain usage.  So, it reads the certificate on t hat

 6 computer.  So, if it was a work station of a brok er and it

 7 read -- it was owned by the brokerage firm, it wo uldn't be

 8 an issue.

 9 If the person leaves, it would still be residing at the

10 agent's office.  If he had his own laptop, which is often

11 the case with agents, then it would read his lapt op.  Many

12 people today are obviously using laptops, and the n

13 hypothetically -- I guess it happened in this cas e -- you

14 could take the product with you.

15 Q Because the certificate -- because the certifica te

16 issued by CoStar is loaded onto that laptop?

17 A It read his -- his -- that person's hypothetical  --

18 hypothetical example here.  It read their laptop.   It's

19 locked onto that laptop.  The purpose -- the poin t is that

20 you can't use CoStar on two or three or four diff erent

21 computers.  So, we talked about licensing the fir m,

22 licensing the agents.  It's locked down onto that  computer,

23 much like Microsoft Office, which does a similar- type thing.

24 Q So, you've been going through and telling us abo ut the

25 types of things that CoStar does to prevent that
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 1 unauthorized use.  You talked about terms of use,  license

 2 agreements.  You now talked about a security cert ificate and

 3 passwords, which were technological limitations.  Are there

 4 other things that CoStar does to try to prevent u nauthorized

 5 use?

 6 A Sure.  The whole organization is aware.  We have  the

 7 Compliance Division that's looking for wayward IP  addresses

 8 where a user would pop up on multiple IPs, and th at would

 9 send a red flag.  That would be investigated.  Th e entire

10 organization is also, you know -- we're -- as I s aid, on the

11 sales side of things, anyway, we're incentivized to try to

12 capture new business.

13 So, if someone had left a firm and gone to anothe r

14 firm, we'd try to get that person added as a -- l egitimately

15 added as a user in the new firm.

16 Q So, licensing efforts would be part of a way of dealing

17 with unauthorized use to convert somebody from un authorized

18 to authorized?

19 A First and foremost, we want a license.  We want to get

20 someone to subscribe.  We want to sell them essen tially.

21 So, that probably should have been at the top of my list.

22 That's the first -- the first choice is to get so meone to be

23 licensed.

24 Q Does enforcement play a role at all?

25 A Sure.  I mean, as I said earlier, we have a -- c ases
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 1 that occasionally that come up that are unpleasan t, but we

 2 have to have enforcement, you know.  Otherwise, t he way I

 3 look at it is we have -- I have clients who are p aying for

 4 our service, and it's not fair to them that someo ne else, a

 5 competitor, would gain access to those products f or free.

 6 Q So, do you know why in this case that CoStar ass erted

 7 claims again Klein & Heuchan and Scott Bell?

 8 A I believe that we were sued, that -- by opposing  party

 9 here.  I know we were investigating it and trying  to resolve

10 it and that we were -- I believe that's the reaso n we're

11 sitting here today.

12 Q Okay.  But subsequently CoStar asserted claims a gainst

13 Klein & Heuchan and Mr. Bell; is that correct?

14 A Yes.

15 Q And so, why is it that CoStar is trying to hold Klein &

16 Heuchan responsible for Mr. Bell's activities?

17 A Well, as I indicated a second ago, it's -- I bel ieve

18 that, number one, it devalues what we do when som eone is

19 gaining access to valuable information for their trade at no

20 cost.  It's a matter of fairness to people who ar e

21 subscribing, you know, who are paying for the pro duct that

22 someone is not.  But, also, it just devalues it.  People

23 pay -- it's not a cheap product.  It is a valuabl e product,

24 but people pay.  So, in my estimation it is a dev aluation of

25 what we do when someone's receiving it for free.

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



98

 1 Q So --

 2 MR. OPPENHEIM:  One moment, Your Honor.  Knowing

 3 that we have the opportunity should an exhibit be  produced

 4 shortly to Mr. Alliegro, we'll at this time rest with him.

 5 THE COURT:  All right.  Cross?

 6 CROSS-EXAMINATION 

 7 BY MR. GIBSON: 

 8 Q Good morning.

 9 A Good morning.

10 Q You rendered your testimony with items that CoSt ar does

11 in order to protect its -- the data that's contai ned within

12 the CoStar database; is that correct?

13 A Yes.

14 Q The first thing that you brought up was the lice nse

15 agreement?

16 A Yes.

17 Q You would agree with me that the terms of the li cense

18 agreement are confidential?

19 A Define "confidential."

20 Q Can any public person see the license agreement between

21 CoStar and Coldwell Banker?

22 A Only if Coldwell Banker chose to share them, but  that

23 wouldn't be our domain.

24 Q The terms of each individual license agreement - - with

25 each individual broker is proprietary information , is it
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 1 not?

 2 A We would not share that with anyone else, no.  C oStar

 3 would not.

 4 Q Do you -- you have no knowledge that any individ ual

 5 agent of Coldwell Banker receives a copy of the l icense

 6 agreement?

 7 A I don't have knowledge of that, no.

 8 Q You don't have any knowledge that anyone at Klei n &

 9 Heuchan received a copy of this license agreement ; is that

10 right?

11 A I have no knowledge of that.

12 Q If you could turn to Number 5.

13 A (Complies.)

14 Q Now, you referenced and read into the record Par agraph

15 2.2?

16 A Yes.

17 Q And Paragraph 2.2 indicates that the authorized users

18 will be listed on Exhibit A?

19 A Yes.

20 Q Where is that?  Is there an Exhibit "A" to this

21 document?

22 A Is there?  I don't see it.

23 Q We'll go to what's Bates-numbered in the lower

24 right-hand corner as 117 -- the upper -- well, it  would be

25 the upper left-hand corner, if you turn to it.  T hat's
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 1 Exhibit "A"?

 2 A Yes.

 3 Q (Changes overhead exhibit.)  Is Exhibit "A" a li st of

 4 the authorized users pursuant to this license agr eement that

 5 are authorized by CoStar to be an authorized user  of

 6 Coldwell Banker?

 7 A No.  This is not outlining the specific users.  This is

 8 describing the amount of users licensed -- the ma ximum

 9 number of users and total number of license sites  per

10 market.

11 Q So, even if someone had the license agreement an d

12 Exhibit "A," they still would not have a list of the

13 authorized users; correct?

14 A No.  They would.  There's another document that

15 apparently is not attached here that is a -- an a ctual list

16 of the users of each individual office.

17 Q If somebody had what is Number 5 in your book th at had

18 been admitted in evidence, had the entirety of Nu mber 5,

19 they would not have a list of the authorized user s; is that

20 correct?

21 A On this document, no.

22 Q You testified that agents come and go at offices ; is

23 that correct?

24 A Absolutely.

25 Q And I believe you testified that, for example, a  broker
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 1 such as Coldwell Banker -- changes aren't made to  the

 2 contract as these agents come and go?  You usuall y catch up

 3 and make up for it on renewals?

 4 A That's right.

 5 Q The research arm that you were talking about tha t

 6 CoStar does --

 7 A Uh-huh.

 8 Q -- one of the areas where the researchers get th e

 9 information is from the individual brokers; is th at correct?

10 A That's right.

11 Q CoStar researchers are in constant contact with the

12 brokers that are in their geographic area; is tha t correct?

13 A That's correct.

14 Q They are constantly calling individual agents to  find

15 out about their listings; is that correct?

16 A Correct.

17 Q You said the majority of the photos that are obt ained

18 from CoStar come from CoStar photographers or fre elancers,

19 if you will?

20 A They're employees, but yes.

21 Q Does CoStar obtain photographs that they use on their

22 system from other sources?

23 A There are marketing flyers.  There was an exampl e, I

24 think, in one of our exhibits we didn't point out .  There

25 are floor plans that are supplied from the broker  or owners,
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 1 and occasionally there are photographs that we ac cept as

 2 well from -- if they have something that we deem worthy of

 3 being in the system and they ask us, there are ti mes, but

 4 the majority are from us.

 5 Q As a matter of fact, CoStar sometimes downloads the

 6 photographs from the individual broker Websites a nd utilizes

 7 those photographs in the CoStar database?

 8 A No.

 9 Q It's your testimony that CoStar never utilizes a

10 photograph from an individual broker and then put  that back

11 into their database?

12 A Not without their permission.

13 Q Are there any products that CoStar offers that a re

14 available for an individual?

15 A We -- not in the listing inventory side of the

16 business.  We've recently, about six months ago, begun

17 marketing a product to the individual called CoSt ar

18 Showcase.  It is sold to the individual.  It's no t a

19 competing product to these products we're talking  about here

20 today.  It's a marketing tool.

21 Q Okay.  And Showcase allows an individual person to have

22 this product in CoStar; correct?

23 A An individual person can buy Showcase to market only

24 their listings, yes.

25 Q Has CoStar ever provided -- strike that.  Let me  ask
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 1 you, do you know what the designation "CCIM" is?

 2 A Sure.

 3 Q What is in?

 4 A Certified Commercial and Industrial -- give me t he last

 5 one.  I forget.

 6 Q What does it mean to you?

 7 A It's a professional designation for people in th e

 8 commercial real-estate business.  They have to ta ke pretty

 9 extensive course training to receive that designa tion.  So,

10 it's a well sought-after --

11 Q There's specific courses that must be taken and

12 passed --

13 A Right.

14 Q -- until that designation is provided?

15 A Uh-huh.

16 Q It's sort of a special commercial realtor; corre ct?

17 A I don't think I'd call it "special."  I don't th ink I'm

18 special because I have a master's in real estate,  but it's

19 a -- it is a designation that is sought after.

20 Q Why?

21 A It gives you some clout in the business that you 've

22 taken additional education.  Let's face it, being  a broker

23 myself for half of my career, brokers don't alway s have the

24 best of reputations, and I think it elevated peop le that

25 educate themselves to the industry.  So, I think it's --
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 1 I'll say that I still consider myself a broker, j ust for the

 2 record.  So -- because I was one -- once one, alw ays one.

 3 So, it's a well sought-after designation.

 4 Q CoStar has at times offered access to the CoStar

 5 database to individual CCIM Realtors, have they n ot?

 6 A There was -- that's correct.  There was a time w here we

 7 did a -- a short promotion.  We were trying to do  something

 8 with CCIM on a company-wide level, and where we - - we

 9 offered them what's called the "CMLS" product, wh ich is a

10 very light version for trial purposes.  It was st rictly for

11 a set period of time for a trial purpose.

12 Q If I were to log onto the CoStar database, Websi te,

13 right now, would I be completely unable to access  any data

14 that CoStar maintains?

15 A You would not be able to access any of the profe ssional

16 products.  You would get some cursory -- you'd ge t all the

17 marketing materials we've been looking at.  We pu t up, you

18 know, a wealth of information about the company.  We put up

19 some aggregated information.  You may be referrin g to the

20 access to the Showcase search engine that is now up there as

21 well.

22 Q I can log on right now and do a search for comme rcial

23 real estate that's for lease in a given geographi c area;

24 correct?

25 A Right.
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 1 Q And when I did that, it would show the photograp hs that

 2 are part of what is now Exhibit 36; correct?

 3 A No.  Can I explain the Showcase product?

 4 We'd have to, first of all, be crazy to introduce  a

 5 product that is going to jeopardize more than $30 0 million

 6 in revenue that is sold.

 7 Q Explain Showcase, if that's what you --

 8 A I am doing that.  That is sold to the individual  at

 9 49.95 a month.  Very low-cost option.  What Showc ase is is

10 it probably -- probably covers about -- well, fir st let's

11 start with Showcase will never track more than 50  percent of

12 the marketplace, as a starting point.  

13 So, if you're a broker and need a professional to ol and

14 you have 50 percent of the marketplace, it's not -- we're

15 not losing business to Showcase.

16 Secondly, to answer your question about the photo graph,

17 there is a -- a -- you'd have to be a -- a Showca se

18 subscriber where we'd market your listings and we  provide

19 about less than 10 percent -- maybe less than 5 p ercent of

20 the content of what's in our professional product .  Very

21 cursory information.  There will be a small photo graph,

22 you're right, in Showcase of the individual showc ased

23 property up on that Website; but the idea behind that is to

24 garner folks who are not professionals so much an d users,

25 tenants, people -- and drive that usage to the br okers, not
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 1 so much a broker professional tool.

 2 Q But as I understand it, I could go onto CoStar.c om and

 3 search for commercial property that's for lease o r sale in a

 4 given geographic area; correct?

 5 A Fifty percent of it at maximum.

 6 Q And the data that would come up would include th e

 7 photographs that CoStar takes and a part of Exhib it 36;

 8 correct?

 9 A One photograph, a small thumbnail, yes.

10 Q So, it's your testimony the only thing that woul d be

11 viewable would be a small thumbnail?

12 A One photograph on each property; correct.

13 Q I can click that photograph and look at an enlar gement

14 of that photograph?

15 A You could, correct.

16 Q If you could go to Exhibit 39, please.

17 A (Complies.)

18 Q Exhibit 39 was the promotional brochure that lis ted the

19 different properties that CoStar offers; is that correct?

20 A Yes.

21 Q Anywhere on Exhibit 39 does indicate that those

22 services are only available to entire brokerages?

23 A No.  We would not put that in here.

24 Q It doesn't say that an individual cannot use tho se

25 types of services?  
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 1 A Not in the marketing pieces, no.

 2 Q Exhibit 41 -- excuse me, 40 and 41 were sample r eports

 3 that could be run on CoStar; is that correct?

 4 A Yes.

 5 Q Anywhere in those reports did it indicate that t hese

 6 reports could only be run and accessed by a broke r-wide

 7 license?

 8 A What it would say is at the very bottom -- I all uded to

 9 this earlier -- this copy -- so, if someone was a ccessing

10 this product either at a licensed firm or a non-l icensed

11 firm, at the firm level, at the very bottom there , which is

12 very hard to read, it says, "This copyright work contains

13 research licensed to..." and it would say the fir m it is

14 licensed to.

15 Q Right, but that sample report doesn't say this s ample

16 report is available only for company-wide license s?

17 A No.

18 Q What is the Enterprise system that you've been

19 referring to?

20 A Enterprise is a very large back-end system that CoStar

21 uses.  Number one, the sales team uses the CRM co mponent,

22 prospective client tracking.  It's used for sales .  It's

23 used for customer support.  It's used for the res earch area

24 as well.  They have their own interface into that  to update

25 the properties.
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 1 Q Is that the same -- is that the same or differen t from

 2 the customer contact database?

 3 A Well, it's -- it's -- different pieces of the bu siness

 4 access different parts of it.  So, in my world, I  am

 5 accessing really kind of just the sales that -- c ustomer

 6 support.  I don't see what the researchers are do ing on a

 7 daily basis, their interface that they're pluggin g

 8 information into.

 9 Q Have you ever met Mr. Klein, either one of them?

10 A I don't believe so, no.

11 Q Have you ever seen involved on a sales call with

12 Mr. Klein?

13 A I don't believe so, no.

14 Q You don't know what was said or not said during that

15 sales call then?

16 A I was not there, but I know how I train my peopl e, and

17 I know what's said at any of those meetings.

18 THE COURT:  When you reach a convenient stopping

19 place, we'll break for lunch.

20 MR. GIBSON:  That works.

21 THE COURT:  All right.  We'll recess for lunch

22 until 1:30.

23 COURT SECURITY OFFICER:  All rise.

24 (Recess from 11:59 a.m. until 1:30 p.m.)  

25 THE COURT:  You may proceed with cross.
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 1 MR. MAGIDSON:  Your Honor, Mr. Oppenheim is right

 2 in the hall.  Let me grab hmm for a moment.

 3 THE COURT:  All right.

 4 (Pause.) 

 5 MR. MAGIDSON:  Thank you.

 6 BY MR. GIBSON: 

 7 Q Good afternoon.

 8 A Good afternoon now.

 9 Q Before we broke, I was asking you some questions  about

10 the public access to CoStar and anyone's access t hat is not

11 an authorized user.  If I could ask you to turn i n your book

12 to Exhibit 36C that Mr. Oppenheim asked questions  regarding.

13 A Yes.

14 Q Those -- that 36C entry involves a building at 2 202

15 North Westshore Boulevard, and it's called "Corpo rate Center

16 1"; is that correct?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And it's your testimony that the public non-auth orized

19 users might have access to, at the most, one pict ure of any

20 entry that's in the CoStar database; is that corr ect?

21 A To the Showcase, yes.

22 Q I ask you to look (handing item to counsel) at t his

23 photograph.  Does that appear to have the CoStar mark on the

24 lower left-hand corner?

25 A Yes.
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 1 Q Is it your testimony that an individual from -- a

 2 non-licensed user cannot access this photograph i f they log

 3 onto the CoStar database?

 4 A If it was showing in Showcase, they could access  this

 5 photograph?  

 6 Q Yes.

 7 A Yes, they could.

 8 Q They could?

 9 A (Nods head.)

10 Q I'll have you look at another one.  Does that ap pear to

11 have the CoStar mark on the lower right-hand corn er?

12 A It does.

13 Q Is it your testimony that a non-authorized user could

14 not access this photograph if they logged onto th e CoStar

15 database without a user name or password?

16 A Except through Showcase.

17 Q I ask you to look at this photograph (changing o verhead

18 exhibit) in the lower right-hand corner.  It's th e CoStar

19 mark?

20 A Uh-huh.

21 Q Could a non-authorized user access this photogra ph

22 without having a license?

23 A They could access this floor plan through Showca se

24 potentially.

25 THE COURT:  Does this have an exhibit number?
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 1 MR. GIBSON:  It doesn't, Your Honor.  I am asking

 2 for impeachment.  It might later.

 3 THE COURT:  All right.

 4 BY MR. GIBSON: 

 5 Q The fact is that CoStar-marked photographs are

 6 accessible on the CoStar database by non-authoriz ed users;

 7 is that correct?

 8 A A portion of.

 9 Q Fifty percent, you said?

10 A Or less.

11 Q Okay.  Of the photographs that are identified an d

12 marked in Exhibit 36, can you tell us which photo graphs are

13 or are not accessible for non-authorized users?

14 A I can't without printing it up in the product.

15 MR. GIBSON:  I don't have any further questions,

16 except for our agreement, which Mr. Oppenheim is going to,

17 in his rebuttal, ask questions regarding that doc ument that

18 I think we've come to an agreement on.

19 THE COURT:  All right.

20 MR. OPPENHEIM:  As Mr. Gibson indicated, I think

21 we've reached resolution on what is now Number 69 .  So, with

22 the Court's permission, I will do my direct on th is exhibit

23 and my redirect together at once, if that's all r ight.

24 THE COURT:  All right.

25 MR. OPPENHEIM:  May I approach the witness?
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 1 THE COURT:  All right.

 2 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Will you stipulate to Exhibit 69

 3 for what's currently in those binders?

 4 MR. GIBSON:  Okay.

 5 CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION 

 6 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 7 Q Before we turn to Exhibit 69, Mr. Alliegro, I wa nt to

 8 ask you a few questions about Showcase, but I wan t to

 9 understand it, first of all.  What -- when was Sh owcase

10 first developed or when was it first launched?

11 A It launched in May of 2008.

12 Q So, Showcase wasn't available between January 20 07 to

13 April of 2008?

14 A Correct.

15 Q So, an unauthorized user couldn't have used the

16 Showcase product to access any of the photos in t he exhibit

17 that you were just shown in that period of time,

18 January 2007 to April of 2008?

19 A Correct.

20 Q Okay.  And does Showcase -- what -- can you desc ribe

21 for us what Showcase is and how it is or is not d ifferent

22 than the other products that you described earlie r?

23 THE COURT:  Asked and answered.

24 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

25 Q Does -- does Showcase provide access to quarterl y
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 1 reports?

 2 A No.

 3 Q Does Showcase provide access to annual reports?

 4 A No.

 5 Q Does Showcase provide access to any kind of anal ytic

 6 market analysis?

 7 A No.

 8 Q In Showcase can you do any searches for comparab les?

 9 A Comparable sales, no.

10 Q Do CoStar -- who licenses Showcase?

11 A The Showcase access is free.  We don't request o r

12 require any registration, so you'll merely go up to the

13 Website and access it.

14 Q Do CoStar licensees or clients access Showcase?

15 A Many, if not most, of our Showcase current clien t base,

16 which I believe is about 10,000 or so individuals  -- because

17 it is selling to the individual -- most of them a re CoStar

18 clients of one of our other products.

19 Q Earlier you were shown Exhibit 39, the marketing

20 brochure that we discussed earlier, and you were asked

21 whether or not that marketing brochure described that CoStar

22 only licensed companies and not individuals.  Do you recall

23 that?

24 A Yes.

25 Q Does that marketing brochure indicate at all tha t it --
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 1 that CoStar licenses individuals?

 2 A No.

 3 Q Are the limitations of CoStar's licenses for its

 4 products publicly available?

 5 A Yes.  We have a whole page on our Website that i s

 6 publicly accessible that talks about the terms of  use and

 7 specifically talks about piracy issues that we de al with on

 8 a, you know, continual basis.

 9 Q And does that page discuss the limitation of who 's an

10 authorized user in a CoStar license?

11 A It does, yes.

12 Q Could you please open up this new Exhibit 69, wh ich you

13 have in front of you.  Without delving for the mo ment into

14 the individual entries, what generally is this do cument?

15 A This looks like an export taped together of mult iple

16 fields of information coming out of our Enterpris e -- CoStar

17 Enterprise system.

18 Q And do these export fields relate specifically t o

19 entries regarding Scott Bell?

20 A Yes.  This -- these -- just looking at the first  here,

21 these same pages seem to all deal with the accoun t of

22 Mr. Bell.

23 Q Okay.  What I'd like to do is walk through the e ntries

24 on this document, please.  And it -- I believe th at this

25 document's in reverse chronology; is that correct ?
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 1 A Let me preface everything with, I did not bring my

 2 glasses, so -- but the answer is yes.

 3 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, I'll put this up on

 4 the Elmo, but the print is fairly small.  If it w ould

 5 benefit the Court, I'll be happy to hand up a cop y so you

 6 have one.

 7 THE COURT:  All right.

 8 MR. OPPENHEIM:  May I approach?

 9 THE COURT:  Yes.

10 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

11 Q Let's start on the last page, if you will,

12 Mr. Alliegro, which should include the -- actuall y, I guess

13 it's the second-to-last page the way this was cre ated.  The

14 document -- I believe in the document is what's l abeled as

15 4A --

16 A Yes.

17 Q -- okay, and the -- and the -- it says "Native R ow 13."

18 Do you see that?

19 A Yes.

20 Q Now, that -- the handwriting on the side of this , is

21 that from CoStar?

22 A No.

23 Q And can you describe what the Enterprise entry i s here

24 in this Row 13?

25 A Native Row 13, you're referring to?  Native Row 13 is
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 1 dated November 13th, 2006; and this is a typical e-mail that

 2 we would send to a new user indicating their user  name and

 3 password.  The password has been starred out here , but he

 4 would have received a password to gain initial ac cess to the

 5 product, at which point he could change his passw ord.  And

 6 it talks a little bit about the terms and conditi ons in the

 7 body.  So, we track this, all communications, wit h prospects

 8 and clients.

 9 Q So, this entry is when CoStar is first sending o ut to

10 Mr. Bell his user name and password; is that righ t?

11 A Correct.

12 Q And this -- the text in what is Column T is the text of

13 the e-mail that would have been sent to Mr. Bell?

14 A It is the identical e-mail that would have been sent to

15 Mr. Bell.

16 Q All right.  And I know it's exceedingly small, b ut

17 could you read what's Important Note Number 1 in that

18 e-mail?

19 A Sure.  I certainly will try here.

20 "If there is not a valid subscription license agr eement

21 to place between your company and CoStar relating  to the

22 delivery of the above-referenced CoStar service, then you

23 should reply to this e-mail and notify CoStar cus tomer

24 support of the error.  You may not use or access CoStar

25 service if you are a non-subscriber."

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



117

 1 Q Let's move now to the next entry, which is actua lly on

 2 the -- it begins on the preceding page, 3A -- I'm  sorry.

 3 Just for clarification, that e-mail, you can tell  based on

 4 the entry there (pointing), was sent November 13t h, 2006; is

 5 that right?

 6 A Yes.

 7 Q Okay.  So, let's go to the next entry, which I b elieve

 8 is the very first row on page 3A.  You see that?

 9 A Yes.

10 Q Can you describe what that -- what that entry is ?  And

11 I acknowledge it goes down the rest of that page and some of

12 the following page.

13 A There's some back and forth here between -- thes e are

14 all, it looks like, CoStar employees about gettin g access to

15 Mr. Bell and a Mr. John Skicewicz and another ind ividual

16 here -- I can't make it out -- Mike Matero.  Bob Geist is

17 one of the people here.  He was my manager at the  time in

18 Florida, and he is talking to some of the people in both

19 Accounting and Fulfillment.

20 Ben Buckley is a CoStar professional accounting

21 individual in Bethesda, where the headquarters ar e; and I

22 presume that goes to a group of people that can h elp service

23 requests.

24 Q So, this is just a series of e-mails indicating,  first,

25 that Mr. Bell should receive a password and then indicating
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 1 that he received it?

 2 A Yes.

 3 Q And this was sent shortly after the password was

 4 actually sent to Mr. Bell --

 5 A Yes. 

 6 Q -- on that date?

 7 A Typically there can be a delay between the manag er

 8 knowing that the individual actually accessed the  service.

 9 So, he was probably talking to them, and he was j ust

10 following up.

11 Q All right.  Let's turn to the preceding page, wh ich

12 would be page 2A.  On the very bottom of this pag e, Entry --

13 Entries 13, 14, and 15.  Do you see those?

14 A Yes.

15 Q (Changes overhead exhibit.)  Okay.  And I ask yo u to

16 give the dates of those three entries?

17 A The first was December 6th, 2006, through -- the re were

18 three or four here.  The first three -- 12/28/06 and

19 1/16/07.

20 Q And those -- the substance of what happened on t hose

21 dates was what?

22 A Sylvia Alvarenga is the individual making the no tation

23 in our system.  She --

24 Q What notation did she make?

25 A The first one:  "Have left voice mail about upda ting to
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 1 Mr. Bell."  I assume she is calling regarding lis tings that

 2 are either space for lease or buildings that he's  handling

 3 for sale, whatever.

 4 Q What's the next entry?

 5 A The next entry on -- I should look at your scree n here.

 6 It's a little easier.  On February 1st, 2007, aga in that's

 7 Sylvia.  It looks like this time she made some co ntact, and

 8 her note is, "Receptionist said he was no longer at

 9 Coldwell."  That would be Coldwell Banker NRT, sp eaking of

10 Mr.Bell.  "Did not give further info as to where he

11 transferred to.  Reassigned his listings."

12 Q Okay.  Then let's go to the next entry, which ac tually

13 is three-quarters of the way up that way, Native Row 7.  Do

14 you see that?

15 A Yes.

16 Q And can you describe what that entry is?

17 A It looks to be a -- I am assuming there was an e -mail

18 sent out to Mr. Bell because he had either forgot ten his

19 password or for some reason he needed to be set u p again.

20 He could have changed computers.  So, we reissued  the

21 password for Mr. Bell.

22 Q That was on?

23 A February 27th of 2008.

24 Q 2008.  Okay.  And let's look at the next entry, please.

25 It's right above that.
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 1 A Yes.

 2 Q Describe what that entry is, please.

 3 A There's an entry from Theresa Charbonneau.  Ther esa is

 4 in our compliance area, and she makes a notation on

 5 March 18th, thank you, 2008; and her note is -- t his would

 6 have been typed in by the individuals from Activi ty entered

 7 under Jerry Lamb at the Coldwell Banker location.   

 8 This is an internal I.D. for the Coldwell Banker site

 9 that we have internally in the Enterprise system,  that long

10 number there.  "Jerry called in and left a messag e.

11 Confirmed Bell is no longer with the company.  Sa id he wants

12 to reassign the user name and password to someone  else."

13 Q Okay.  Let's go to the next entry, please.

14 A Scott Bohl.  Scott Bohl is in Fulfillment, Custo mer

15 Service; and his note -- and that is on April 22n d, 2008,

16 "Disabled per request of Legal.  Contact Steve Wi lliams."

17 Steve is the head of the compliance group.  There sa

18 Charbonneau would be reporting to Steve Williams with

19 questions.

20 Q And that happened on April 22nd, 2008?

21 A Yes.

22 Q And the next entry, please.

23 A 6/10/08, Jennifer Densmore, which is a salespers on or

24 was at the point -- at that point in time in this  region,

25 who was leaving a message for Mr. Bell; and that is our
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 1 internal jargon for LVM TRGN, which means left me ssage for

 2 training.  Our sales reps, just so you know, are salespeople

 3 obviously first and foremost, but they also wear two hats

 4 and, they train customers on how to use the produ ct so

 5 they're incentivized to reach out and do that.  T hat looks

 6 like what she was doing here was trying to help h im if she

 7 could.

 8 THE COURT:  She was trying to help who -- whom?

 9 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I'm sorry, Your Honor?

10 THE COURT:  She was trying to help whom?

11 THE WITNESS:  She was --

12 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Absolutely.

13 THE WITNESS:  The sales reps -- they're -- how

14 much detail you want me to get into?  Their compe nsation is

15 obviously to sell.  That's their first and foremo st role,

16 but they also are paid a flat fee for training wh ere they

17 would actually physically go meet with a user who 's using

18 the product.  The reason for that is it makes sen se that if

19 folks aren't using our products correctly they're  not going

20 to renew their contracts.

21 THE COURT:  Remember the question?

22 THE WITNESS:  Yes.

23 THE COURT:  You testified that she was trying to

24 help "him," and I said she was trying to help who m?

25 THE WITNESS:  Oh, she was trying to help Mr. Bell .

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



122

 1 THE COURT:  And this was after his password had

 2 been --

 3 THE WITNESS:  Correct.

 4 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  Did you

 5 have further questions?

 6 THE COURT:  No.

 7 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 8 Q How was she trying to help him?

 9 A She obviously did not -- she should have consult ed CRM.

10 What those these folks do is they --

11 Q Let me just -- by "CRM" you mean the contact dat abase

12 you were just looking at?

13 A The Enterprise database.  "CRM" is sales lingo f or the

14 sales part of it.

15 Q Go on.  I didn't mean to interrupt.

16 A These folks, what they do on a quarterly basis i s

17 usually they will download all the users in their  book of

18 business.  Each rep is assigned a book of busines s; and so,

19 you know, it's -- candidly it's foolish for her t o be

20 calling somebody that was disengaged from the ser vice, but

21 nonetheless she did.  He was no longer a client, but she did

22 not consult us obviously, or it wouldn't have mad e sense for

23 her to do what she was doing here.

24 BY MR. GIBSON: 

25 Q Did CoStar know in February of 2007 that Bell ha d left
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 1 Coldwell Banker?

 2 A In February of 2007, no.

 3 Q And why do you say that?

 4 A If Miss -- if we had known -- either Fulfillment ,

 5 Sales, certainly Legal -- anyone in regards to th e product

 6 itself would have shut him off immediately, excep t -- well,

 7 if he had left and gone to another client, we wou ld have

 8 shut him off.  Oftentimes clients will go to anot her shop

 9 that is a licensed shop, a licensed firm.  If tha t's the

10 case, we just reassign that user.  So, you know, in that --

11 Q Let me just clarify.  You said "if clients leave ."  Do

12 you mean an authorized user?  So, if an authorize d user is

13 working for a client, a licensed client --

14 A Yes.

15 Q -- and they leave and go to another licensed cli ent, is

16 that the situation you're talking about?

17 A Yes.  We'd still want to know; but if -- if Mr. Bell

18 had gone from -- there's a couple of scenarios, i f you'd

19 like me to explain a little bit.

20 Q Sure.

21 A One, Mr. Bell could have gone to another CBNRT o ffice,

22 which frankly under the cap of the limit, the use rs that

23 they had, he was already under that.  Wouldn't ha ve been

24 much of a need to say anything as long as it was in north

25 Florida here.
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 1 Q So, let me just stop you here.  So, that's if he  had

 2 transferred from one office of Coldwell to anothe r?

 3 A Correct, which happens in a big firm like that.  The

 4 second scenario would be he leaves -- you know, b rokers move

 5 firms.  They stay in the business.  They move fir ms often --

 6 not often, but periodically.

 7 If he went from CBNRT where he was a client over to,

 8 say, Cushman, Wakefield, we'd want to update his information

 9 at that firm, but we wouldn't necessarily disconn ect him if

10 there was a cap in the Cushman, Wakefield license  there for

11 another user.

12 Q What would you do with his user name and passwor d if

13 that were the case?

14 A We would keep it the same.

15 Q So, you wouldn't revoke it, terminate it, disabl e it,

16 nothing like that?

17 A No.  As long as the firm he was going to had the  cap

18 amount of users we talked about earlier at that s ite, we

19 would not disconnect and give him a new user name  and

20 password, no.

21 Q What if you don't know where he's going to?

22 A If we don't know where he's going and we know he  left,

23 we would terminate his -- his service.

24 Q Is there any record that you're aware of that

25 Miss Alvarenga contacted Customer Service to cut off or
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 1 terminate Mr. Bell's service?

 2 A No.

 3 Q I should say Mr. Bell's access?

 4 A No.

 5 Q And did Coldwell Banker have multiple offices?

 6 A Yes.

 7 Q In Tampa?

 8 A Nine or ten in this vicinity, yes.

 9 Q And how many of those -- how many of those offic es were

10 authorized sites under the -- under the CoStar li cense?

11 A My understanding when the license was written is  we

12 would have required that all the sites were licen sed similar

13 to all the agents in a particular site.  So, it w ould have

14 been -- I think there were nine, as I said, in th e initial

15 agreement.

16 Q Under the Coldwell license, did Coldwell have an

17 obligation to notify CoStar if Bell had transferr ed from one

18 of its offices to another of its offices?

19 A Not necessarily, no.

20 Q And how -- how many researchers are there again at

21 CoStar?

22 A Eight hundred.

23 Q And do those researchers have any job responsibi lities

24 with respect to licensing users or authorization issues

25 or -- or the technology management?
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 1 A No.

 2 Q So, what was a researcher doing calling Mr. Bell ?

 3 A He was part of her universe.  So, he was attache d to

 4 the universe of buildings that she was tasked wit h updating.

 5 So, on that periodic update cycle every 30 to 45 days, she

 6 would reach out to him or vice versa.  Frankly, h alf the

 7 communications come from them to us to update the  listings.

 8 So, that's what it appears she was doing here, st andard

 9 updating of some product that he was controlling.

10 Q Was the researcher calling him in his capacity a s an

11 authorized user?

12 A No.  You know, a vast amount of folks that we ca ll are

13 not clients, not users.  All right.  So, the busi ness model

14 again is that it's free to list.  So, we're going  to call

15 mom-and-pop operations that might have one little  location

16 and try to get that information all the way up to

17 institutions, anyone who controls real estate, cl ient and

18 non-client.

19 Q When the researcher is calling a user, does the

20 researcher know that the person they're calling i s the user?

21 So, for instance in February of 2007, would Sylvi a Alvarenga

22 had known that Scott Bell was a user?

23 A She could have found that out.  I don't believe at that

24 point in time that the Enterprise system lit him up as a

25 user.  It does today.  So, she would have known t hat today.
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 1 I honestly don't know in 2007 -- this is not a sy stem that I

 2 am expert on the research component of it, so I a m not sure.

 3 Q Would a researcher who's calling a user treat th em

 4 differently than a researcher who's calling a com mercial

 5 real-estate broker who's not a user?

 6 A No.  The researchers are metrics.  They're compe nsated.

 7 They're bonused on the updates that they complete  in

 8 their -- their book of business, which is listing s and

 9 billings and so forth.  So, her goal is to update  the space

10 on that cycle.

11 Q I want to turn to the February 2008 entry for a moment

12 and ask you a question about that.  You said that  that was

13 an entry related to the issuance of a new passwor d.  Why

14 would CoStar have issued a new password to Mr. Be ll in

15 February of 2008?

16 A Well, for a few reasons.  I'm assuming here that

17 Mr. Bell had reached out to Customer Service eith er by phone

18 or e-mail, probably e-mail, and requested a new u ser name

19 and password.  At that point, Deborah, who does w ork in the

20 Fulfillment group, she would check.  She would de finitely

21 check and make sure that he's still a licensed us er.  She

22 did that, and then she issued him another passwor d.

23 The reason why -- I think I mentioned before he c ould

24 have forgotten his password.  He could have -- I talked

25 about certificates before where you go in.  They bought a
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 1 new laptop, okay.  It's a new laptop.  The certif icate will

 2 read that new laptop.  So, we need a new password  and new

 3 user name to read the computer.  So, that could b e another

 4 reason.

 5 Q Or you're reformatting your hard drive or --

 6 A Any number of things.  Something has changed on how

 7 you're accessing the product.

 8 Q Would Customer Service have issued a new passwor d if

 9 they knew that Mr. Bell had left Coldwell?

10 A No, absolutely not.

11 MR. GIBSON:  Just a moment, Your Honor.

12 (Pause.)

13 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We have no further questions at

14 this time.

15 THE COURT:  All right.  Cross on this document.

16 CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION 

17 BY MR. GIBSON: 

18 Q I want to make sure I understood something you

19 testified regarding.  If an authorized user is le aving a

20 broker that has a license agreement and CoStar do esn't know

21 where he's going, CoStar shuts him off?

22 A If it's an unknown, we shut him off, yes.

23 Q Counsel asked about the entry on February 1st.

24 A Yes.

25 THE COURT:  What year?
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 1 MR. GIBSON:  2007, excuse me.  

 2 BY MR. GIBSON: 

 3 Q I'm trying to look.  Sylvia --

 4 A Yes.

 5 Q Sylvia is an employee of CoStar?

 6 A Yes.

 7 Q An employee of CoStar on February 1st on 2007 kn ew that

 8 Scott Bell was no longer with Coldwell, or at lea st

 9 documented that in the system; correct?

10 A No.

11 Q Well, what did Sylvia document on February 1st o f 2007?

12 A She documented that -- the way I read this is,

13 "Receptionist said that he was no longer with Col dwell.  Did

14 not give further info as to where he was transfer red to."

15 So, two things lead me to believe that she didn't  know

16 he left.  Remember she's a researcher.  She's not  in

17 Fulfillment or Customer Support or sales.  Could have

18 transferred to another Coldwell Banker office, bu t we did

19 not take action.  So, if we had known for sure, w e would

20 have taken some sort of action if he was not a li censed

21 site.

22 Q You indicated there were nine or ten Coldwell of fices

23 in the Tampa Bay area; is that correct?

24 A That are on the license agreement, yes.

25 Q Okay.  Isn't it true that if Mr. Bell had transf erred
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 1 to a different Coldwell office, he likely would h ave kept

 2 the listings that he had?

 3 A I can't answer that.  Maybe.  Maybe not.

 4 Q Realtors are licensed to practice anywhere in th e state

 5 of Florida; is that correct?

 6 A They are.

 7 Q So, if he had transferred to another office with in the

 8 same region, he certainly was capable of maintain ing his

 9 listings even working out of a different Coldwell  office?

10 A He was capable of it, sure.

11 Q I would like to go back to the very first entry --

12 A Can I add one thing to that?

13 Q No.

14 A Okay.

15 Q The very first entry, which actually begins on t he

16 second-to-last page, is the entry on November 13t h, 2006

17 (changing overhead exhibit).

18 A Yes.

19 Q And I believe you testified that that is word fo r word

20 the e-mail that was sent to Mr. Bell when he was assigned

21 his user name and password; is that correct?

22 A Yes.

23 Q And counsel asked you to read under Important No tes

24 Number 1; is that correct?

25 A Yes.
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 1 Q The next sentence, could you read that one for m e, too,

 2 that starts "you may"?

 3 A "You may not access or use the CoStar services i f you

 4 are a non-subscriber."

 5 Q This e-mail doesn't define what a subscriber or

 6 non-subscriber is, does it?

 7 A Define, no.

 8 Q This e-mail doesn't say that in order to use CoS tar you

 9 must be affiliated with Coldwell Banker?

10 A I don't believe so, no.

11 Q This e-mail doesn't say that once you leave Cold well

12 Banker you are not authorized to access CoStar?

13 A This e-mail, no.

14 Q Counsel asked you about the entry in the Enterpr ise

15 system on February 27th regarding the user name a nd

16 password.  You recall that, and that's on the sec ond page of

17 the document?

18 A Yes.

19 Q February 27, 2008.  You have no knowledge of why  that

20 e-mail was sent?

21 A I have as much knowledge as I know about the oth er

22 one -- no, why he prompted the new password, no.

23 Q You don't even know if he prompted a new passwor d?

24 A We would not send out a password unless it was p rompted

25 from a client.
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 1 Q But it doesn't indicate so in this entry?

 2 A No.  No reason to do it.  Additionally, like the  other

 3 e-mail, it does say you cannot use it unless you' re --

 4 Q A non-subscriber?

 5 A Correct.

 6 MR. GIBSON:  Thank you.

 7 THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  You may step down.

 8 Call your next witness, please.

 9 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, may I ask one

10 follow-up?

11 THE COURT:  All right.

12 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

13 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

14 Q What does it mean to you, that entry that

15 Mr. Bell's listings were reassigned?

16 A Being a broker myself, the listings are owned by  the

17 broker.  They're not owed by -- fees are paid to the broker.

18 They're not paid to the salesperson, the associat e.

19 Everything is controlled by the broker of record.   I can

20 tell you for a fact when I ran my own business th at often

21 listings were taken from one broker and given to another

22 broker because he wasn't performing or the client  who is

23 ultimately paying the fee is unhappy with your

24 representation of that building.

25 So, you could be at the same firm -- and I did it
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 1 myself where I removed listings from a broker bec ause he

 2 wasn't performing and gave it to another broker i n the same

 3 shop.

 4 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Thank you, Mr. Alliegro.  Nothing

 5 further.

 6 THE COURT:  You may step down.

 7 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, we're going to call

 8 Mr. Scott Bell, please.

 9 (The witness was duly sworn or affirmed and 

10 responded as follows:) 

11 THE WITNESS:  I do.

12 THE CLERK:  Sir, would you please state your name

13 and spell your first and last name for the record .

14 THE WITNESS:  Christopher Bell.  Did you say spel l

15 my name?  C-H-R-I-S-T-O-P-H-E-R B-E-L-L.

16 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, if I may just approac h

17 the witness.  Mr. Alliegro handed me this new 69,  and I just

18 want to put it with the other exhibits, if I coul d, and keep

19 this with the notebooks.

20 THE COURT:  All right.  

21  CHRISTOPHER BELL, 

22 the witness, being sworn or affirmed, testified a s follows:   

23 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

24 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

25 Q Good afternoon, Mr. Bell.
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 1 A Good afternoon.

 2 Q Where do you live?

 3 A I live in Holiday, Florida, in Pasco County.

 4 Q What was your last job?

 5 A My last job, I worked at Klein & Heuchan.

 6 Q And during what period of time?

 7 A From -- approximately it was December/January so mewhere

 8 in between in there of 2006.  January would be 20 07 through

 9 August -- the last day of August of 2008.

10 Q So, you began somewhere between December 2006, 

11 January --

12 A With the holidays -- I'm sorry, with the holiday s, I

13 mean, I -- I went there and met with them, and I joined them

14 in December; but officially I think it might have  been

15 somewhere after Christmas or the new year.  I don 't recall

16 precisely.

17 Q That's fine.  And you -- you were there until Au gust of

18 2008; is that correct?

19 A Correct.

20 Q And do you hold any professional licenses?

21 A Sales -- a salesperson's license for the state o f

22 Florida.

23 Q As a --

24 A Real estate.

25 Q Real-estate salesperson's license?
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 1 A Yes.

 2 Q What type of business is Coldwell Banker NRT?

 3 A NRT has -- I believe at the time I was there -- I don't

 4 know if they split it up since then, but NRT cons isted of a

 5 residential phase, and they had a commercial divi sion as

 6 well.  And some time thereafter, they split off, and it was

 7 called Realogy or Realogy.  I don't know how to p ronounce

 8 the term.

 9 Q So, Coldwell Banker NRT had a commercial real-es tate

10 brokerage?

11 A Yeah.  They had a commercial presence, correct.

12 Q Okay.  And which Coldwell Banker office did you work?

13 A The Clearwater office on Gulf to Bay.

14 Q And roughly how many sales agents were at that o ffice?

15 A I would say somewhere around 15, as I remember.  I

16 mean, it could vary.

17 Q And what were your job duties at that office?

18 A To prospect for listings and leasing activity,

19 listings, and to sell commercial property.

20 Q I just want to make sure I capture it all.  So, you

21 were involved in leasing commercial properties; i s that

22 correct?

23 A Yes.

24 MR. GIBSON:  Objection, leading.

25 THE COURT:  Overruled.  He's still a party
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 1 opponent.

 2 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I'm sorry, Your Honor?

 3 THE COURT:  I said, he is still a party opponent.

 4 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 5 Q Beyond leasing activities -- and you said you we re also

 6 involved in selling activities?

 7 A Sales, yeah.

 8 Q Any other activities that you were involved in a t

 9 Coldwell?

10 A I guess we participate in some meetings.  We wou ld go

11 to -- from time to time, they would have maybe so me sort of

12 event that you had to be present at.  I remember we went to

13 a Zig Ziglar event down at the St. Pete Times For um.

14 Q When was the first time you saw CoStar's online

15 services?

16 A Shortly after I had started there, I -- John Ski cewics

17 took me through -- he introduced me to all the ag ents.  We

18 took me through and showed me the -- a computer r oom that

19 had -- I believe it's three, if not four, compute rs, and

20 each computer had its own system that you could d o research

21 on.

22 I think one had -- it was called Win2Data.  The o ther

23 one was CoStar, and I don't know -- I'm not sure if there

24 was another one.  I don't remember.  But I know t here was at

25 least those two.
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 1 Q My question was when.  So, roughly when was that ?

 2 A Well, like -- I started in -- I am a little nerv ous.

 3 That's all.  I would say I -- my mom had open-hea rt

 4 surgery in -- it was -- I left Ecolab in June -- June, July

 5 of 2005; and my mom had surgery in October.  And shortly

 6 thereafter is probably November that I really got  cranking

 7 and going there.  So, it could have somewhere in November,

 8 maybe December.

 9 Q Of 2005?

10 A Correct.

11 Q And did you like CoStar in terms of being a serv ice or

12 a tool?

13 A I did, yes.

14 Q And why was that?

15 A It seemed like it was easy to use.  You could ty pe in

16 an address and it would spit out kinds of differe nt -- it

17 would spit out information about the property and  the --

18 the -- like the sales and things like that.

19 Q Did Coldwell ultimately license CoStar access to  all of

20 its sales associates?

21 A Yes, it did.

22 Q Okay.  And do you know why Coldwell provided its

23 brokers or its sales agents with access to CoStar ?

24 A Could you repeat the question, please?

25 Q Sure.  Do you know why?
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 1 A Why did they --

 2 Q Coldwell --

 3 A -- license everybody?

 4 Q Yeah.

 5 A They had -- there was a meeting that they had se t up

 6 and kicked off.  At that time, you could only use  CoStar at

 7 that -- only at that terminal, and you couldn't g et any --

 8 you couldn't access it from anywhere else.  And s o, when

 9 they kicked off the meeting when John Skicewicz w as

10 leaving -- he wasn't leaving the company; he was leaving his

11 position as a manager and going back into the sal es field

12 out of a different office.  He --

13 Q Let me try to redirect you.  I was asking you wh y.

14 A Oh, why?

15 Q Yes.

16 A So, it could be portable.  You could take it wit h you.

17 You could use it if you were at home or maybe at a client's

18 place or something like that.  You weren't restri cted to

19 being in the office.

20 Q And did you find that CoStar -- the CoStar servi ce was

21 a useful service when you were at Coldwell?

22 A I did, yes.

23 Q And what is it that the CoStar service enabled y ou to

24 do?

25 A I could search -- I could search for different
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 1 properties.  You could see who had listings for - - maybe for

 2 something you're looking for.  It had the public information

 3 about -- you -- in other words, you wouldn't have  go to the

 4 Property Appraiser necessarily to get all the inf ormation.

 5 It was all bundled into one.  So, you had a lot o f different

 6 sources that the information was just packed into  one page

 7 or maybe a -- a different page or two.  You could  expand and

 8 open within it.

 9 Q Did you use it to educate yourself about what wa s

10 happening in the marketplace?

11 A Yes.

12 Q And did you use it to prospect specific clients?

13 A Yes.

14 Q And did you use it in attempting to facilitate s pecific

15 deals that you were trying to do?

16 A From time to time, yes.

17 Q When you received access to CoStar, did anyone a t

18 Coldwell say to you that you could continue to ac cess CoStar

19 even after you left Coldwell?

20 A They did not.

21 Q And when you received access to CoStar, did CoSt ar

22 indicate to you you could continue to use the ser vice even

23 after you left Coldwell?

24 A There was no indication.

25 Q Okay.  So, when is it that you left Coldwell?
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 1 A I left Coldwell --

 2 THE COURT:  Asked and answered.

 3 THE WITNESS:  Pardon me?

 4 THE COURT:  He's already asked that question.  Yo u

 5 already answered it.

 6 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

 7 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 8 Q Mr. Bell, why is it that you left Coldwell and j oined

 9 Klein & Heuchan?

10 A Couple of reasons.  Coldwell Banker was a -- the y were

11 having -- they were having a tough time.  They we re

12 struggling.  John was leaving.  They brought -- t hey

13 introduced -- Jay Love introduced Jerry Lamb as t he new

14 director, and he was -- he was located -- he was brought in

15 from outside the area -- from outside the area of  Florida.

16 I believe it was Texas.  And my understanding or my -- the

17 way I perceived Jerry was he had very limited bro kerage

18 experience within the sphere of where we do busin ess, which

19 is Pinellas, Hillsborough, the tri-county area.

20 So, he didn't have a lot of knowledge about it; a nd

21 with John gone, who was, you know -- who helped o verseeing

22 me, there wasn't really anybody you could go to g et help

23 with understanding the market to help you consumm ate a deal,

24 like he may not know a broker as well as somebody  else

25 might.
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 1 Q So, one of the reasons you joined Klein & Heucha n was

 2 to get better training and support?

 3 A Yes.

 4 Q What kind -- what type of business is Klein & He uchan

 5 as compared to Coldwell Banker?

 6 A I would say pretty much the same.

 7 Q What was -- how many office locations were there  for

 8 Klein & Heuchan?

 9 A They had the executive center on U.S. 19, and th ey have

10 the one on Belcher, their main office.

11 Q So, two offices?

12 A Yeah.

13 Q Okay.  And which one did you work at?

14 A I worked out of the one on Belcher.

15 Q That was the main office?

16 A Yes.

17 Q And what was your position at --

18 A I was a salesperson, associate.

19 Q Okay.  While you were working for Klein & Heucha n, did

20 you simultaneously work for any other commercial real-estate

21 firm?

22 A No, I didn't.

23 Q After you began working at Klein & Heuchan, did

24 Coldwell continue to keep you listed as a sales a ssociate on

25 its Website?
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 1 A They did.

 2 Q When did you become aware that that -- that they  were

 3 doing that?

 4 A Shortly after I left, I knew a couple of the guy s that

 5 were -- that were there.  I know Jonathan Kim had  left, and

 6 I heard he was leaving, but I wasn't sure, and he  was much

 7 younger than me.  He was probably in his mid to e arly 20s,

 8 and he was going to -- I heard he was leaving.

 9 So, I had checked the Website to see if he was th ere

10 and pulled up all the bios, and I saw myself on t here, but

11 Jonathan Kim was gone.

12 Q And when was that?

13 A I want to say probably the first part of 2007.

14 Q So, sometime in the first part --

15 A I would say the first quarter of 2007.

16 Q So, in the first quarter of 2007, Coldwell Banke r still

17 listed you as one of its sales associate on its W ebsite?

18 A It did.

19 Q And what did you did when you learned that?

20 A I phoned and left a few voice mails and messages .  I

21 did talk to Linda Barringer, who was John's admin istrative

22 assistant, which is now Jerry's.  He had taken ov er.  And

23 I'd spoken to her, and she said, "We need to talk  to Jerry."  

24 So, I called Jerry, and I never was successful wi th

25 talking to him, but I left him a message to pleas e have me

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



143

 1 taken down from the Website; and I didn't get any  response.

 2 So, from time to time I would check back, and I t hink it was

 3 probably not too long after that I called again.

 4 I talked to Jim Parker, and I mentioned the probl em I

 5 was having, to get me taken off the Website; and Jim says,

 6 "I'm not in charge here.  Maybe you should call s omebody in

 7 Sarasota and talk to them down there, and maybe t hey can

 8 help you."

 9 Q Let me see if I can cut this short.  Did they

10 ultimately take you off the Website?

11 A They did.  I talked to Peggy Kronos down in Sara sota,

12 and she took me off that day.

13 Q Do you know roughly when that was?

14 A I think it might have been around March or April .

15 Q Of 2007?

16 A Yes.

17 Q Mr. Bell, could I ask you to look at Exhibit 48.   There

18 should be some binders at your feet with that exh ibit.

19 A Forty-eight?

20 Q Do you recognize this document, Mr. Bell?

21 A I do.

22 Q On this first page there, Mr. Bell, do you see y our

23 signature?

24 A Yes.

25 Q (Changes overhead exhibit.)  Is that a true and
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 1 accurate copy of your signature?

 2 A Yep.

 3 Q That's a signature acknowledging that you had re ceived

 4 a copy of the Klein & Heuchan office-policy manua l and

 5 commission schedule, that you understood it and c ompletely

 6 agreed to abide by it in every respect?

 7 A Yes, uh-huh.

 8 Q And the subsequent document that follows your si gnature

 9 page is, in fact, that Klein & Heuchan office pol icy and

10 commission schedule to employees and independent

11 contractors; is that correct?

12 A Yes.

13 Q And that's the policy that you were agreeing to;  right?

14 A Uh-huh.

15 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We would move Exhibit 48 in

16 evidence, Your Honor.

17 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

18 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

19 (Plaintiff Exhibit 48 was received in evidence.) 

20 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

21 Q I'd ask you to turn to Exhibit 55, please (chang ing

22 overhead exhibit).  Do you recognize this documen t?

23 A Yes.

24 Q Is that your signature on the bottom of the docu ment?

25 A Mm-hmm -- I mean, yes.  Sorry.
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 1 Q And you were agreeing to this independent-contra ctor

 2 agreement with Klein & Heuchan; is that correct?

 3 A Yes.

 4 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We'd move Exhibit 55 in evidence,

 5 Your Honor.

 6 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

 7 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

 8 (Plaintiff Exhibit 55 was received in evidence.) 

 9 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

10 Q Did Klein & Heuchan provide you with any policie s other

11 than those in the office policy and commission sc hedule, the

12 first exhibit we looked at, Exhibit 48, and the i ndependent

13 contractor agreement, which was Exhibit 55?

14 A No.  These were the -- these were the documents that I

15 had when I started.

16 Q And as far as you're aware, there was no policy at

17 Klein & Heuchan regarding intellectual property, was there?

18 A No.

19 Q Was there a policy regarding copyright?

20 A No.

21 Q During the period you worked at Klein & Heuchan,  how

22 many sales associates were there?

23 A I would say between 14 and 16 at any time.

24 Q And was -- did the Klein & Heuchan Website list

25 those -- those sales agents?
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 1 A Yes.

 2 Q And did it have a picture of you on the Website?

 3 A Mm-hmm -- I mean, yes.  Sorry.

 4 Q And were your duties at Klein & Heuchan the same  or

 5 different than they were at Coldwell?

 6 A We were required to attend -- Coldwell Banker di dn't

 7 have a firm policy that you had to -- they -- the y didn't

 8 have sales meetings very often; but at Klein & He uchan they

 9 had a sales meeting every Monday and Wednesday, a s I recall.

10 I think it started at 8:00.

11 Q So, one of the differences between the two was t he --

12 the mandatory attendance at these meetings?

13 A Right.

14 Q Were there other differences in your job duties?

15 A From time to time we were asked -- we took floor  calls

16 at Coldwell Banker.  Linda took all the floor cal ls and

17 dispensed them out; but from time to time we woul d take

18 floor calls as they came in.  They would be shuff led around

19 and given to us; and then on -- it was optional w here you

20 could take what they would term "weekend calls."  It wasn't

21 mandatory, but you could take weekend calls where  you could

22 pick up messages that people would leave on the w eekend.

23 Maybe they wanted to see a property or they were

24 looking for something.  Most of the time it was s omebody

25 who's -- one of the agents in the office that mig ht have
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 1 been one of their listings that somebody was call ing that

 2 they had already worked with or done something li ke that.

 3 So, then we would pass the information along to t hem on the

 4 next business day for them to follow up on.

 5 Q Other than the kind of details of how it happene d, were

 6 your duties at Klein & Heuchan the same as Coldwe ll such as

 7 being involved in leasing and sales of commercial  real

 8 estate?

 9 A Yes.

10 Q And were Coldwell and Klein & Heuchan competitor s in

11 the Tampa-St. Pete market?

12 A I would you say they were friendly competitors, yes.

13 Q But they were competing for the same business; i s that

14 correct?

15 A Right.  Right.

16 Q I didn't mean to suggest they were enemies.

17 A Well, they were -- I didn't want to suggest they 're

18 adversarial.  In the business we always try and w ork as --

19 as -- in the real-estate industry, nobody's reall y your

20 adversary, because you're always trying to get a deal done,

21 and you don't want to have an adversarial relatio nship with

22 them.

23 Q So, while you were collegial, you were still

24 competitors for the business?

25 A Right.
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 1 Q And did Klein & Heuchan have a license with CoSt ar?

 2 A Could you repeat the question?

 3 Q I'm sorry.  I'll slow down.  Did Klein & Heuchan  have a

 4 license to access CoStar services?

 5 A They did not, no.

 6 Q Did Klein & Heuchan have access to the Pinellas Realtor

 7 Association Residential MLS service?  

 8 A Yes, they did.

 9 Q And how did that license work?

10 A The way I recall is when you sign up for the Pin ellas

11 Realtor organization, you go through a training c lass, and

12 you utilize -- they tell you how to put the listi ngs in.

13 It's very regimented.  You have to update every s o often,

14 and there's -- there's rules that apply.

15 You can't put certain things in the public field that

16 the public could see.  It can only be under Realt or marks.

17 If you print it for a client, you didn't want to have maybe

18 like a key code or something like that.  So, it w as

19 regimented in the way that they could see -- they  would

20 track to see if you were -- if there were MLS vio lations

21 from time to time.

22 Q Apart from the substantive aspect of what the se rvice

23 provided, could individual sales associates on th eir own

24 license access to the Pinellas Realtor Associatio n

25 Residential MLS Service?
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 1 A My understanding is they would not let one perso n --

 2 because I was in the real estate, but I did a lit tle bit of

 3 residential when I started at Coldwell.  I went d own there

 4 and met some of those people, and then I immediat ely decided

 5 that I wanted to go up to the commercial.  I alwa ys thought

 6 I did, but I just went down and checked out the r esidential;

 7 and when you sign up for it -- everybody in the o ffice is

 8 required to be signed up for it.

 9 Q So, the Pinellas Realtor Association Residential  MLS

10 Service is not available to individuals within an  office;

11 you have to have an entire office licensed?

12 A Right.

13 Q And was it the case that everybody at the office  that

14 you were at at Klein & Heuchan was, in fact, lice nsed for

15 that service?

16 A I know -- I know Marty Slavney wasn't.  He didn' t use

17 it for -- he had mentioned it a few times, becaus e we'd

18 talked about different things that would work.  H e would

19 talk about what marketing might work for you on a  specific

20 level, whether it be a -- a -- the premium member ship to

21 LoopNet or just the basic; and we would talk abou t that, and

22 he never -- he never liked it, and he just didn't  belong to

23 it.

24 Q When you say "it," you mean the Pinellas Realtor ?

25 A Right, the Pinellas Realtor.
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 1 Q And so, he wasn't licensed individually?

 2 A No.

 3 Q And did there come a point in time when you didn 't want

 4 to be licensed individually?

 5 A I would say towards the end of the year it was u p for

 6 renewal in 2008 --

 7 Q 2008 or 2007?

 8 A 2008 I was a -- a member for the year of 2007, a nd I

 9 didn't get a lot of activity out of it.  So, I --  having

10 known that Marty didn't subscribe to it, I decide d that I

11 didn't want to renew as well.

12 Q And what happened then with respect to the avail ability

13 of the service in the Klein & Heuchan office if t he policy

14 was that the service was only available if everyb ody was

15 licensed?

16 A Please repeat the question.

17 Q I am trying to understand.  You said earlier tha t

18 everybody in the office had to be licensed?

19 A They -- yes.

20 Q But now you're telling me that you had a colleag ue who

21 wasn't licensed and you didn't want to renew your  license.

22 What if -- how did Klein & Heuchan deal with that  in terms

23 of that service?

24 A Mark --

25 THE COURT:  Just a minute.  The Pinellas County

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



151

 1 Multiple Listing Service?

 2 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Yes.  I am sorry.  Would you like

 3 me to restate the question?

 4 THE COURT:  No.  You're just asking an awful lot

 5 of questions about a different service that doesn 't have

 6 anything to do with CoStar, and I wanted to be su re that you

 7 were still on the multiple listing service and no t CoStar.

 8 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Yes, I am, Your Honor, and --

 9 THE COURT:  When you use the word "license," whic h

10 could be his real-state license, which is not the  Pinellas

11 County Multiple Listing Service.

12 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your point is well-taken.  I will

13 try to be a little clearer in my questions, and I  am driving

14 to a point here, and hopefully we'll get there so on.

15 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

16 Q Let me rephrase here.

17 You indicated that the Pinellas Real Estate Assoc iation

18 MLS service, was only available if everybody with in an

19 office entered into a license agreement to get th at MLS

20 service; is that correct?

21 A They had to be a member of the organization, yes .

22 Q And you also indicated that you had a colleague within

23 Klein & Heuchan who chose not to get a license fr om the

24 Pinellas Realtor Association MLS?

25 A Yes.

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



152

 1 Q And you also indicated that there came a point i n time

 2 when you didn't want to renew your license becaus e you

 3 didn't see much value in it; is that correct?

 4 A Yes.

 5 Q Well, given that the Pinellas Realtor Associatio n MLS

 6 Service required everybody to be licensed and the re were at

 7 least two of you that weren't going to be license d, one who

 8 already wasn't licensed for the service, what did  Klein &

 9 Heuchan do to address that problem?

10 A Mark had gotten an e-mail from the accounting

11 department that I hadn't paid my dues and there w ould be --

12 they would be turning off the office's MLS until that was

13 taken care of.

14 Q Let me pause a minute.  You're saying that the P inellas

15 Realtors Association sent a note to Mark Klein sa ying that

16 the entire office would lose its access?

17 A Yeah.

18 Q All right.  Go on.  So, what happened?

19 A He asked me about it, and I told him I didn't se e a

20 value to it and Marty didn't have it.  So, he sai d he would

21 take care of it and would place me as being an ag ent out of

22 the office up on -- at the Executive Center on 19 .

23 Q What do you mean by that, that he said he would place

24 you as an agent at a different office?

25 A He would -- I believe the way I recall he said i t is
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 1 that by putting me over there, since they didn't have it

 2 over there, that I wouldn't have to pay it and th at I

 3 could -- then the MLS wouldn't be turned off.

 4 Q So, did he transfer you to another office and yo u had

 5 to start working out of the other office?

 6 A No.  I continued to work out of Belcher.

 7 Q Did you ever go work at that other office?

 8 A No.

 9 Q So, all he was doing was telling the Pinellas Re al

10 Estate Association MLS Service that you actually weren't

11 located in the main office in order to avoid havi ng the

12 license terminated; is that correct?

13 A Yes.

14 Q And did he do the same with your colleague?

15 A I believe so.  I'm not exactly certain, but I --  that

16 would be my idea, yes.

17 Q And when you left Coldwell, you continued using the

18 CoStar service that you received access to throug h Coldwell;

19 correct?

20 A Yes.

21 Q And for how long did you continue to use the CoS tar

22 service that you had access from Coldwell?  How l ong into

23 your period of time at Klein & Heuchan did you co ntinue to

24 use it?

25 A Up until we received the letter from CoStar's le gal
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 1 department, which I believe was in April or May, somewhere

 2 in there.

 3 Q Of 2008?

 4 A Right.

 5 Q Were you using CoStar for the purposes of your j ob at

 6 Klein & Heuchan?

 7 A Yes.  It -- a lot of the job is to gain the know ledge

 8 and look up listings and try and get listings, ye s.

 9 Q And the information that you obtained was not on ly for

10 your own benefit but for the benefit of Klein & H euchan; is

11 that correct?

12 A I believe my knowledge would transfer, yes.

13 Q Did you ever stop to consider whether or not you  were

14 still authorized to use the service even though y ou had left

15 Coldwell?

16 A I didn't give it a thought.

17 Q Why not?

18 A I just -- I just never -- I didn't give it a tho ught.

19 Q Is that what you said in your deposition?

20 A I -- can you ask me the question again?  I'm not  sure.

21 Q I asked you whether you ever stopped to consider

22 whether or not you were still authorized to use t he service,

23 and you said you never gave it a thought.

24 A Okay.

25 Q So, what I'm asking you now is, in your depositi on, did
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 1 you give similar testimony or did you give differ ent

 2 testimony?

 3 A I don't recall.

 4 THE COURT:  Sustained.

 5 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 6 Q Did you want to think that you had access to CoS tar?

 7 A Yes, I did.

 8 Q Why?

 9 A Because I liked -- I liked the service.

10 Q Was Klein & Heuchan aware you were using the CoS tar

11 service?

12 A They were.

13 Q Who at Klein & Heuchan was aware?

14 A The -- I know Mark and Steve and Judy Healey sat  next

15 to me, those three individuals.

16 Q I'm sorry.  I didn't mean to interrupt you.

17 A No.  It would be those three individuals.

18 Q When you say "Mark and Steve," you're referring to Mark

19 Klein?

20 A And Steve Klein.

21 Q When did Mark Klein and Steve Klein become aware  that

22 you were continuing to access and use the CoStar service?

23 A Shortly after I was there the first quarter of ' 07.

24 Q And were they aware that you were using your pas sword

25 from Coldwell to gain that access to CoStar?
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 1 A Yes.

 2 Q When you were working at Klein & Heuchan, did th ere

 3 ever come an occasion when you showed somebody at  Klein &

 4 Heuchan the CoStar service?

 5 A Yeah.  One -- I was working on a -- a Saturday

 6 afternoon in the office, and I was doing some res earch in

 7 the Westshore market; and Mark from time to time would come

 8 in on Saturdays to catch up on his things, and he  came back

 9 just to see what I was doing, and I said, "I am d oing some

10 research on the office -- the Westshore market of fice area,"

11 and I had -- I don't recall.  I don't know what t he property

12 was, but I had -- I was in CoStar's Website, and I showed it

13 to him, and he said, "Fantastic," and he just -- "That was

14 great" or something to that effect, and that was basically

15 it.

16 Q And he looked at -- he looked over your shoulder  at

17 what you were doing on CoStar?

18 A Right.

19 Q And the research you were doing on the Westshore  market

20 was for the -- was in the context of your job at Klein &

21 Heuchan?

22 A Yes.

23 Q Did you ever have an occasion to show Judy Heale y

24 CoStar?

25 A I think I showed her once or twice the system, y es.
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 1 Q And she was never one of your -- another sales

 2 associate at Klein & Heuchan?

 3 A Yes.

 4 Q Can you walk through the mechanics of how you ac cessed

 5 the CoStar service while you were at Klein & Heuc han?

 6 A I had saved CoStar in my bookmarks on my compute r.  I

 7 would go through the bookmark and hit the tab, an d it

 8 would -- the Website would pop up, and then I wou ld just log

 9 in because -- it remembered who I was and my user  name, and

10 then my password would show up just in asterisks,  and then I

11 would just hit "login," and it would take me righ t in.

12 Q And this was on your laptop computer?

13 A Right.

14 Q And did you have to be connected to the Internet ?

15 A Yes.

16 Q Where did you get that Internet connectivity fro m?

17 A At the office.

18 Q So, it was provided by Klein & Heuchan?

19 A Right.

20 Q They provided Internet access so you could acces s the

21 CoStar service?

22 A Correct.

23 Q When you -- when you first -- the first time you

24 accessed the service, did CoStar's terms of use p op up that

25 you had to accept?
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 1 A I don't recall if it popped up.  I remember it s aying

 2 "Terms Of Use," and I just clicked "Accept" to en ter.

 3 Q And did those terms of use that you accepted, di d they

 4 reappear from time to time?

 5 A From time to time, yes (nodding head).

 6 Q And did you accept them every time they appeared ?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q And while you were logged onto the CoStar servic e, did

 9 the screen -- screen have your name on it?

10 A It did.

11 Q And where did your name appear?

12 A I don't remember what side of the screen.  Is th at what

13 you're asking for, what -- on the screen, the rig ht?  The

14 center?

15 Q Yeah.

16 A I don't remember.

17 Q Okay.  Do you remember whether there was anythin g that

18 appeared next to your name?

19 A The Coldwell Banker insignia did, yes.

20 Q Okay.  So, on the screen when you were using CoS tar, it

21 would have said Scott Bell; is that correct?

22 A Yes.

23 Q And then next to "Scott Bell," it would have "Co ldwell

24 Banker NRT"?

25 A Yes.
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 1 Q And that appeared on the screen when you were us ing the

 2 service?

 3 A Yes.

 4 Q When you joined Klein & Heuchan, did that change  at

 5 all?

 6 A I lost -- I --

 7 Q Fair enough.  Let me ask the question a little m ore

 8 clearly.  My apologies.  When you joined Klein & Heuchan and

 9 you were accessing the CoStar service, did the Co ldwell

10 Banker NRT logo continue to appear next to your n ame?

11 A Yes.

12 Q While you were at Klein & Heuchan, how frequentl y would

13 you say you used the CoStar service?

14 A I -- I don't -- I wouldn't even know how to quan tify

15 that.  Are you asking me as far as hours per week  or --

16 Q Let's try something less detailed.  Did you use it

17 daily?  Frequently?  Regularly?  Not so often?  H ow would

18 you quantify how frequently you used the service?

19 A I would just from time to time.

20 Q If you could turn to Exhibit 30, please (changin g

21 overhead exhibit).  

22 A Okay.

23 Q Mr. Bell, this document lists instances -- this log

24 file lists the instances in which --

25 MR. GIBSON:  Objection, Your Honor.  He's
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 1 testifying.

 2 THE COURT:  Sustained.

 3 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 4 Q Mr. Bell, when you printed -- when you would pri nt out

 5 something from the CoStar service, would that pri ntout also

 6 include a reference to your name and to Coldwell Banker NRT?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q And that would appear on the document you printe d out?

 9 A Sometimes.  I don't believe I recall it being on  the

10 office reports, but it would on the other documen ts.

11 Q Exhibit 19, please.

12 A Is it possible for me -- do I have to go into th e book,

13 or can I look on the screen, or can I have both?  

14 Q If you want to look on the screen, that's fine, I will

15 put it up for you.

16 A Okay.

17 Q Did you produce this document in discovery, Mr. Bell?

18 A Yes.

19 Q Was this a document that had been in your files?

20 A Yes.

21 Q And this is a document that you had printed out from

22 the -- from CoStar's service, and then you -- you  scanned

23 into your hard drive; is that correct?

24 A No.  I didn't scan it to my hard drive.  I just printed

25 it off the Website.
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 1 Q Okay.  So, you printed it off your website, and then

 2 you maintained a hard copy of it?

 3 A Right (nodding head).

 4 Q And was this a document you maintained as part o f your

 5 business?

 6 A Yeah.

 7 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We would move this into evidence,

 8 Exhibit 19.

 9 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

10 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

11 (Defense Exhibit 19 was received in evidence.) 

12 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

13 Q Mr. Bell, do you see the lower portion of this d ocument

14 has a date on it?

15 A Yeah.  You want me to read it?

16 Q Sure.

17 A It's January 17 of 2007.

18 Q Is that the date on which you printed this docum ent

19 out?

20 A Yes.

21 Q And this is a document you obtained from CoStar;

22 correct?

23 A That's correct.

24 Q And earlier you were describing that when you pr inted

25 out a document it would have your name on it; is that
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 1 correct?

 2 A That's correct.

 3 Q And does this document have your name on it as y ou

 4 described?

 5 A Yes.

 6 Q And that's what's here on the upper left-hand si de of

 7 the document?

 8 A That's right.

 9 Q And next to your name it says "Coldwell Banker

10 Commercial NRT"; is that correct?

11 A That's correct.

12 Q At the time that you printed this document out, you

13 weren't working for Coldwell Banker NRT, were you ?

14 A No, I wasn't.

15 Q But it's because Coldwell Banker Commercial NRT is the

16 licensee for the CoStar product that their name i s on here;

17 is that right?

18 A That's right.

19 Q And this document has a copyright notice on it, doesn't

20 it?

21 A Yep.

22 Q And that copyright notice on the lower left-hand  corner

23 of the document indicates that it is a copyright owned by

24 CoStar Realty; is that correct?

25 A That's correct.
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 1 Q And the document indicates that by using the Web site --

 2 and by "Website" it means the place where you dow nloaded

 3 this document -- you were agreeing to the terms o f use;

 4 isn't that right?

 5 A That's right.

 6 Q And you understood that that -- that language th ere,

 7 "Terms Of Use," that's underlined, that's a click -through, a

 8 link, to the CoStar terms of use; isn't that corr ect?

 9 A I believe so, yes.

10 Q Let's turn to Exhibit 20, please.

11 A You say 20?

12 Q Yes, please.

13 A I am on 21, I'm sorry.  Let me go to 20.  Okay, I got

14 it.

15 Q Is this another document that you produced in

16 discovery?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And is this a document that had been on your com puter?

19 A That's correct.

20 Q And is this a true and accurate copy of both an e-mail

21 and the attachment to the e-mail that you had mai ntained in

22 the regular course of your business activities?

23 A Yes.

24 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We would move Exhibit 20 into

25 evidence.
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 1 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

 2 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

 3 (Defense Exhibit 20 was received in evidence.)  

 4 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 5 Q Mr. Bell, who is Tracy McMurray?

 6 A He's a gentleman I have known for quite some tim e

 7 dating back to when I worked at Ecolab.  He owns a

 8 water-softening company in Tampa.

 9 Q And this is an e-mail you were sending to him; i s that

10 correct?

11 A That's right.

12 Q And why were you sending this e-mail to him?

13 A He had -- he had called me up, and he had been d riving

14 around, and he saw this warehouse, which used to be the old

15 Fisher Buggies on Lois, and he was wanting to kno w more

16 about it because he wasn't -- it was empty, and h e thought

17 he might -- maybe it might be a fit for him.

18 Q So, he had contacted you in your capacity as a s ales

19 associate at Klein & Heuchan?

20 A Yes.

21 Q And you were responding to his commercial real-e state

22 interests --

23 A Yes.

24 Q -- as a sales associate at Klein & Heuchan?

25 A Yes.  I was responding to his inquiry.
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 1 Q And you were -- you sent him in this e-mail some

 2 reports about the warehouses that you saw with hi m that day;

 3 is that correct?

 4 A The -- okay, let's see.  What page are you looki ng at?

 5 Because I only showed him the one warehouse.  It was the

 6 Fisher Buggies, and I gave him some ideas of what  the

 7 warehouses were -- warehouses in the surrounding area were

 8 and that they might expect to be a value of.

 9 Q Right.  And the attachments that you sent were

10 regarding the warehouses that you had seen, and y ou were

11 trying to send him information?

12 A Right.

13 Q And I would ask you to turn to the page that is

14 numbered CoStar 734, please, which I have up now.   This was

15 part of the -- part of what you sent him; is that  correct?

16 A Yes.

17 Q And where did you get this document from?

18 A I had this -- this was in my e-mail archives.

19 Q Let me rephrase that.

20 Not -- not where did you get it from when you pro duced

21 it; but, rather, where did you get this document in order to

22 send it to Mr. McMurray?

23 A From CoStar.

24 Q You downloaded it off the CoStar service?

25 A Right.
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 1 Q And I notice here in the upper left-hand corner there's

 2 a pen mark; is that correct?

 3 A That's right.

 4 Q And what is it that that pen mark is crossing ou t?

 5 A My name and "Coldwell Banker NRT."  That's what --

 6 yeah, that's what I would believe.

 7 Q And why did you cross that out?

 8 A I didn't want my client to have the impression t hat I

 9 was working for another real-estate company.  I r epresent

10 myself as a Klein & Heuchan employee.

11 Q Right.  You wanted him to understand that you wo rk for

12 Klein & Heuchan?

13 A Right.

14 Q Not Coldwell Banker?

15 A Right.

16 Q And after you printed this out and you marked th rough

17 it in order to e-mail it to him, you had to digit ize it,

18 didn't you?

19 A Right.

20 Q And so, did you scan this document?

21 A I did.

22 Q Where did you scan it?

23 A Klein & Heuchan has a printer that acts as a cop ier and

24 a scanner, and it sends you -- wraps it up into a  PDF and

25 e-mails it to you.
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 1 Q So, you used that printer/copier at Klein -- tha t Klein

 2 & Heuchan provides in order to do that?

 3 A Right, scanner/copier.

 4 Q Thank you.  At Klein & Heuchan did you use the C oStar

 5 service to conduct research and learn about the c ommercial

 6 real-estate market?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q And did you use the CoStar service to review spe cific

 9 properties?

10 A Yes.

11 Q And did you customize searches on the CoStar dat abase

12 for properties or market trends or market statist ics based

13 on user-inputted criteria?

14 A Yeah.  I guess what you're asking me would be ma ybe

15 like maybe the Westshore area with a certain para meter like

16 maybe the -- I did, that's correct.

17 Q You put in new criteria into CoStar and asked fo r it to

18 give you back information --

19 A Right.

20 Q -- and reports?

21 A Yes.

22 Q Did you download -- in addition to that, did you

23 download quarterly market reports to understand t he office

24 segment in the Tampa-St. Petersburg market?

25 A Yes, I did.
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 1 Q And did you download market reports -- quarterly  market

 2 reports with respect to the industrial sector for  the

 3 Tampa-St. Petersburg market?

 4 A Yes.

 5 Q And those were reports that were prepared by CoS tar and

 6 available on the CoStar service?

 7 A Correct.

 8 Q Did anyone at Klein & Heuchan ever ask you to do wnload

 9 something from CoStar for them?

10 A Yes.

11 Q Who?

12 A I remember Mark had been working on a project ov er

13 in -- in the downtown Tampa area.  It was -- I be lieve he

14 was acting as a consultant, and he had -- he knew  I'd been

15 doing a lot of research in the Tampa market on ra tes and so

16 on for -- for leasing, and he had already -- I be lieve he'd

17 already done his research, but he'd asked me what  my opinion

18 was for what the rates might be over there, becau se that

19 would be an indicator of the value of the buildin g, what

20 potential rates might be.

21 Q Let me break that down for a minute.  When you s ay

22 "Mark," are you referring to Mark Klein?

23 A Right.

24 Q And you -- when I asked you the question, I aske d you

25 who had asked you to get information from CoStar for them.
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 1 Did Mark Klein specifically ask you to get inform ation from

 2 the CoStar service for him?

 3 A Yeah.

 4 Q So, when he asked you for your opinion, he -- he  --

 5 what you really meant to say is he asked you go g et

 6 information from CoStar?

 7 A I believe so, yes.

 8 Q And you said that this was for a -- a project th at he

 9 was doing in the Tampa market?

10 A Right.

11 Q Can you describe that project, please?

12 A I believe he -- I don't know the -- like a hundr ed

13 percent of the details.  The best I can recall, i t was -- he

14 was acting as a consultant for a group of people that were

15 considering buying an office building in the down town market

16 area, and they were -- they were trying to figure  out what

17 the -- what the rates -- what might be the value of the

18 building, because it's based on the -- what the g oing rates

19 might be and what the actual leases are.

20 Q So, he wanted to get information from CoStar so he'd

21 have more information regarding -- to assist him in his

22 consulting capacity?

23 A Well, I mean -- yeah.

24 Q Did Mark Klein ever ask you on any other -- in a ny

25 other instances to get information from the CoSta r service
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 1 for him?

 2 A I'm trying -- I'm not sure I -- I can't recall.  I know

 3 it was that one.  I don't know if there were any other ones.

 4 I can't recall.

 5 Q Did Mr. Klein -- and by that, I mean Mark Klein -- ever

 6 have a client who was interested in a property th at had

 7 formerly been an Eckerd Drugs?

 8 A Oh, yeah, that's right.  It was a client of his.   It

 9 was Lynn Levin.

10 Q Lynn Levin was the client?

11 A Yeah.  He had been looking.  He was -- he had so ld --

12 he had -- he was always looking to buy something,  and I

13 think he was out driving around, and he asked Mar k about

14 that, and Mark had -- I believe he had done a sea rch for it.

15 He couldn't find any of the agent information or who the

16 company was that had it or the representative.  M aybe -- I

17 think they had a sign on it, so maybe he did know , but he

18 didn't know who the associate was.  So, he asked me could I

19 look it up and see if I could find that.

20 Q So, he wanted you to look up information in CoSt ar to

21 assist him with helping Mr. Levinson (sic); is th at correct?

22 A Right.

23 THE COURT:  How much longer do you have on direct ?

24 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We've got a little bit,

25 Your Honor.
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 1 THE COURT:  When you reach a convenient stopping

 2 place, then we'll take a break.

 3 MR. OPPENHEIM:  One more question set, and then

 4 maybe that could be a good stopping place.

 5 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 6 Q Mr. Bell, did Judy Healey ever ask you to get

 7 information for her regarding -- from CoStar?

 8 A As far as I could remember, I know I offered her  an

 9 office report, and I -- I don't remember if -- I did show

10 her some stuff on there, but I don't recall if sh e asked me

11 formally.

12 Q So, you know you provided it to her, but you don 't know

13 whether she formally asked for it?  You just can' t recall?

14 A Right.

15 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, why don't we take a

16 break at this point?

17 THE COURT:  All right.  We'll take a 15-minute

18 break.

19 COURT SECURITY OFFICER:  All rise.

20 (Recess from 3:03 p.m. until 3:30 p.m.) 

21 THE COURT:  Proceed.

22 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

23 Q Mr. Bell, before our break, I had asked you whet her or

24 not anyone at Klein & Heuchan had ever asked you to download

25 something from CoStar for them, and you had descr ibed two
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 1 instances with Mark -- Mr. Mark Klein and one ins tance with

 2 Judy Healey.

 3 THE COURT:  Sustained.  There's no testimony that

 4 Judy Healey asked him to download something for h er.  He

 5 said he may have showed her -- he may have shown her

 6 something.

 7 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 8 Q You testified that you couldn't recall whether o r not

 9 she had asked you, but you provided her with info rmation?

10 A Right.

11 Q Was there ever an instance with respect to Mr. S teven

12 Klein with where he may have asked you for inform ation --

13 A Yes.  He was --

14 Q -- from CoStar?

15 A Yes.  He was working on -- he had a client that was

16 looking to buy an office condo in Tampa.

17 Q And what did he ask you for with respect to that ?

18 A He was -- he had been doing a lot of research, a nd he

19 looked -- he had been looking around for him.  I don't

20 remember the client's name, and he asked if there  was

21 anything that perhaps there might be a -- a gap o r something

22 he might have missed, and I -- and I looked it up  for him.

23 Q And you looked it up on CoStar?

24 A Right.

25 Q And did you provide that information to him?
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 1 A I did.

 2 Q And did -- did the -- did the customer ultimatel y buy a

 3 property?

 4 A I don't recall if this is the one that I sent hi m or

 5 not, but I do think the guy did buy something ove r here in

 6 Tampa.  I don't know if it was the one that I gav e him,

 7 because I gave him a spreadsheet.

 8 Q You gave him a spreadsheet of a variety of infor mation.

 9 My question is, did Mr. Steven Klein's customer u ltimately

10 buy an office -- office space?

11 A Yeah, I think he did, yes.

12 Q And he did it through Klein & Heuchan with Mr. S teven

13 Klein?

14 A Right.

15 Q Mr. Bell, could you please look at Exhibits 11, 12, and

16 13.  These have already been admitted in evidence .  Let's

17 start with Exhibit 11.  This is a document that y ou produced

18 in discovery, is it not?

19 A Yes.

20 Q And this is a copy of CoStar's office report for

21 year-end 2007 for the Tampa-St. Petersburg office  market?

22 A Yep.  That's what I see here.

23 Q And this is a document that you downloaded off o f

24 CoStar while you were at Klein & Heuchan; is that  correct?

25 A That's correct.
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 1 Q Turning to Exhibit 12 (changing overhead exhibit ), this

 2 is the CoStar office report for the first quarter  of 2007 to

 3 the Tampa-St. Petersburg office market, is it not ?

 4 A First quarter, 2007, yeah.

 5 Q And this is a document you produced in discovery ?

 6 A Yes.

 7 Q And it is a document that you had downloaded off  the

 8 CoStar system while you were at Klein & Heuchan; is that

 9 correct?

10 A Yes.

11 Q Let's turn to Exhibit 13.  This is the CoStar

12 industrial report as opposed to office report, wh ich is what

13 the other two were, for year-end 2007 for the Tam pa-

14 St. Petersburg industrial market, is it not?

15 A Yes.

16 Q And this is a document that you downloaded from CoStar

17 while you were at Klein & Heuchan; is that correc t?

18 A Yes.

19 Q And this is -- strike that.

20 When you downloaded the reports, Mr. Bell, were t hey

21 actually in color?

22 A I didn't print them as color; but from the Websi te,

23 they were in color, sure.

24 Q The way CoStar created them was as color reports ; is

25 that correct?
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 1 A Right.

 2 Q Did you often download and review CoStar's quart erly

 3 reports?

 4 A Yes.

 5 Q How frequently?

 6 A I would say every quarter.

 7 Q And why did you do that?

 8 A It had -- it gave a good snapshot of all the thi ngs

 9 that were going on with the office market in resp ect to the

10 geographical area that we're in.  It told you wha t was

11 already out there, what was proposed to be built,  and maybe

12 when the time it might be finished when it was bu ilt.

13 Q Did you give copies of these quarterly reports t hat you

14 downloaded or the annual reports that you downloa ded to

15 anyone at Klein & Heuchan?

16 A Yes.

17 Q Who is that?

18 A I gave one to Mark, Steve, and I gave Judy a off ice

19 report.  I remember it.

20 Q Let me break that down.

21 Did you give hard copies of the reports or electr onic

22 reports -- copies?

23 A I believe I gave hard copies and, as I can recal l, in

24 one or two instances an electronic copy.

25 Q Okay.  And how many copies did you give of quart erly
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 1 reports -- market reports did you give to Judy He aley that

 2 you recall?

 3 A Just the one.

 4 Q Okay.  And how many market reports do you recall  giving

 5 to Mr. Steven Klein?

 6 A I believe I gave him two.

 7 Q Okay.  In hard copy or an electronic copy?

 8 A It could be either/or.  I don't recall exactly.

 9 Q Okay.  And how many market reports did you give to

10 Mr. Mark Klein?

11 A I believe I give him one.

12 Q Can you please turn to Exhibit 22 (changing over head

13 exhibit). 

14 A (Complies.)

15 Q This is the first page of Exhibit 22.  Do you re cognize

16 that, Mr. Bell?

17 A Yes.

18 Q It is an e-mail that you sent to Mr. Steven Klei n on

19 April 4th, 2007?

20 A Yep.

21 Q At the top it says "scottbell@klein&heuchan.com. "  That

22 was your e-mail address?

23 A Correct.

24 Q And stevenklein@klein&heuchan.com was Mr. Steve Klein's

25 e-mail address; is that correct?
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 1 A Right.

 2 Q Is it says it had an attachment to it, "office

 3 report.pdf"; is that right?

 4 A Uh-huh.

 5 Q Did you attach a document to this e-mail when yo u sent

 6 it?

 7 A Yep.

 8 Q And it says, "Steve office report document," sig ned "C.

 9 Scott Bell"; is that right?

10 A Uh-huh.

11 THE COURT:  You have to answer "yes."

12 THE WITNESS:  Oh, yes.  I'm sorry.  Pardon me.

13 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

14 Q And it attaches a document which is labeled as t he

15 CoStar office report year-end 2006, Tampa-St. Pet ersburg

16 office market report; is that correct?

17 A Right.

18 Q And this is -- this year-end 2006 office report is a

19 report that you had downloaded from the CoStar se rvice; is

20 that correct?

21 A Right.

22 Q And you had downloaded it from the CoStar servic e while

23 you were at Klein & Heuchan; is that right?

24 A Right.

25 Q And you attached it to an e-mail that you sent t o
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 1 Mr. Steve Klein; correct?

 2 A Yep -- yes.  Sorry.

 3 Q And so, you were distributing this report to Mr.  Steven

 4 Klein, the report that you had obtained from --

 5 THE COURT:  Asked and answered.

 6 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 7 Q Why is it that you sent this e-mail to Steven Kl ein?

 8 A I thought he would be interested in seeing it.  I had

 9 shown him one before, and it's -- I passed it alo ng just

10 like it might be reading material like he might u se in the

11 bathroom -- pardon my expression -- you know, lik e you would

12 just read something about the business.

13 Q You had previously provided him with a market re port;

14 is that correct?

15 A I had shown him one that I had, yeah, right.  Th at I

16 downloaded and looked at it and --

17 Q So, you were you following up and giving him ano ther

18 one to look at?

19 A Right.

20 Q Why did you get this report for Mr. Steven Klein

21 instead of his downloading it from CoStar himself ?  

22 A Because Steve was not -- was not a CoStar member , a

23 subscriber.

24 Q You mean he didn't have access to CoStar?

25 A Right.
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 1 Q Did Steven Klein ever have any reaction to this report?

 2 A Not that I recall.  It wasn't like -- he didn't like

 3 jump up and down.  He wasn't excited about it.  I  mean, it

 4 was just --

 5 Q Did he ever tell you not to provide the report - - a

 6 report like that again?

 7 A No.

 8 Q In fact, did either Mr. Mark Klein, Mr. Steven K lein,

 9 or Judy Healey ever tell you, "Don't provide us w ith market

10 reports anymore"?

11 A No.

12 Q Please turn to Exhibit 18.  This is another docu ment

13 that you produced in discovery, is it not?

14 A Yes.

15 Q And this is an e-mail that -- that you had sent to

16 Steven -- another e-mail that you had sent to Ste ven Klein;

17 is that correct?

18 A Yes.

19 Q And it's an e-mail you sent on April 5th, 2007?

20 A Uh-huh -- I mean, yes.  Sorry.

21 Q And this is -- this e-mail shows an e-mail chain  below

22 it, because it's a -- it's a reply to a prior e-m ail; is

23 that correct?

24 A Yes.

25 Q So, if we start actually at the bottom of the fi rst
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 1 e-mail, it shows the April 4th, 2007, e-mail that  we looked

 2 at a minute ago on Exhibit 22 where you were send ing to

 3 Mr. Steven Klein the office report; is that corre ct?

 4 A Right.

 5 Q And then if you look above that at the second e- mail,

 6 it shows that Mr. Steven Klein was responding to your prior

 7 e-mail; isn't that correct?

 8 A Yes.

 9 Q And, specifically, Mr. Steven Klein responded by

10 saying, "Thanks"?  Is that correct?

11 A Yes.

12 Q And he was saying thanks for the office-report d ocument

13 that (indicating) you had provided him; is that c orrect?

14 A That's the way I see it.

15 Q Yep.  And then the top e-mail is a follow-up e-m ail

16 that you sent then on April 5th at 1:24 p.m.; is that

17 correct?

18 A Yes.

19 Q And you were attaching another document, weren't  you?

20 A Yep -- I mean yes.  Sorry.

21 Q And that document is titled "export040507"; is t hat

22 correct?

23 A Correct.

24 Q And that means it was a document that you had cr eated

25 on April 5th, 2007; is that correct?
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 1 A It was a -- I believe it was a document that I h ad

 2 downloaded from CoStar, yes.

 3 Q It's a document that is attached to this e-mail and the

 4 pages that follow?

 5 A Yep.

 6 Q Is that a yes?

 7 A Yes.

 8 Q And by virtue of the title of the document, that

 9 indicates that the -- the document you had downlo aded and

10 saved to your computer, which is titled "export04 0507.xls,"

11 is a document that you exported on April 5th, 200 7, the day

12 that you sent the e-mail?

13 A Yes.

14 Q Is that correct?

15 A (Nods head.)

16 Q And turning to what that (changing overhead exhi bit)

17 document is that you exported from -- you exporte d it from

18 CoStar; right?

19 A Yes.

20 Q And you -- this is a document -- the document yo u sent

21 to Steven Klein; is that correct?

22 A Yes.

23 Q Can you describe what this document is, please?

24 A This list -- I am just going to kind of peruse - -

25 browse through it and --
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 1 Q Take your time.

 2 A It -- it gives a building address, the name, if it --

 3 there's a name of the office park, and it gives t he status

 4 of whether it's proposed or existing.  I even see  "under

 5 construction in Pinellas and Hillsborough Countie s," and it

 6 gives the -- what might be the year it was built,  parking

 7 ratios, stories, and floor -- floor-plate sizes, the square

 8 footage of each floor.

 9 Q Well, we can read what the categories are, but

10 generally what was it that you had downloaded fro m CoStar?

11 What is this document?

12 A This is a -- I don't know if it's a -- I imagine  -- I'm

13 not sure if it's everything that's in the Pinella s,

14 Hillsborough market, but it's -- it just gives yo u the name

15 of the office park, and it just tells you what bu ildings are

16 in the market, the office buildings that might be  for rent

17 or -- I'd imagine it's for rent.

18 Q You obtained this document by inputting criteria  into

19 the CoStar database and asking for it to give you  a response

20 to the search query; isn't that the case?

21 A I believe so, yes.

22 Q In particular, you would ask for information reg arding

23 new and proposed buildings in Hillsborough County ; is that

24 correct?

25 A And I believe there was existing as well.
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 1 Q Right.  New and proposed buildings.  Existing an d new

 2 and proposed.  Is that what you're saying?

 3 A Well, I think "new" and "proposed" would be syno nymous,

 4 wouldn't it?

 5 Q Just let me understand what it is that was expor ted

 6 here.  It's existing and new buildings in Hillsbo rough

 7 County?

 8 A Yes.

 9 Q Okay.  And why is it that you, on -- on April 5t h, the

10 day after you had sent the market report, did you  do this

11 query on CoStar and send this report to Steven Kl ein?

12 A I believed this would assist him in -- in lookin g for

13 his client that was looking for an office condo; or if he

14 wanted to maybe lease a building instead of buyin g like an

15 office condo, this could be helpful.

16 Q So, you were trying to assist him in his activit ies on

17 behalf of Klein & Heuchan?

18 A Right.

19 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We'd move this into evidence,

20 Your Honor, if it's not already.

21 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

22 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

23 (Defense Exhibit 18 was received in evidence.) 

24 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

25 Q Apart from the spreadsheet of information attach ed to
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 1 Exhibit 18, which we just reviewed, were there ot her

 2 instances where you ran searches of information f rom CoStar

 3 that are downloaded to your hard drive and provid ed to

 4 others at Klein & Heuchan?

 5 A As far as I can remember, it was the -- the -- t he

 6 office reports, the -- I had no -- I tried to dow nload -- or

 7 I did download a floor plan for a building -- but  that was

 8 for me -- and the office reports. 

 9 Q But not for you personally, for you in your capa city as

10 a Klein & Heuchan sales associate?

11 A Yeah.

12 Q Could you please turn to Exhibit 21 (changing ov erhead

13 exhibit).  Do you recognize this document?

14 A Yes.

15 Q Is this an e-mail that you sent to MSK on August  16th,

16 2007 --

17 A Yes.

18 Q -- with an attachment titled "cbdofficemsk.xls?

19 A Right.

20 Q And who is "MSK"?

21 A That would be Mark Klein.

22 Q And is this a document you produced in discovery  from

23 your files?

24 A Yes.

25 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We would move this into evidence,
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 1 Exhibit 21.

 2 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

 3 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

 4 (Defense Exhibit 21 was received in evidence.) 

 5 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 6 Q What is the subject of this e-mail?

 7 A It says "CoStar report."

 8 Q And what is it that you said in the text of the e-mail

 9 to Mark Klein?

10 A "Here it is."

11 Q So, you were providing him with a document that you had

12 previously discussed with him?

13 A That is correct.

14 Q What is the document that is attached?

15 A This is the (changing overhead exhibit) central

16 business district.  This is the office buildings that are in

17 the downtown area that we're looking at right her e, a select

18 of 'em, with building Classes A and B, and their existing

19 buildings.

20 Q So, this is a spreadsheet of information regardi ng

21 downtown office buildings in Tampa?

22 A Right.

23 Q And where did you obtain the information contain ed in

24 the spreadsheet?

25 A From CoStar.
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 1 Q And did you obtain it while you were working for  Klein

 2 & Heuchan?

 3 A Yes.

 4 Q And what prompted you to send this e-mail with t his

 5 attachment to Mark Klein in August of 2007?

 6 A This is -- Mark had asked me what the -- what I thought

 7 the rates were in the downtown area, and this is what I sent

 8 to him in response to that.

 9 Q Did he ask you for what you thought the rates we re or

10 what CoStar said the rates were?

11 A I don't remember specifically.  I think he might  have

12 asked me.

13 Q And you downloaded this information from CoStar in

14 order to provide him with the information that he  was

15 looking for?

16 A Yes.

17 Q After you received this e-mail, did Mr. Klein te ll you

18 not to send him information like this again?

19 A No.  I don't recall him saying that.

20 Q Could you please turn to Exhibit 16.

21 A You said 16?

22 Q Yes, please.

23 A I am looking under Tab 16, and I have a stamp th at says

24 "Exhibit 15" listed under 16.

25 Q All right.  You are both observant and correct.  The
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 1 stamp relates to a deposition exhibit stamp with the --

 2 you're looking at the correct exhibit for our pur poses.

 3 A Okay.

 4 Q Do recognize -- apart from the stamp, do you rec ognize

 5 the document?

 6 A Yes.  It's looks like another office document th at

 7 lists the offices in Pinellas and Hillsborough as  similar as

 8 the previous one that we looked at.

 9 Q And was this a document that you produced in dis covery?

10 A Yes.

11 Q And this is the document that you downloaded fro m

12 CoStar while you were at Klein & Heuchan; is that  correct?

13 A Yes.

14 Q And this was a document that you maintained on y our

15 computer as a part of your regular business condu ct; is that

16 right?

17 A Right.

18 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We'd move this into evidence,

19 Your Honor.

20 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

21 MR. OPPENHEIM:  This is Exhibit 16.

22 THE COURT:  Admitted.

23 (Defense Exhibit 16 was received in evidence.) 

24 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

25 Q Can you describe how you used this document, Mr.  Bell?
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 1 A Well, it's a -- I'm trying to remember.  I'm loo king at

 2 the document to see if I can recall.

 3 Q Does this document have anything to do with sear ches

 4 you did regarding mini storage buildings in Pasco  County?

 5 A I don't believe so.  It looks like it's -- these  are

 6 office buildings, and -- in Tampa, St. Pete, Clea rwater.  I

 7 guess this is -- the best I can recall, it's a do cument I

 8 brought up that would give me -- that would tell me where

 9 all these buildings -- how many were out there an d where

10 they were located, and it would give the leasing company's

11 name and the address of where the -- the building 's located.

12 Q And did you use this document in connection with  your

13 work as a broker for Klein & Heuchan?

14 A Yes.  For knowledge purpose, yes.

15 Q And by "knowledge purpose" you mean for your gen eral

16 information?

17 A Right, for research, correct.

18 Q Okay.  Could you please turn to Exhibit 17.  Do you

19 recognize this document, Mr. Bell?

20 A Yes.

21 Q What is it?

22 A This is a -- it lists the owners of the -- of bu ildings

23 and/or developers that own buildings, and I'm try ing to --

24 I'm just going through and looking at the rest.  It gives

25 their addresses and contact phone numbers.
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 1 Q And is this a document that you produced in liti gation?

 2 A Yes.

 3 Q And is this a document that you had downloaded f rom

 4 CoStar while you were at Klein & Heuchan?

 5 A Yes.  It appears that, yes.

 6 Q And is this a document that you maintained on yo ur

 7 computer as part of your regular business activit ies?

 8 A Yes.

 9 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We would move Exhibit 17 in

10 evidence.

11 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

12 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

13 (Defense Exhibit 17 was received in evidence.) 

14 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

15 Q Was this -- this document that you downloaded th e

16 information -- containing the information that yo u used in

17 connection with your work for Klein & Heuchan?

18 A Yes.

19 Q Please turn to Exhibit 23 (changing overhead exh ibit).

20 Do you recognize this document, Mr. Bell?

21 A Yes.

22 Q Is this an e-mail that you sent to an individual  with

23 the user name "emissdata@gmail.com" (phonetic) --

24 A Yes.

25 Q -- whose name it appears is "Gus"; is that corre ct?
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 1 A Yes.

 2 Q Who is Gus?

 3 A That's a good question.  I never met Gus.  I bel ieve he

 4 was a guy that called in on a -- it was a floor c all.  He

 5 was looking to move his business somewhere to a - - to an

 6 office, and he -- he didn't seem like he was very  sure of

 7 himself, and he didn't know what -- what the -- h e didn't

 8 know much about the market.  So, I -- I sent him a copy of

 9 page 17 of the CoStar office report that gives av erage rent

10 prices as best I could -- the document's a little  hard to

11 read -- and the -- the different areas of the cou nty.  It

12 looks like Pinellas, northern Hillsborough, east and west

13 and central.

14 Q And you're referring to the attachment right now ;

15 correct?

16 A That's correct.

17 Q And the attachment is a page out of a CoStar mar ket

18 report; is that correct?

19 A That's right.

20 Q And the e-mail indicates that you sent this (cha nging

21 overhead exhibit) page from the CoStar report wit h the image

22 contained from the CoStar market report on June 1 4th, 2007?

23 A Correct.

24 Q And when you said that Gus was somebody who came  in on

25 a floor call, it was somebody who was a prospecti ve client
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 1 who had called Klein & Heuchan interested in poss ibly

 2 working with Klein & Heuchan; is that correct?

 3 A That could be true, or he may have just been inq uiring

 4 as --

 5 Q He was inquiring of Klein & Heuchan to get infor mation?

 6 A Okay, yes.

 7 Q Is this a document that you had retained on your

 8 computer hard drive?

 9 A I don't recall.

10 Q You produced this in discovery; is that correct?

11 A Yes.

12 Q And is this a document that you had maintained i n the

13 regular course of your business activities?

14 A Uh, yes.

15 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We would move its admission.

16 Defendant's Exhibit 23.

17 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

18 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

19 (Defense Exhibit 23 was received in evidence.) 

20 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

21 Q Let me turn to Exhibit 15, please.  Do you recog nize

22 this document, Mr. Bell?

23 A Give me a couple of seconds and I will look it o ver.

24 Q Sure.  Absolutely.  Take as much time as you nee d.

25 (Pause.)
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 1 A Okay.

 2 Q Is this a document you produced in discovery?

 3 A Yes.

 4 Q A document that you had downloaded from CoStar w hile

 5 you were at Klein & Heuchan; correct?

 6 A Yes.

 7 Q And it's a document you maintained on your hard drive?

 8 A I believe so.  I could have printed it as well, so I'm

 9 not sure.

10 Q You either maintained it on your hard drive or i n your

11 physical files?

12 A Right.

13 Q And you maintained it as part of your regular bu siness

14 activities?

15 A Correct.

16 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We would move into evidence

17 Defendant's Exhibit 15.

18 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

19 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

20 (Defense Exhibit 15 was received in evidence.) 

21 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

22 Q Earlier I asked you whether this was a document related

23 to mini storage facilities in Pasco County.  Is t his a

24 document that's related to mini storage facilitie s in Pasco

25 County?
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 1 A Yes.

 2 Q And why did you download this information from C oStar?

 3 A Earlier in the year I had gotten a -- a call fro m a --

 4 I did a mail-out, and I had -- to mini storage un its or

 5 warehouses in Pasco County, and I had gotten a ca ll from --

 6 I can't remember the guy's name.  He's since pass ed away,

 7 but he -- he was thinking about listing his prope rty, but he

 8 wasn't sure.  So, I had pulled this up as -- as a  reference

 9 to -- I believe his unit does show up in here.

10 Q You had done searches on CoStar for -- to gather

11 information relating to that prospective client; is that

12 correct?

13 A Correct.  His name's Charles T. Wynhunt.

14 Q And how do you know that?

15 A Because I just see it on -- well, let's see.  It 's the

16 second page, 8619 New York Avenue.

17 Q Did you use this information in the course of yo ur

18 working for Klein & Heuchan?

19 A Yes.

20 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Move Exhibit 24, please.

21 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

22 (Defense Exhibit 24 was received in evidence.) 

23 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

24 Q Do you recognize this e-mail, Mr. Bell?

25 A Yes.
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 1 Q And this was an e-mail you sent to

 2 csduncan@tampabay.rr.com; is that correct?

 3 A That's correct.  

 4 Q And C.S. Duncan is an administrative assistant t hat

 5 works at Klein & Heuchan; is that correct?

 6 A Yes.

 7 Q And you were sending her this e-mail on May 23rd , 2007?

 8 A Correct.

 9 Q And the -- the -- the link there is intended to go to a

10 CoStar floor plan; is that correct?  I will circl e the link.

11 A Yes.  It looks -- that appears to be, yes.

12 Q And you were attempting to send to Miss Duncan a  link

13 to a CoStar -- a floor plan on CoStar?  

14 A Yes.

15 Q And this is a document you produced in litigatio n,

16 correct --

17 A Correct.

18 Q -- that you had maintained in the regular course  of

19 your business activities?

20 A Yes.

21 MR. OPPENHEIM:  We'd move into evidence,

22 Your Honor, Exhibit 15.

23 THE COURT:  Be admitted.

24 MR. GIBSON:  Fifteen or 24?

25 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Twenty-four.
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 1 MR. GIBSON:  No objection.

 2 (Defense Exhibit 24 was received in evidence.) 

 3 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 4 Q Mr. Bell, we've just been reviewing a handful of

 5 e-mails and other documents that you had produced  in the

 6 course of litigation from your computer.  Were th ose e-mails

 7 and those documents that you produced the only e- mails that

 8 you sent relating to CoStar and the only document s that you

 9 downloaded from CoStar during the course of time when you

10 were at Klein & Heuchan?

11 A I lost you there.  Could you repeat that, please ?

12 Q Sure.  What I'm trying to understand is whether the

13 documents we just reviewed, the e-mails and the s earch

14 results, constituted everything you ever e-mailed  about

15 CoStar and everything you ever downloaded about C oStar, or

16 was it simply just, say, a tip of the iceberg bec ause it's

17 what was on your hard drive?

18 A I -- I can't -- I can't remember.  This was what  I had

19 in my -- this is -- this is what I had in my reco rds.  I

20 don't -- I couldn't say for sure that there was m uch more

21 than this.

22 Q But you don't know?

23 A I don't know.

24 Q Were there other e-mails over the course of time  when

25 you were working at Klein & Heuchan that you woul d send to
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 1 Mark and Steve Klein other than the ones we saw t oday?

 2 A Yes.  We would definitely talk about contracts; and if

 3 I couldn't show up for a meeting or something lik e that, I'd

 4 let Mark know ahead of time.  I'd e-mail him.  So metimes I

 5 would call him on the phone.  Maybe I had a custo mer --

 6 THE COURT:  I don't think that was the question.

 7 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 8 Q Let me -- let's try to focus this in a little bi t.

 9 A Sorry.

10 Q That's all right, Mr. Bell.

11 Did you -- did you e-mail frequently with Mr. Mar k

12 Klein and Steve Klein as part of your regular bus iness?

13 A What do you call -- I mean, I don't what you mea n by

14 "frequently."

15 Q At least every week?

16 A Maybe a couple of times a week.

17 Q A couple of times a week; is that right?

18 A Yes.

19 Q Who provided you with the Klein & Heuchan e-mail

20 account?

21 A Klein & Heuchan.

22 Q When you worked at Klein & Heuchan, you indicate d that

23 you had staff meetings; is that right?

24 A Correct.

25 Q How frequent were those staff meetings?
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 1 MR. GIBSON:  Objection, asked and answered.

 2 THE COURT:  Sustained.

 3 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 4 Q At a high level, can you describe -- Mr. Bell, p lease

 5 describe what happened at the staff meetings that  you

 6 attended.

 7 A We would talk about a -- a lot of stuff.  We wou ld talk

 8 about contracts, who had earnest money, and who h ad critical

 9 dates to -- to comply with if they had a -- a dea l pending.

10 We would brainstorm, ask what we saw out there in  the --

11 what we saw going on in the market and see if the re were any

12 opportunities we could identify, or maybe we saw some trends

13 going down or something like that.

14 Q So, you -- among the things you would discuss we re

15 specific deals you were working on; is that right ?

16 A Right.

17 Q But you would also discuss market trends and gen erally

18 what you saw happening in the Tampa-St. Petersbur g market?

19 A Correct.

20 Q And you were asked to share what you knew about the

21 market at those meetings; is that correct?

22 A Yeah.  Sometimes, yeah.

23 Q And did -- among the information that you would

24 regularly share at those meetings was information  that you

25 may have obtained from reading reports and inform ation from
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 1 CoStar; is that correct?

 2 MR. GIBSON:  Objection, calls for speculation.

 3 THE COURT:  Overruled.  Answer, if you can.  Of

 4 course, he said he may have.  I don't know.

 5 THE WITNESS:  Please repeat the question.

 6 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I'll rephrase.

 7 THE COURT:  I don't know if that question and

 8 answer gets you very far, but answer if you can.

 9 MR. OPPENHEIM:  I will strike it, and I'll

10 rephrase the question.

11 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

12 Q While you were at the staff meetings, did you ev er

13 offer information based on what you had learned o ff of

14 CoStar?

15 A Yes.

16 Q When you worked at Klein & Heuchan, were you pai d a

17 salary?

18 A No.

19 Q You were paid a commission; is that correct?

20 A Correct.

21 Q And you were paid a 50-50 split with Klein & Heu chan on

22 any commissions you earned; is that correct?

23 A Yeah.  It was a sliding scale.  So, you'd start at 50,

24 and then it was set at that for a calendar year, and then

25 you achieved different plateaus depending on how much you --
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 1 how much commission dollars you earned.

 2 Q But while you were there, it was a 50-50 -- for your

 3 purposes, it was always 50-50; is that right?

 4 A Right.

 5 Q And that meant that Klein & Heuchan would get

 6 50 percent of any commissions you earned?

 7 A Correct.

 8 Q If -- if -- if you provided somebody else in the  office

 9 with information that helped them to close a deal , would you

10 get any portion of that commission?

11 A None.

12 Q Did the Kleins -- did Mark and Steve Klein overs ee your

13 work at Klein & Heuchan?

14 A Yes.

15 Q Did they have to approve any listings you had?

16 A They had to approve all the listings.  It had to  be

17 accepted by them.

18 Q And when you wanted to send out a flier, did the y have

19 to approve it?

20 A You had to be -- you had to create the flier you rself,

21 but it had to be an approved flier.  So, in other  words, you

22 would fill -- you would fill out the templates; t hey would

23 build the flier; and then it would be reviewed to  make sure

24 it -- it was -- it was done correctly; and then t hey would

25 approve it, and we would have it then.
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 1 Q And could the Kleins have terminated you at will ?

 2 A I imagine so, yes.

 3 Q Did the Kleins have the ability to tell you to s top

 4 accessing CoStar?

 5 A Yes.

 6 Q Did they tell you to stop accessing CoStar?

 7 A No.

 8 Q When you worked at Klein & Heuchan, did anybody ever

 9 ask Mark or Steve Klein to purchase a license to CoStar?

10 A I believe Judy had asked, inquired -- asked Mark  about

11 CoStar Tenant, because she had done a lot of -- b ecause she

12 had used it at another -- at a position at anothe r place;

13 and I think she had gone and asked him if he was -- if he

14 was -- if he could do that, because that -- that' s really

15 what she did, was tenant representation, and --

16 Q And he didn't -- he didn't agree to license CoSt ar, did

17 he?

18 A I don't know what -- I don't know exactly what h e said,

19 but I --

20 Q Well, you didn't get a license, did you?

21 A No.

22 Q And Judy didn't get a license, did she?

23 A I don't believe so, no.

24 Q Did either Mark or Steve Klein ever indicate to you why

25 they didn't want to license CoStar?
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 1 A They didn't see -- they always -- Mark's content ion all

 2 along was he -- he didn't like -- his -- why he d idn't like

 3 it is he felt that it was the -- CoStar would act ually call

 4 everybody up, all the real-estate brokers in the area, and

 5 they would collect information from it and turn a round and

 6 resell it to 'em.  He didn't really see a value i n that.

 7 Q Did he ever complain about the cost?

 8 A He did say it was very expensive.

 9 Q Prior to this dispute arising in April 2008, did  Mark

10 or Steve Klein ever ask you anything about how yo u had

11 access to the CoStar products?

12 A When I first started and I showed them one of th e

13 CoStar reports, they asked, you know, "How did yo u get

14 that?" and I said I had used my -- my -- my listi ng -- not

15 my listing, but my CoStar access when I was at Co ldwell

16 Banker -- that I had at Coldwell Banker.

17 Q So, you said early on.  Roughly when?

18 A It must have been shortly after I got there.  Th e first

19 quarter of '07.

20 Q And you told them that you were accessing CoStar  with

21 your Coldwell user name and password?

22 A Yeah.

23 Q Did either of them at the time ask you whether y ou were

24 allowed to do that?

25 A They did not.
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 1 Q Did either of them ever ask you whether the pass word

 2 would expire?

 3 A No, they didn't.

 4 Q Did either of them tell you you shouldn't do tha t?

 5 A No.

 6 Q If they had told you to stop doing it, would you  have

 7 stopped?

 8 A Yes.

 9 Q Did either of them tell you that you should chec k with

10 CoStar to see whether or not you could continue t o do this?

11 A No.

12 Q Did either of them tell you you should check wit h

13 Coldwell Banker to see whether you could continue  to do

14 this?

15 A No.

16 Q Did either of them tell you you should check the  CoStar

17 Website to determine whether or not you were allo wed to do

18 that?

19 THE COURT:  Are these 20 questions in lieu of the

20 one question, "What did they tell you about the u se of

21 CoStar?"

22 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

23 Q What did they tell you about the use of CoStar?  I will

24 take the judge's guidance.

25 A I am sorry.  I lost my train of thought.
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 1 THE COURT:  What did they tell you about the use

 2 of CoStar, if anything?

 3 THE WITNESS:  Nothing.

 4 BY MR. OPPENHEIM: 

 5 Q Mr. Bell, you were -- you were a defendant in th is

 6 case -- strike that.  Let me rephrase that.

 7 CoStar originally sued you for copyright infringe ment;

 8 correct?

 9 A Correct.

10 Q And you've recently settled those claims with Co Star;

11 is that correct?

12 A Yes.

13 Q And as part of that settlement, you agreed to ap pear

14 voluntarily today; is that correct?

15 A Yes.

16 Q Is your testimony today here fully truthful and

17 accurate?

18 A Yes.

19 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Just one moment, Your Honor.

20 THE COURT:  All right.

21 (Pause.)

22 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Thank you, Mr. Bell.

23 At this time, we're done with this witness.

24 THE COURT:  All right.  

25 How long do you expect your cross to be?
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 1 MR. GIBSON:  An hour, an hour and a half.

 2 THE COURT:  You prefer to get started and then

 3 we'll stop at a convenient time, or do you prefer  --

 4 MR. GIBSON:  I prefer to stop now.

 5 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Your Honor, if -- Your Honor, I - -

 6 I know that Mr. Bell is responsible for his -- th e childcare

 7 in his house, and I don't know what his schedule is.  I

 8 don't know whether the Court would be interested in -- in

 9 finding out in order to try to accommodate him on  that

10 issue.

11 THE COURT:  What's your schedule, Mr. Bell?

12 THE WITNESS:  Well, I was hoping to be done today ;

13 otherwise, I have to make more arrangements for t omorrow.

14 THE COURT:  Sounds like you'll have to make more

15 arrangements for tomorrow.

16 THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry, I can't hear you.

17 THE COURT:  You will have to make arrangements fo r

18 tomorrow.  Would 9:00 tomorrow be convenient?

19 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

20 THE COURT:  All right.  We're in recess until 9:0 0

21 tomorrow morning.

22 MR. OPPENHEIM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

23 THE CLERK:  All rise.

24 (Recess at 4:10 p.m.) 

25 - - - - - 

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division



205

 1 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER 
 

 2  

 3  

 4          I, SHERRILL L. JACKSON, Federal Official  Court 

 5 Reporter for the United States District Court, Mi ddle 

 6 District of Florida, Tampa Division, 

 7          DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that I was authorized  to and 

 8 did, through use of Computer-Aided Transcription,  report in 

 9 shorthand the proceedings and evidence in this ca use, as 

10 stated in the caption on page 1 of this transcrip t, and that 

11 the foregoing pages numbered 1 to 205, inclusive,  

12 constitute a true and correct transcription of my  

13 shorthand report of said proceedings and evidence . 

14           IN WITNESS WHEREOF I have hereunto set my hand 

15 this 16th day of March, 2010. 

16                              s/Sherrill L. Jackson             
                   ________________________________ _________ 

17                            SHERRILL L. JACKSON, R PR 
                        Federal Official Court Repo rter 

18  

19   

20

21

22

23

24

25

SHERRILL L. JACKSON, RPR
Federal Official Court Reporter, U.S. District Court

Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division


